Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

7-17-2018 10:00 AM

Investigating the Cortical, Metabolic and Behavioral Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Preparation for Combined Rehabilitation

Kayla N. Ryan The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Bartha, Robert *The University of Western Ontario* Duggal, Neil *The University of Western Ontario*

Graduate Program in Medical Biophysics A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Doctor of Philosophy © Kayla N. Ryan 2018 Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Biophysics Commons, Medical Biophysics Commons, and the Other Neuroscience and Neurobiology Commons

Recommended Citation

Ryan, Kayla N., "Investigating the Cortical, Metabolic and Behavioral Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Preparation for Combined Rehabilitation" (2018). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 5577. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/5577

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

The goal of this thesis was to determine the cortical reorganization that occurs in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy (CSM) after surgical decompression and to implement this knowledge into a new rehabilitation strategy. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is a non-invasive technique to modulate human behavior. Due to the novel electrode montage used, it was first pertinent that we determine how tDCS would modulate cortical, metabolic and motor behavior in healthy individuals.

We observed the longitudinal functional adaptations that occur in patients with CSM using functional MRI. Enhanced excitation of supplementary motor area (SMA) was observed following surgical decompression and associated with increased function following surgery. This novel finding of enhanced excitation motivated us to use a bihemispheric tDCS protocol, exciting bilateral motor areas to provide optimal motor enhancement. This novel tDCS electrode montage, targeting the SMA and primary motor cortex (M1) was implemented in healthy older adults to determine its effects on enhancing manual dexterity. Furthermore, to determine the frequency with which to apply tDCS, a single and tri session protocol was used. We observed a differential pattern of action with anti-phase and in-phase motor tasks during multisession tDCS. We used ultra-high field (7T) MRI to examine the metabolic changes that occur following tDCS. After the stimulation period we observed no significant metabolite modulation. There was a significant correlation between the change in absolute concentration of NAA and change in absolute concentration of tCrd. Finally, we examined the functional connectivity before, during and after tDCS with the use of restingstate fMRI at 7T. We observed enhanced connectivity within right sensorimotor area after stimulation compared to during stimulation. This result confirmed that cortical modulations differ during versus after tDCS, signifying that optimal modulation of behaviour may be after the stimulation period. Furthermore, we observed an enhanced correlation between motor regions and the caudate, both during and after stimulation.

In conclusion, we observed novel cortical adaptations in CSM patients after surgical decompression, which led us to believe that bihemispheric tDCS of M1-SMA network would result in optimal motor enhancement and warrants further investigation in CSM and other neurological disorders.

Keywords

Transcranial direct current stimulation, motor adaptation, cortical modulation, cervical spondylotic myelopathy, resting state functional MRI, magnetic resonance spectroscopy, manual dexterity, rehabilitation

Co-authorship

The following thesis contains material from previously published and submitted manuscripts. In addition, material from a third and fourth manuscript that are in preparation for submission. Permission was obtained from the publishers to reproduce each manuscript, and appears in Appendix B. The contributions of co-authors for each chapter are summarized below. With the exception of the co-author contributions listed below, Kayla Ryan performed all of the protocol development, participant recruitment, data acquisition and analysis, statistical analysis, interpretation of the results, and preparation and submission of manuscripts.

The material in Chapter 2 has been published in *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine*, in a manuscript entitled 'Motor Network Recovery in Patients with Chronic Spinal Cord Compression: a Longitudinal Study Following Decompression Surgery' (28(4):379-388, 2018). Co-aurthors were Kayla Ryan, Sandy Goncalves, Robert Bartha and Neil Duggal. S Goncalves assisted in patient recruitment and data collection. N Duggal was responsible for all clinical assessments and decompression surgery in all CSM patients. N Duggal and R Bartha were responsible for the design of the study. R Bartha and N Duggal provided guidance and support in the analysis and interpretation of the data. N Duggal and R Bartha provided critical review and revision of the manuscript.

The material contained in Chapter 3 is in preparation for submission in an article entitled 'Differential Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Antiphase and Inphase Motor Tasks'. Co-authors were Kayla Ryan, Amy Schranz, Neil Duggal and Robert Bartha. A Schranz assisted in the study design and collection of data. R Bartha and N Duggal provided guidance and support in the analysis and interpretation of the data. N Duggal and R Bartha provided critical review and revision of the manuscript. The material contained in Chapter 4 has been submitted to PLoS One, in an article entitled ^{'1}H MR Spectroscopy of the Motor Cortex Immediately following Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation at 7 Tesla'. Co-authors were Kayla Ryan, Krzysztof Wawrzyn, Joseph Gati, Blaine A. Chronik, Dickson Wong, Neil Duggal, and Robert Bartha. K Wawrzyn prepared and analyzed temperature monitoring data. J Gati assisted in the design of the study. B Chronik provided temperature monitoring equipment. D Wong created essential analysis tools and assisted in the analysis and interpretation of the data. R Bartha assisted in the design of the study. R Bartha and N Duggal provided guidance and support in the analysis and interpretation of the data. N Duggal and R Bartha provided critical review and revision of the manuscript.

The material contained in Chapter 5 is in preparation for submission in an article entitled 'Bihemispheric Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Acutely Modifies Resting State fMRI Measured Functional Connectivity of the Sensory Motor Network'. Co-authors were Kayla Ryan, Krzysztof Wawrzyn, Joseph Gati, Blaine A. Chronik, Ravi Menon, Neil Duggal and Robert Bartha. R Bartha, J Gati and R Menon assisted in study design. R Bartha and N Duggal provided guidance and support in the analysis and interpretation of the data. K Wawrzyn and B Chronik provided temperature monitoring equipment and analysis. N Duggal and R Bartha provided critical review and revision of the manuscript.

Acknowledgements

The journey of my doctoral studies has been a roller coaster of highs and lows, all throughout which a great many people lent their support. First, I would like to thank my family for their constant and unwavering support throughout my entire education. To my parents, Gene and Cheryl Ryan, your love and support pushed me to become the best version of myself. It is because of you that I believe in myself and the reason I continue to reach higher and higher. You taught me the strength of an individual is getting up after falling, and it is this lesson that has allowed me to persevere through my education. To my grandma, Barb Ryan, thank you for always asking how my research was coming, what my results were and how I was going to change the world. Your constant interest in my work was a reminder of why I started it in the first place. To all my friends, who kept me going when I was at my wits end, thank you for your encouragement and positivity. You kept me smiling throughout this journey and I am forever grateful.

I am completely indebted to my wonderful husband, Ray Hamlyn, who helped me in some manner every step of the way through this process. From critically analyzing my research, listening to all my presentations, proof reading, and asking me highly intelligent questions about my research, I could not have done any of this without you. Thank you for your motivation, positivity, constant reminders to eat, and supplying me with endless bouts of laughter. Most of all, thank you for believing in me.

I have been lucky to have the mentorship of two supervisors: Dr. Robert Bartha and Dr. Neil Duggal. Dr. Bartha has been a pillar of positivity throughout my career. His patience and encouragement throughout this process have instilled in me the attributes of a great teacher. Thank you for continuing to make me think critically about my research, and instilling confidence in me. I can never thank you enough for being the positive light, especially during the inevitable lows of this journey. Dr. Duggal's excitement and tenacity for research is infectious, and is what pushed me in the direction of my thesis topic. I came to him with a crazy idea to stimulate people's brains in hopes of improving motor skill; his enthusiasm and trust was a constant motivator to persevere. Dr. Duggal, you have challenged me to become not only a better researcher, but a stronger, more confident person, and for that I will always be grateful.

I would like to extend a huge thank you to the MR techs, Trevor Szekeres, Joseph Gati and Oksana Opalevych. Your patience with scheduling patients outside of regular hours and accommodating last minute scans to ensure I did not miss a key time point was outstanding. Thank you for sharing your expertise and knowledge.

Thank you to my lab members, specifically, Amy Schranz, Dickson Wong and Patrick McCunn, who all played a large role in at least one of my studies. Dickson, I am forever in your debt for the amount of times I had you reanalyze my data. Thank you for being my constant sources of laughter throughout the day and sharing all of your knowledge with me up to the very end. I will miss you all very much and look forward to hearing of your successes in the future.

A huge thank you goes to the ladies and gentlemen of the Retired Research Association and Ladies Retired Research Association. Our morning exercises and conversations were such a positive way to start my day. Not only did a large number of you enthusiastically participate in my research, but continued to be interested in my results and what was next. Your support and kindness will never be forgotten and I know I will be seeing some of you at my defense.

Table of Contents

A	bstract		i
Ta	able of Cont	tents	vii
Li	st of Tables	S	xiii
Li	st of Figure	2S	xiv
Li	st of Abbre	viations	xvi
C	hapter 1		1
1	Introductio	on and Goals of Thesis	1
	1.1 Cervie	cal spondylotic myelopathy	2
	1.1.1	Pathophysiology and Pathology of CSM	2
	1.1.2	Neuroanatomy	3
	1.1.3	Clinical presentation	9
	1.1.4	Diagnostic Evaluations an Imaging	9
	1.1.5	Clinical Measurements	10
	1.1.6	Conservative Treatment, Surgical Intervention and Predicting Out	come 12
	1.1.7	Cortical Changes Due to CSM	
	1.1.8	Enhancing CSM Outcomes	14
	1.2 Trans	cranial Direct Current Stimulation	15
	1.2.1	Neuronal Anatomy	15
	1.2.2	Mechanism of Action	16
	1.2.3	Importance of Study Design	20
	1.2.4	Modelling current distribution	22
	1.2.5	Enhanced Motor Learning by tDCS	
		3711	

1.3	MRI		31
	1.3.1	The MR signal	32
	1.3.2	Excitation	33
	1.3.3	Relaxation	33
	1.3.4	Contrasts	34
	1.3.5	MRI in CSM and SCI	35
1.4	Functi	onal MRI	36
	1.4.1	Neurovascular Coupling	36
	1.4.2	Hemoglobin	38
	1.4.3	BOLD Contrast	39
	1.4.4	Hemodynamic Response (HDR) and Signal Generation	39
	1.4.5	Resting state vs task based fMRI	41
	1.4.6	fMRI in CSM and SCI	42
1.5	Magne	etic Resonance Spectroscopy	43
	1.5.1	Chemical Shift and J-Coupling	44
	1.5.2	Data Acquisition	45
	1.5.3	The ¹ H Spectrum	45
	1.5.4	Advantages of High-Field and Ultra High-Field MRS	46
	1.5.5	Select Metabolites Involved in Neurotransmission	47
1.6	tDCS a	and fMRI	50
1.7	tDCS a	and MRS	51
1.8	Clinica	al Implications	53
1.9	Limita	tions of tDCS	54
1.10	Goals	and Hypothesis	55
1.11	l Refere	nces	58
Chapte	er 2		78

2	Mo Lon	otor Network Recovery in Patients with Chronic Spinal Cord Compression: a ongitudinal Study Following Decompression Surgery		
	2.1	Abstra	ıct:	79
	2.2	Key W	Vords	79
	2.3	Introd	uction	80
	2.4	Metho	ods	81
		2.4.1	Participants and Study Design	81
		2.4.2	Procedures	82
	2.5	Statist	ical Analysis	83
	2.6	Result	S	84
		2.6.1	Longitudinal Changes in Controls	85
		2.6.2	Longitudinal Changes in CSM Patients	86
		2.6.3	Differences Between CSM and Controls	90
		2.6.4	Relationship Between Cortical Activation and Clinical Outcome	92
	2.7	Discus	ssion	92
		2.7.1	Cortical Activation as a Result of Motor Learning	93
		2.7.2	Activation Profiles in CSM Patients	96
		2.7.3	Implications for Neural Recovery	98
		2.7.4	Limitations	99
	2.8	Concl	usions	99
	2.9	Refere	ences	101
C	hapte	er 3		105
3	Dift pha	ferentia se Mot	l Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Anti-phase and or Tasks	d In- 105
	3.1	Abstra	ıct	106
	3.2	Keywo	ords	107
	3.3	Introd	uction	108

3	.4 Methods		. 109
	3.4.1 P	articipants	. 109
	3.4.2 T	ranscranial Direct Current Stimulation	. 109
	3.4.3 N	lotor Task	. 110
	3.4.4 E	xperimental Protocol	. 111
	3.4.5 D	Data Analysis	. 112
3	.5 Results		. 112
	3.5.1 S	ingle Session tDCS	. 112
	3.5.2 N	fulti-session tDCS	. 114
3	.6 Discussio	on	. 115
	3.6.1 L	imitations	. 121
3	.7 Conclusi	on	. 121
3	.8 Referenc	es	. 122
Cha	pter 4		. 127
4 ¹	H MR Spect	roscopy of the Motor Cortex Immediately Following Transcranial Di- ulation at 7 Tesla	irect 127
4	.1 Abstract		. 128
4	.2 Key Wor	ds	. 128
4	.3 Introduct	ion	. 129
4	.4 Methods		. 131
	4.4.1 P	articipants and Study Design	. 131
	4.4.2 tI	DCS Stimulation	. 131
	4.4.3 T	emperature Monitoring	. 132
	4.4.4 N	Iagnetic Resonance Image Acquisition and Analysis	. 132
4	.5 Results		. 135
	4.5.1 T	emperature Monitoring	. 135

		4.5.2	Metabolite Ratio Changes	. 135
		4.5.3	Metabolite Concentration Changes	. 138
		4.5.4	Correlation between NAA and tCr	. 139
	4.6	Discus	ssion	. 140
		4.6.1	Limitations	. 144
	4.7	Conclu	usion	. 145
	4.8	Refere	nces	. 146
C	hapte	er 5		. 152
5	Bih Stat	emisph e fMRI	eric Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Acutely Modifies Resting Measured Functional Connectivity of the Sensory Motor Network	. 152
	5.1	Abstra	ct	. 153
	5.2	Keywo	ords	. 154
	5.3	Introdu	uction	. 155
	5.4	Metho	ds	. 157
		5.4.1	Experimental Design	. 157
		5.4.2	tDCS Application	. 157
		5.4.3	Temperature Monitoring	. 157
		5.4.4	Image Acquisition	. 158
		5.4.5	rs-fMRI Pre-processing	. 158
		5.4.6	Statistical Analysis	. 159
	5.5	Result	S	. 160
		5.5.1	Temperature Monitoring	. 160
		5.5.2	Stability of Sham and Baseline Scans	. 160
		5.5.3	Modulation of Resting –State Networks	. 160
		5.5.4	Region of Interest Analysis	. 162
	5.6	Discus	ssion	. 163

		5.6.1	Modulation of SMN by tDCS	164
		5.6.2	Modulation of subcortical regions	165
		5.6.3	Limitations	166
	5.7	Conclu	usions	167
	5.8	Refere	nces	168
6	Cor	nclusion	s and Future Directions	174
	6.1	Limita	tions	177
	6.2	Future	Directions	177
	6.3	Conclu	usions	179
Aj	ppen	dix A: I	Research Ethics Board Approval	180
Aj	ppen	dix B: (Copyright Acknowledgement	183
Aj	ppen	dix C: 0	Curriculum Vitae	190

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Single session tDCS	
Table 1.2. Multi-session tDCS	
Table 2.1 CSM Demographics	
Table 2.2 Volume of Activation	
Table 2.3 BOLD Activation	89
Table 4.1. Spectral Quality:	136
Table 4.2. Metabolite Ratios.	138
Table 4.3. Absolute Metabolite Concentration.	

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Corticospinal Tract	. 5
Figure 1.2 Reciprocal connectivity of M1-SMA network	. 8
Figure 1.3 MRI of CSM 1	10
Figure 1.4 ISNCSCI Assessment Scale 1	12
Figure 1.5 Neuronal Excitation and Action Potential Generation 1	16
Figure 1.6 Electric Field Distribution 1	18
Figure 1.7 Electric Field Distribution of Different Electrode Montages	23
Figure 1.8 7T MRI used at Robarts Research Institute	32
Figure 1.9 Blood Flow at rest and during neural activity	37
Figure 1.10 Hemodynamic Response Function	40
Figure 1.11 A typical semi-LASER spectrum (TE=60 ms) acquired from 7T 4	46
Figure 2.1 Longitudinal Cortical Activation	37
Figure 2.2 Longitudinal trends in functional cortical activation	€
Figure 2.3 Comparison of activation between CSM and controls) 3
Figure 2.4 BOLD Activation and Clinical Scores	€
Figure 2.5 Cortical Activation Predicts Clinical Outcome	€
Figure 3.1. Single session tDCS versus sham11	13
Figure 3.2. Multisession tDCS versus sham	15
Figure 3.3. Differing effects of stimulation on in-phase and antiphase tasks	20

Figure 4.1. Primary Motor CortexVoxel Position: 1	133
Figure 4.2 7T MRS Spectrum	134
Figure 4.3. Metabolite Ratios	137
Figure 4.4. NAA and tCr Coupling	140
Figure 5.1 Resting State Network Modulation by tDCS.	161
Figure 5.2 Temporal Dynamics of tDCS Modulation on SMN	162
Figure 5.3 Region of Interest Analysis with right caudate.	163

List of Abbreviations

¹³ C	Carbon
¹⁹ F	Fluorine
¹ H MRS	Proton Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy
¹ H	Hydrogen
²³ Na	Sodium
³¹ P	Phosphorus
7T	7 Tesla
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
BOLD	Blood Oxygen Level Dependent
Ca^{2+}	Calcium
Cho	Choline
CMMDT	Complete Minnesota Manual Dexterity Test
CNS	Central Nervous System
CO^2	Carbon Dioxide
COX_{-2}	Cyclooxygenase-?
Cr Cr	Creatine
CSE	Cerebrospinal Fluid
CSM	Cervical Spondylotic Myelonathy
dHb	Deoxygenated Hemoglobin
DI PEC	Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex
DMN	Default Mode Network
FCT	Electroconvulsive Therapy
FEG	Electroencenhalogranhy
fMRI	Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
GARA	Gamma amino-hutrvic acid
Gln	Glutamine
Glu	Glutamine
Gly	Glutamate +Glutamine
GM	Grev Matter
GSH	Glutathione
Hh	Hemoglobin
HDR	Hemodynamic Response
H ₇	Hertz
ISNCSCI	International Standard for Neurological Classification of Spinal Cord Injury
K ⁺	Potassium
LASER	Localization by Adiabatic Selective Refocusing
LTD	Long Term Depression
I TP	Long Term Potentiation
M1	Primary Motor Cortex
ΜΑΝΟΥΔ	Multivariate Analysis of Variance
MEP	Motor Evoked Potential
MHz	Mega Hertz
mI	Myo-inositol
1111	

mJOA	modified Japanese Orthopeadic Association
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
Na ⁺	Sodium
NAA	<i>N</i> -acetyl aspartate
NAAG	<i>N</i> -acetylaspartylglutamate
NDI	Neck Disability Index
NMDA	N-methyl –D-aspartate
NO	Nitric Oxide
PCC	Posterior Cingulate Cortex
PCr	Phosphocreatine
PD	Proton Density
PMC	Premotor Cortex
Ppm	Parts Per Million
RF	Radio Frequency
rs-fMRI	Resting State Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
S1	Sensory Cortex
SCI	Spinal Cord Injury
SD	Standard Deviation
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
SEQTAP	Sequential Tapping
SM1 (M1/S1)	Sensorimotor Cortex
SMA	Supplementary Motor Area
SMN	Sensorimotor Nework
SNR	Signal to Noise
SRTT	Serial Reaction Time Task
SVIPT	Sequential Visual Isometric Pinch Task
T_1	Longitudinal Magnetization
T_2	Transverse Magnetization
tDCS	Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation
TE	Echo Time
TMS	Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation
TR	Transverse Relaxation
TSP	Sodium 3- trimethylsilyl-propionic acid
VAPOR	Variable Pulse Power and Optimized Relaxation Delays
VOA	Volume of Area
WM	White matter

Chapter 1

1 Introduction and Goals of Thesis

1.1 Cervical spondylotic myelopathy

Cervical spondylosis is a term used to describe the degenerative changes of the spine that become increasingly more prevalent with age. In its most severe form, spondylosis can lead to compression of the spinal cord, resulting in cervical spondylotic myelopathy (CSM). CSM is a degenerative condition that results in functional decline due to narrowing of the spinal canal. It is the most common form of spinal cord dysfunction in adults over the age of 55, with males being affected at a ratio of 2.7:1.¹ The variety of symptoms caused by CSM are broad, ranging from mild dysfunction, such as numbness or difficulties with dexterity, to severe, such as quadraparesis and incontinence. ¹⁻⁵ When symptoms are progressive, and patients fail to respond to conservative treatment, surgical intervention is required.⁴ Although thousands of Canadians will undergo surgery every year, clinical improvement and surgical success is difficult to predict and rehabilitation strategies are scarce. There is a need for improved pre-operative screening to predict the outcome of decompressive surgery and further research into optimal rehabilitation strategies to allow for strengthened surgical success and recovery from this commonly occurring disease.

1.1.1 Pathophysiology and Pathology of CSM

Degenerative changes to the spine occur as a part of healthy aging. ^{4,6,7} The pathogenesis of the disease can be divided into three main components: static, dynamic and histopathological. Static factors are structural factors that cause canal narrowing. The degenerative cascade of CSM typically begins with the deterioration of the intervertebral disc. The disc collapses and the annulus bulges posteriorly causing a narrowing of the spinal canal. Decreased disc height causes the spinal column to shorten, leading to abnormal spine biomechanics.^{1,4,8} The ligamentum flavum thickens and buckles into the spinal canal. Ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament can also lead to CSM by direct compression of the cord. These changes often lead to a loss of range of motion of

the affected structures. To compensate for the decreased motion, adjacent regions of the spine become hypermobile. ⁸⁻¹⁰ Dynamic factors refer to abnormal repetitive movement of the cervical spine during flexion and extension causing nerve root and spinal cord irritation and compression. Flexion may compress the spinal cord against anterior osteophytes and intervertebral discs. ^{7,9,10} Hyperextension may lead to cord pinching between the posterior margin of the vertebral body anteriorly and the hypertrophied ligamentum flavum posteriorly. Lastly, mechanical compression of the spinal cord leads to vascular changes causing ischemia and inflammation. ^{1,4,7,9} Chronic cord compression can lead to neuronal cell loss, degeneration of the posterior columns and anterior horn cells, and endothelial damage resulting in compromised blood spinal cord barrier.⁴

1.1.2 Neuroanatomy

The central nervous system is comprised of both descending motor and ascending sensory tracts that send information either from the brain, down the spinal cord to the target muscles, or from the muscle to the brain.

1.1.2.1 Motor Tracts of the Spinal Cord

As there are two avenues of motor control in the human body, there are two separate pathways: the somatic pathways, controlling skeletal muscle, and autonomic pathways, serving smooth muscles, glands, etc. As the current thesis concentrates solely on control of skeletal muscle, only those pathways serving skeletal muscle will be discussed.¹¹

The pyramidal tract is comprised of three separate tracts: corticobulbar, and the lateral and anterior corticospinal tracts. These tracts form two pyramids on either side of the medulla of the brainstem, thus giving their name. The corticobulbar tract originates in the primary motor cortex and synapses in nuclei with the lower motor neurons of cranial nerves serving conscious control over the eye, jaw and face muscles.¹¹ As these tracts

terminate at the level of the brain stem, they are not affected in CSM and will not be further discussed.

The corticospinal tract, serving conscious control over skeletal muscles is of large importance in CSM cases (Figure 1.1). This tract originates not only in the primary motor area, but also the primary somatosensory cortex, premotor areas and supplementary motor areas.¹¹ These upper motor neurons travel through the internal capsule in the forebrain and enter the cerebral peduncle at the base of the midbrain. The anterior corticospinal tract continues to descend on the ipsilateral side and decussate at the level of the spinal cord.¹¹ The lateral corticospinal tract, comprising the large majority of the corticospinal tract fibers, crosses the midline at the level of the medulla and traverses down the contralateral side of the spinal cord. Neurons located in the ventral horn send axons through ventral roots to target muscles.¹¹



Figure 1.1 Depiction of the Corticospinal Tract. The anterior corticospinal tract (red) does not decussate, carrying information from the brain to the muscle, while the lateral corticospinal tract (blue) decussates at the medulla. Nuno A et al. (2014). From basics to clinical: A comprehensive review on spinal cord injury. *Progress in Neurobiology*. 114: 25-57. Used with permission from Elsevier.

1.1.2.2 Sensory Tracts of the Spinal Cord

The ascending pathways conduct neural input from the periphery, via the spinal cord, to the cortex. Sensory information is relayed through orders of neurons within the central nervous system. First order neurons deliver information from the muscle to the central nervous system, the cell bodies of these neurons are found in dorsal root or cranial ganglion. Second order neurons are interneurons, with cells bodies either in the spinal cord or brain, and lastly, third order neurons transmit information from the thalamus to the cortex.¹¹ There are three major sensory pathways, carrying differing types of information. The posterior columns carry information on proprioception, fine touch and vibration and are divided into two separate pathways. The fasiculus gracilis carries information from the periphery to the brain from levels below T6 (eg. legs and hips). First order neurons reside in dorsal root ganglion. Axons from these neurons ascend in the posterior aspect of the spinal cord and synapse with second order neurons in the nucleus gracilis of the medulla. Axons from second order neurons cross over at the level of the medulla before entering the medial leminiscus.¹¹ Axons then synapse at the ventral posterolateral nucleus of the thalamus before projecting to the primary sensory cortex. The fasciculus cuneatus, carries fine touch, pressure and proprioceptive information from above T6 (eg. arms and hands).¹¹ This tract follows a similar pathway to the medulla, instead synapsing in the nucleus cuneatus where it crosses over before continuing the same path as the fasciculus gracilis.

The second group of ascending pathways are the lateral and anterior spinothalamic pathways.¹¹ The lateral pathway is located just anterior to the pyramidal tracts on the lateral side of the spinal cord and carries information pertaining to pain and temperature. Similar to the posterior column, first order neurons are located in the dorsal root ganglion and synapse on second order neurons located in the posterior gray horn of the spinal cord. ¹¹ Axons from second order neurons decussate across the anterior commissure of the spinal cord and ascend through the brain stem and midbrain before synapsing on third order neurons located in the ventral posterolateral nucleus of the thalamus. The neurons of the thalamus project upwards through the internal capsule and carona radiata to the primary somatosensory cortex.¹¹ The anterior spinothalamic tract is located in the anterior aspect of the spinal cord and carries crude touch and pressure sensations. This pathway follows the same route and decussation as the lateral spinothalamic tract. ¹¹ Lastly, the

posterior pathway. These tracts only have first and second order neurons and synapse on the same side as stimulus on the cerebellar cortex. ¹¹

1.1.2.3 Integration of Motor and Sensory Commands in Primary and Secondary Motor Areas

The integration of motor commands originate from both primary and secondary motor areas, including the premotor cortex, supplementary motor area and cingulate motor areas. Although the primary motor cortex contributes a larger number of corticospinal projections to skeletal musculature, the SMA also has direct excitatory influence on the hand and arm region of the motor cortex (Figure 1.2).¹² As stated previously, motor neurons of the SMA contribute directly to the corticospinal tract innervating hand and arm muscles to control fine, dexterous and bimanual movements. The SMA has direct connections via U shaped fibers to the hand region of M1.¹³ Using fMRI, the SMA has consistently been shown to have a positive influence on M1 activity. ¹³⁻¹⁵ The SMA plays an important role in bimanual coordination, and the execution of internally cued movements.^{16,17} The integration of motor commands from the SMA to M1 are a crucial aspect of motor execution.



Figure 1.2 Reciprocal connectivity of M1-SMA network. Strong inter and intrahemsipheric connections create the M1-SMA network.

1.1.2.4 Consequences for CSM

Due to the pathophysiology of CSM, the most common pathways affected due to spinal cord compression are the posterior columns and the corticospinal tract. The majority of fibers from the corticospinal tract comprise the lateral corticospinal tract, which functions to carry information of fine motor control of the hands ¹¹. As such, manual dexterity deficits are observed in the majority of CSM cases.¹⁰ Manual dexterity broadly defines fine motor movements of the hand that involve strength, proprioception and sensation; many activities of daily living rely on manual dexterity, such as doing up buttons, hand writing, eating with utensil, etc.¹⁰ Quality of life can become greatly diminished when manual dexterity is compromised.

1.1.3 Clinical presentation

The clinical consequences related to compression of the cervical spinal cord are broad. The onset of symptoms is often insidious with long periods of disability and short episodes of worsening; however, symptoms can develop acutely or transiently.¹⁰ In the early stages, CSM commonly presents as neck stiffness, changes in muscle tone, sensory loss, and deterioration in gait, balance and manual dexterity. Symptoms can progress to quadraparesis and incontinence. Patients who do progress, experience functional decline leading to a reduced quality of life.^{1,8,10} For some patients, evidence of spinal cord compression may be evident from an MRI; however, clinically they present as asymptomatic. This is why a thorough history and physical examination, in addition to imaging is important when making a diagnosis.

1.1.4 Diagnostic Evaluations an Imaging

Cervical radiographs (x-rays) are often used to examine the narrowing of the disc space, presence and size of osteophyte formations and global sagittal alignment. However, x-rays provide no information regarding the condition of the spinal cord. Currently, the most useful diagnostic tool is an MRI of the cervical spine, which allows visualization of the size and shape of the spinal cord in three dimensions (sagittal, axial and coronal). Diagnostic features detected by MRI include the location and source of spinal cord compression, cord edema, and the extent of cord compression.^{7,18,19} Signal changes within the cord, such as T_2 -weighted image hyper intensities and T_1 -weighted image hypo intensities can reflect atrophy of the spinal cord or cord edema.

Physical examination includes balance and gait assessment, cervical range of motion, and dexterity tests, to name a few; however, quantitative measurements of both gait and dexterity are severely lacking within the clinical setting. "Myelopathy hand" is a feature in patients with CSM demonstrating a decline in motor strength and sensory changes.^{10,20}

Surgery for the treatment of symptomatic CSM is often considered when there is a history of a progressive decline in neurological function, concordant imaging with evidence of spinal cord compression, and limited or no response to appropriate conservative measures.⁴



Figure 1.3 MRI of CSM; Arrows indicate presence of spinal cord compression. Kerkovsky, M *et al.* (2012). Magnetic Resonance Diffusion Tensor Imaging in Patients with Cervical Spondlylotic Spinal Cord Compression: Correlations Between Clinical and Electrophysiological Findings. *Spine* 37. Used with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health Inc.

1.1.5 Clinical Measurements

Objective, quantitative measurements for assessing disability from CSM are severely lacking. Currently, the International Standard for Neurological Classification of Spinal

Cord Injury (ISNCSCI) and modified Japanese Orthopedic Association Score for CSM (mJOA) are used.²¹ The ISNCSCI (Figure 1.4) is a physician derived examination of both motor and sensory function. Gross motor strength and sensation to pin prick and light touch are examined. The mJOA is a patient derived questionnaire of motor, sensory and sphincter function. The questionnaire score ranges from 3 to 18 points (18 representing the maximum score), with a score of >15 indicating mild CSM, 12-14 indicating moderate CSM and a score of <11 indicating severe CSM.²¹⁻²³ Whether or not a patient is improving, either naturally or from surgical intervention is defined by these measurements. Patient derived outcome tools commonly used for self-perceived measures of improvement include the 36-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) and the Neck Disability Index (NDI).²⁴ The SF-36 measures global health and is divided into two components: physical and mental. The NDI score has a total of 10 questions regarding neck pain that range from 0-100 (with 100 representing the maximum score).²⁴



Figure 1.4 ISNCSCI Assessment Scale. Source:

http://asiaspinalinjury.org/elearning/ISNCSCI.php (accessed January 2018, available for free download)

1.1.6 Conservative Treatment, Surgical Intervention and Predicting Outcome

The use of conservative versus surgical treatment of CSM has been a topic of debate. Studies have shown that some individuals with mild CSM, treated without surgery, can go as long as 10 years without progressing.^{8,10,25} Conservative treatment of CSM is aimed at treating symptoms and protecting the spinal cord from additional injury. This may include medications, and avoidance of certain activities.^{25,26} Surgical treatment of CSM is often encouraged for those with more severe or progressive symptoms. The goal of surgery is to decompress the spinal cord, preserve alignment of the vertebrae and prevent any further neurological damage. However, research has shown that surgical outcomes are unpredictable. Approximately two-thirds of patients improve after surgery, while 15-30% fail to show any improvements.^{3,4,8} Kadanka and colleagues performed a randomized control trial of 68 CSM patients either receiving surgery or conservative care. After a three year follow up period, they discovered no difference in mJOA scores between those treated conservatively and those who underwent surgery.²⁷ In contrast, another group performed a study of 43 patients, showing that surgery resulted in superior outcomes approximately 1 year later.²⁵ Several factors have been suggested as predictors of surgical outcome such as age, duration of symptoms, severity of myelopathy, mJOA score, cross-sectional area of spinal cord and high-intensity signal change on T₂-weighted MRL^{23,28,29}

1.1.7 Cortical Changes Due to CSM

The pathological changes in the spinal cord after CSM have been well documented; ²⁶ however, the subsequent changes that occur in the brain are largely unknown. Although the initial insult results from compression of the spinal cord, ascending and descending cortical tracts become compromised, disrupting the communication flow between the spinal cord and brain. When neural injury is sustained, a process called Wallerian degeneration occurs wherein axons distal to the site of injury undergo progressive deterioration.^{4,30} A similar process has been documented for upstream axons. Primate studies show apoptosis of corticospinal neurons in the motor cortex and decreased synaptic spine density, ³¹ while human studies following SCI demonstrates the need for continued examination of the cortex following SCI and how this relates to injury severity and recovery. Evidence suggests that in order to maintain motor function following injury, cortical reorganization of spared motor neuron pools occurs.³³⁻³⁷ Reorganization

of the cerebral cortex due to CSM and SCI will be discussed in further detail in the following sections.

1.1.8 Enhancing CSM Outcomes

CSM is the most common form of spinal cord dysfunction in those over the age of 55. With the uncertainty of outcomes in both conservative and surgical treatment, better management of symptoms after diagnosis and surgery are required. Currently, there is no clinical standard of care that requires or even promotes a rehabilitation protocol after receiving a diagnosis of CSM or after operative treatment. With neurorehabilitation strategies gaining popularity in the literature for other neurological disorders such as stroke, it is important to determine an optimal neurorehabilitation program for individuals with spinal cord injury.

In addition, non-invasive brain stimulation such as transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) has also become increasingly popular in the literature for modulating cortical activity and behaviour.³⁸⁻⁴¹ Recently, it has been used in neurorehabilitation to enhance motor function in neurological disorders such as stroke. In a study by Cortes *et al.* in 2017, improved grasp function was observed after a single session of tDCS in individuals with chronic spinal cord injury.⁴² Although positive results have been observed with the use of tDCS, its use remains controversial, as its exact mechanism and the optimal parameters to promote motor and cognitive enhancements are still unknown. Stagg and colleagues have performed multiple studies observing the effects of tDCS both behaviourally and physiologically.⁴³⁻⁴⁷ It is thought that tDCS modulation occurs in a similar manner to long term potentiation; enhancing task specific synaptic connections.³⁹ The after effects of tDCS are believed to involve modulation at the level of the neurotransmitter (e.g. GABA and/or glutamate). By enhancing motor specific connections by pairing tDCS with a rehabilitation program, it is possible that recovery of CSM can be enhanced.

1.2 Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation

The ability to modulate the brain through electric current is not a novel concept. As early as 1870, Fritsch and Hitzig demonstrated that injecting positive current had stimulating effects, while negative current had an inhibitory effect on the cortex.⁴⁸ In 1938, the first electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) was conducted on patients with psychiatric disorders. At that time, it was believed that by electrically inducing seizures, relief from psychiatric disorders such as major depression, mania and catatonia would occur.⁴⁹ The field of non-invasive brain stimulation has since grown and has been adapted to provide enhanced recovery of motor, language and cognitive faculties.^{39,40,50} One such method, tDCS has gained popularity because of its versatility and ease of use to modulate motor and cognitive behaviour³⁹.

1.2.1 Neuronal Anatomy

A neuron is an electrically excitable cell that receives, processes and transmits information through electrical and chemical signals. The structure of a neuron reflects the roles carried out by each segment. A typical neuron consists of a cell body (soma), an axon and dendrites (Figure 1.5). Dendrites can be further divided into apical (those facing the cortical surface) and terminal (those extending away from the cortical surface).¹¹ Due to the presence of ion pumps and channels embedded in the membrane, there is a membrane voltage gradient that occurs due to difference in ion (e.g. sodium, potassium, chloride and calcium) concentration intracellularly compared to extracellularly. A change in the membrane voltage can alter the function of the voltage-dependent ion channels, allowing for a depolarization or hyperpolarization of the cell membrane.¹¹ If the cell becomes depolarized to a large enough degree, an action potential is generated along the axon of the neuron.



Figure 1.5 Neuronal Excitation and Action Potential Generation. Resting membrane potential of a typical neuron is -70 mV. When the distribution of ion flow changes and allows for more positive ions on the inside of the membrane, resting membrane potential can become more positive. Once a threshold of -55 mV is achieved, an action potential is generated and is carried along myelinated axons.

1.2.2 Mechanism of Action

The mechanism by which tDCS alters brain activity has been examined in both animal and human experiments. tDCS acts in a similar manner to that of a traditional battery. Current flows from the positive terminal (anode) to the negative terminal (cathode) via the path of least resistance.^{45,51} As the current needs to pass through the highly resistive skull to reach the brain, a large proportion of the current is shunted through the skull. Under ideal conditions, it has been approximated that only 45% of the current will reach the brain.⁵² What happens once the current reaches the brain is debated and an area of active research. Application of tDCS provides a low, continuous direct current to target areas of the brain, under the stimulating electrodes. The biophysics behind how application of current can modulate the polarity of neuronal cells is detailed in the following sections.

1.2.2.1 Biophysics of Neuronal Polarization

Neurons maintain a resting membrane potential by shuttling three sodium ions out of the cell and two potassium ions into the cell. The resting membrane potential of a typical neuron is -70 mV, with a threshold potential of -55 mV. This means that the potential difference from the inside of the cell to the outside of the cell must increase by 15 mV in order for an action potential to fire. ¹¹ Conventionally, nerve impulses cause an influx of Na⁺ ions into the cell, causing the inside of the cell to become more positively charged. Application of tDCS electrodes to the scalp creates a similar potential difference which causes positively charged ions to be pulled toward the cathode and away from the anode; the opposite occurs with negatively charged ions.⁵³ This modulation in the distribution of ion flow alters the concentration gradient of K⁺ and Na⁺ ions, resulting in polarization of the membrane. (Figure 1.6b).⁵¹ The magnitude and direction of membrane polarity are dependent on neuronal size and orientation in relation to the electric field. Larger, asymmetrical neurons such as layer V pyramidal neurons have an increased polarization compared to smaller, symmetrical neurons such as interneurons. Put simply, a pyramidal neuron that is oriented with apical dendrites toward the cortical surface will result in apical dendrite hyperpolarization and somatic and basal dendrite depolarization and when receiving anodal current (Figure 1.6a).⁵¹ Electrophysiology studies using rat hippocampal slices have shown that with currents of 2 mA, the peak electric field would be between 0.4-1 V/m, resulting in a somatic polarization of approximately 0.3mV.^{51,54,55} Based on the widely used 'somatic doctrine', the functional outcome of tDCS is based upon the polarization of the soma.⁵⁴ However, this view neglects the potential effects of dendritic polarization. While the basal dendrites are likely to be polarized in the same direction of the soma, the apical dendrites are polarized in the opposite direction.^{54,55} The role of dendritic polarization will be discussed in further detail in the next section.



Figure 1.6 Current flow from anode/cathode and the different effect on apical and basal aspects of the neuron. Anodal tDCS allows current to flow from the anode to cathode which alters the distribution of the underlying ions. Negatively charged ions such as chloride (Cl-) are pulled towards the anode, while positively charged ions such as sodium (Na+) and potassium (K+) are pushed towards the cathode. This distribution of charged particles drives the polarity differences observed in the underlying neurons. Modified from Rahman *et al.* (2013). Used with permission from Elsevier and John Wiley and Sons.

1.2.2.2 Shortcomings of the 'Somatic Doctrine'

There are two important limitations of the somatic doctrine; the first being the cellular compartment in which it ignores, the axons and dendrites. While the orientation of the soma is important in dictating the direction of polarity (excitatory or inhibitory), there is
evidence to suggest that the orientation of the dendrites governs the magnitude of the effect of stimulation.⁵⁶ Although the soma is the central integration point for synaptic input, the dendrites play a meaningful role in synaptic processing and plasticity through glutamatergic and GABAergic receptors.⁵⁷ Furthermore, the somatic doctrine assumes not only that the electric field is perfectly radial to the cortex, but that all neurons are oriented perpendicular to the electric field.⁵¹ Due to the high degree of cortical folding in the human brain, most of the cortex stimulated by direct current will experience both radial and tangential electric field. Tangential fields are oriented parallel to the cerebral cortex and were once believed to produce little polarization and therefore had little effect on synaptic modulation.⁵⁸ However, electrophysiology recordings on hippocampal brain slices have confirmed that tangentially applied electric fields were as effective at modulating synaptic efficacy as radially applied fields.^{58,59} In addition, as tangentially applied electric fields do not modulate somatic polarization, early studies support the idea that dendritic polarization can modulate synaptic efficacy independent of soma polarization. ^{51,58,59} This once more solidifies the importance of dendritic polarization, as afferent axons run perpendicular to the somato-dendritic axis.⁵⁸ Brain slice studies have consistently found that terminal hyperpolarization enhances synaptic activity, whereas terminal depolarization causes an inhibition (Figure 1.6b).⁵⁶

1.2.2.3 Network and Secondary Effects

A great deal of the work done to elucidate the physiological effects of tDCS has been on animal models, and in most cases on brain slices at the single cell level. This negates the possible effects of tDCS on multiple neuronal populations within a brain region and between brain regions. Studies have shown that tDCS effects the target neurons directly under the stimulating electrode; however, downstream, subcortical structures such as the thalamus and cerebellum have shown modulation.^{53,60-62} As mentioned previously, tDCS does not induce an action potential, rather modulates the membrane potential of neuronal populations. Studies have shown that direct current modulates synaptic plasticity either through changing the rate of action potential generation or change in the timing of the action potential. The magnitude and direction of synaptic plasticity is heavily dependent on the physiological state of the target neuronal network.⁶¹

tDCS is thought to act on the glutamatergic system, enhancing the release of glutamate upon anodal and reducing release upon cathodal stimulation. Rahman postulates that direct current allows the brain to receive and process a higher amount of synaptic inputs, resulting in higher synaptic efficacy.⁵¹ Work from brain slice, as well as quantification of evoked potentials has shown that tDCS can modulate brain activity that outlasts the stimulation period.⁵⁶ Recent work by Sun *et al* showed that the after effects of tDCS are due to a molecular cascade involving glutamate, NMDA and GABA receptors.⁶³ Studies have shown that the plasticity that occurs during the after effects of tDCS are very similar to that of long term depression and potentiation.^{45,64,65}

At the network level, Nitsche and Paulus have conducted several experiments quantifying the neuronal responses of the motor network both during and after tDCS.⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶ With the use of TMS, the excitability of the motor cortex can be quantified using motor evoked potentials (MEP). In their 2000 study, Nitsche and Paulus measured MEPs of the right abductor digiti minimi following 1 mA of stimulation to the motor cortex representing that muscle for 5 minutes.⁶⁴ They observed an increase in MEP amplitude by 40% following anodal stimulation, and a decreased MEP amplitude of 30% following cathodal stimulation.⁶⁴ This study concluded that tDCS to the motor cortex was able to induce or inhibit cortical excitability. In a second study, they revealed that motor cortical excitable state for up to 90 minutes after the end of 13 minutes of 1 mA of stimulation.⁶⁵

1.2.3 Importance of Study Design

There are several parameters that can be manipulated in the study design of tDCS, each requiring careful thought and consideration. These parameters include: duration and

intensity of the simulation, electrode size and placement of the active and reference electrode, electrode montage (unihemispheric vs bihemispheric) and whether tDCS will be applied before, during or after a behavioural task. Furthermore, when possible, tDCS studies should always try to use a double-blind, within-subjects design.⁵³ Due to a great deal of variance in the effect of stimulation between individuals, within subject designs are superior as they control for the differences between subjects.^{64,65} Blinding the subject to the condition in which they are participating is crucial; when possible, blinding the experimenter controls for bias as well. Successful blinding of the sham condition is possible by ramping the current up to the desired current for 10 seconds, and subsequently turning it off. This allows participants to feel the sensation of the electrodes in both the active and sham condition. Subjects are unable to determine which condition they are in when blinding is done in this manner.⁶⁷

Currently research is not united on the optimal intensity of stimulation. Early tDCS work showed that the intensity of current would increase neuronal excitability in a linear manner, ie. 1 mA of current would produce twice the neuronal excitability as 0.5 mA. This was shown to be the case using very specific parameters.^{64,65} Using 35 cm² electrodes for 13 minutes, Nitsche and Paulus have shown a linear effect of stimulation up to 1 mA.^{64,65} However, recent work has discovered important physiological effects of increasing the current intensity from 1 mA to 2 mA, especially in the case of cathodal stimulation.⁶⁸ Cathodal stimulation has been popularly known to cause cortical inhibition; however, when stimulation intensity is increased to 2 mA, it instead induces excitation.⁶⁸ The reason for this polarity reversal is hypothesized to be due to an increase in calcium influx, resulting in long term potentiation. Another possible mechanism may be due to the larger intensity current causing dendritic depolarization at a sufficient level to impact neuronal excitation on surrounding neuronal structures of differing orientation.⁶⁸ Finally, an increased current may lead to neuronal excitation and recruitment of surrounding brain regions, causing an indirect change in the direction of polarity in the target brain region. When designing an experiment that is meant to inhibit a target brain region, it is crucial that this reversal in polarity of cathodal stimulation at 2 mA is accounted for.

Duration is another important stimulation parameter when designing a tDCS experiment. Nitsche and Paulus observed that 5 minutes of stimulation not only increased the size of the MEP compared to 1 minute of stimulation, but the effects lasted for a longer period of time.⁶⁴ In a follow up study, they concluded that at least 13 minutes of stimulation was required in order to observe after effects that lasted up to 90 minutes.⁶⁵

The size of the electrode is an important parameter that does not receive the consideration it deserves. The size of the electrode determines the current density. Therefore the effect the electric field has on neuronal excitation or inhibition is not just dependent on current intensity, but also on the dispersion of the current.⁵⁴ With smaller electrode sizes, the more focal the current distribution is. This not only allows for deeper penetration of the electrical field, but also allows better specification of the target brain region.⁶⁹ In separate studies, Nitsche and Miranda demonstrated a more focal current distribution of stimulation with reduced electrode size.^{69,70} Larger electrode sizes (40 cm -100 cm) are often used for the reference electrode in order to diminish the effects of the non-target regions.⁷¹ Bastani *et al.* observed a significant difference in MEP amplitude change from baseline when altering current density from 0.029 to 0.083. Larger current densities induce larger changes in corticospinal excitability.⁷¹

A final factor to consider in the tDCS study design is where to place both the target and reference electrode; will a unihemipheric (one target electrode, one reference electrode) or bihemispheric (two target electrodes) montage provide optimal results for the study hypothesis.

1.2.4 Modelling current distribution

The spatial distribution of the electrodes on the surface of the scalp have important implications in tDCS efficacy. In addition to accounting for the various stimulation parameters, there are anatomic features that must be considered such as brain-scalp distance and the concentration of CSF. The conductivity of bone is quite poor; therefore, with increased skull thickness, there is a reduced spread of current to the brain. As it is estimated that only 45% of current penetrates the scalp to reach the brain, this percentage can quickly be diminished with increasing skull thickness.^{55,69} Additionally, the spacing of the electrodes plays an important role in the penetration of current to the brain. Generally, increasing the distance between two electrodes increases the current into the brain as a result of increased current density depth and decreased shunting through the scalp; however, with increased distance of electrodes, the current distribution is much less focal, and non-target brain regions may also be implicated.^{54,55,69} There is a compromise between current density, electrode spatial distribution and current specificity. Rush and Driscoll found that electrodes must be at least 5 cm apart in order for effective current injection into the brain.⁵²



Figure 1.7 Electric Field Distribution of Different Electrode Montages. In three separate sessions, electrodes were placed on A) anode on left M1, B) cathode on right M1 and C) anode and cathode on bilateral M1. Authors concluded that bilateral tDCS is more effective than unilateral stimulation due to its polarity-specific effects on each hemisphere rather than due to its current flow direction. Georgios, N *et al* (2016).

Enhanced motor learning with bilateral transcranial direct current stimulation: Impact of polarity or current flow direction. *Clinical Neurophysiology*. 127:2119-2126. Used with permission from Elsevier.

The use of one active electrode and one reference electrode, commonly placed on the supraorbital bone, is the classic tDCS design (unihemispheric). However, more recently, clinical studies have begun to employ a bihemispheric electrode montage, where target areas of the brain on both hemispheres are implicated.⁷²⁻⁷⁴ As one can imagine, these two different designs result in a different spatial distribution of current flow and peak current densities (Figure 1.7). The optimal design depends largely on the research question.

Both behavioural and physiological studies have shown a great deal of variability in the response to tDCS of healthy individuals. This large inter-individual variability can be largely explained by anatomical differences and has been demonstrated using computation models. Skull thickness, cortical folding patterns, GM/WM ratio and orientation of neurons will all affect the distribution of current through the brain and therefore affect the physiological and behavioural responses. A study by Song *et al.* observed as much as a 40% difference in brain volume in healthy individuals aged 18-35.⁷⁵ Datta *et al.* performed computational modelling of 1 mA of current with the anode placed over left M1 and the cathode over the right supra-orbital bone in three healthy individuals.⁷⁶ They observed a peak cortical electrical field of 0.27, 0.35, 0.4 V/m in the three individuals showed variation in current flow patterns and direction. Subject specific local peaks in electrical field were observed, translating to differing neuronal pools being affected by the stimulation.⁷⁶

Finally, the position of electrodes dictates current flow. Current flows from the anode to the cathode; therefore, the position of the cathode will determine the spatial flow of current and which brain areas will be affected. When planning a tDCS experiment, it is important to consider not only the underlying target brain region under the electrode, but

also the path in which the current will flow and how this will affect behavior and physiology.

1.2.5 Enhanced Motor Learning by tDCS

Learning of a motor skill, whether that be a simple sequential finger movement task or as complex as learning a new instrument requires repetitive practice. Motor learning is typically associated with both functional and structural change to the motor network, which includes the primary motor, premotor and supplementary motor cortex, as well as the cerebellum and basal ganglia.⁷⁷⁻⁷⁹ Furthermore motor learning is accompanied by changes in neuronal activity and synaptic plasticity. The mechanism of motor learning is widely considered to be a long-term potentiation (LTP) or long term depression (LTD) like process.⁸⁰ LTP is based upon the adage of "neurons that fire together wire together"; continuous firing of a neuronal pool during specific activity causes a strengthening of the synapses, ultimately producing a long lasting increase in signal transmission.⁸⁰ Enhancement of LTP, and therefore motor skill learning, can be accomplished through training and practice. There have been three different, but related, processes that underlie motor skill learning, the first being online effects; improvement that occurs during the training session. Secondly, offline effects, or consolidation, occurs during a period of rest. Lastly, motor retention occurs by forming long term memory, days to months after the initial training.⁸¹⁻⁸³ tDCS is thought to work in a similar manner as LTP/LTD, thereby providing an additive, exogenous source of motor learning through all three processes; however, tDCS has shown to have its greatest effects on motor consolidation.39,81

Nitsche and colleagues were the first to demonstrate in humans that an increase in motor cortex excitability by anodal tDCS improved performance reaction times of an implicit motor learning task.⁸⁴ The study became the jumping off point for the now vast majority of research proposing motor enhancement by tDCS. Although tDCS has been shown to be highly polarity, timing and task specific, the application of anodal tDCS to M1 has

shown beneficial effects in a variety of motor tasks (Table 1.1) such as serial reaction time tasks (SRTT), implicit and explicit finger sequence tasks, Jebsen Taylor hand function test, ballistic thumb movements and reaching adaptation tasks, to name a few.^{43,84-88} A recent review of alteration of motor behavior through tDCS has shown that single session, anodal tDCS is largely insufficient to change motor behavior outcomes both during and immediately after tDCS. However, improvements in behavior were observed 24 hours after single session, M1 anodal tDCS, suggesting tDCS acts preferentially on the consolidation of motor leaning. ^{83,89-91}

Authors	Brain	Current	Sample	Task	Outcome	Data	Conclusion
	Area	&	Size			Measurement	
	Targeted	Duration					
Kantak et al	M1 and	1 mA 15	12	Implicit	Reaction time	Post	tDCS to M1
2012	PMd	min		SRTT L		Intervention	stabilizes
				Hand		and Retention	motor
							learning and
							retention
Nitsche et	M1	1 mA 15	20	Implicit	Response	During	Increased
al 2003		in		SRTT R	Time	stimulation	performance
				Hand			with tDCS
Savic et al	Anode	1 mA 30	98	Task	Skill learning	24 hours post	No tDCS
2017	and	min	(divided	sequence		stimulation	modulation
	cathode		into 4	learning			
	DLPFC		groups)				
Hashemirad	Anodal to	20 min	51	SVIPT R	Movement	15 min post	Improvement
et al 2017	left M1,			Hand	time, error	intervention, 1	not
	DLPFC,				rate, skill	day post	modulated by
	PCC						tDCS
Rroji et al	Anode to	20 min	14	Ballistic	Movement	30 min post, I	Improved
2015	left M1			thumb	velocity	day post and 1	long term
				movement		week post	retention
				L Hand		stimulation	with anodal
							tDCS

Abbreviations: M1, primary motor cortex; DLPFC, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; PCC, posterior cingulate cortex; PMd, dorsal premotor cortex; SVIPT, sequential visual isometric pinch task; SRTT, serial reaction timed task

1.2.5.1 Muti-session tDCS

There has been a great deal of controversy over whether or not single session tDCS provides any substantial change in behavior or cognition, as there is such a high degree of variability and lack of consistency among tDCS studies.^{90,92} As the modulatory effects of tDCS on healthy individuals are small compared to the large inter-individual variability in both learning and response to tDCS, observing statistically significant changes in behavior is often difficult.⁹³ As tDCS has been shown to preferentially effect the consolidation and retention phases of learning, recent studies have begun applying tDCS during multiple, consecutive sessions in an attempt to compound the modulatory effects (Table 1.2).^{73,74,81,82} For example, Alonzo *et al.*, in a study of 12 healthy subjects, found that multiday, consecutive applications of tDCS was associated with greater increases in motor evoked potential amplitude compared to tDCS application on alternate days.⁸² Multiday application of tDCS allows for consolidation of offline effects, which allow for the maintenance of an increased state of corticomotor excitability between sessions. This heightened corticomotor excitability is thought to play a major role in motor enhancement.^{81,82} Reis *et al.* conducted a sequential visuo-motor isometric pinch task combined with anodal M1 tDCS for five consecutive days and compared this to sham. They observed that combined training with tDCS led to significantly greater learning at the end of the five days compared to sham. Furthermore, this effect was primarily driven through an increased consolidation of motor training in between sessions.⁸¹ In a follow up study by the same group, they determined that the consolidation of motor training was largely dependent on the passage of time (3-6 hours), but did not necessitate the act of sleep.⁹⁴ No change in motor learning was observed when tDCS was applied after the training period, reemphasizing the need for combined tDCS and training for modulation to occur. This has further been demonstrated in brain slices; an increase in synaptic strength was induced by direct current only when paired with a second weak synaptic input. ⁹⁵ Consolidation enhancement through tDCS is believed to occur through activation of neurotransmitters such as NMDA, GABA and glutamate, further perpetuating the idea of an LTP like mechanistic learning. 45,95

Author	Target	Current &	Sample	Task	Outcome	Data	Conclusion
	Brain Area	Duration	Size			Measurement	
Vancleef	Left	2 mA 20 min 4	75	Bimanual	Skill	Post Intervention	No difference
2016	DLPFC or	days		tracking		day 4 and day 11	between sham
	Left M1			task			and tDCS
Reis	M1	1 mA 20min 5	12	SVIPT	Speed-	Within, between	Enhanced online
2009		days			Accuracy	day and 3 mon	and offline
					trade-off	post	learning
Reis et al	Left M1	1 mA 20min 3	34	SVIPT	Skill	15 min, 3h, 6 h	Time, but not
2015		days				Post	sleep required
							for tDCS
							consolidation
Saucedo	Right M1	1mA 20 min 3	27	SEQTAP	Skill	20 min, 1 week	SEQTAP
Maquez		days		and		post intervention	benefited from
et al				SVIPT L			anodal-tDCS
2013				Hand			during learning,
							SVIPT showed
							improvements
							only at retention
Antonen	R tempro-	1 mA 20min 3	40	Object	Skill	1 day, 1 month	Anodal tDCS
ko et al	parietal	day		location		post training	facilitated
2018	cortex			memory			superior recall
							performance
							after training

Abbreviations: M1, primary motor cortex; DLPFC, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; SVIPT, serial reaction timed task; SEQTAP, sequential tapping task

1.2.5.2 Bihemispheric tDCS

As the concept of enhanced motor learning through tDCS enters into clinical research, there has been an increase in the idea that a bihemispheric approach to cortical modulation may produce greater improvements in motor learning.^{74,96} A study by Vines et al. observed significant improvements in motor performance of a finger sequence task using the non-dominant hand after bihemispheric tDCS (anode over right M1, cathode over left M1) compared to both unihemispheric and sham tDCS.⁹⁶ In a study examining the differing effect of the two montages on corticospinal excitability, Mordillo-Mateos et al. observed a greater effect size of unihemipsheric tDCS on corticospinal excitability compared to bihemispheric.⁹⁷ However, the inter-subject variability observed over anodal MEP was significantly less when bihemispheric tDCS was used compared to unihemispheric. The authors hypothesized that the concomitant cathodal stimulation on the contralateral hemisphere creates a more stable environment of anodal M1 and that it is this reduction in inter-subject variability with the bihemispheric montage that is driving the differences in motor behavior between bihemispheric and unihemispheric tDCS.⁹⁷ Using a multi-session bihemispheric M1 approach, Waters-Metenier *et al.* observed increased execution and reaction times in addition to improved force synchrony in a manual dexterity task. Furthermore, this enhancement of motor performance was still present 1 month after stimulation and training sessions.⁷⁴ The bihemispheric montage may have beneficial consequences that are unavailable with a traditional unihemipsheric design. As shown in modelling studies, the current distribution in the bihemispheric montage is extended across the two hemispheres (Figure 1.7) and may target important secondary motor areas such as ipsilateral M1 and the supplementary motor area.^{54,55,69,73} Consequently, Waters-Metentier showed that the bihemispheric montage allowed for facilitation of motor memory during the training period that led to enhanced performance in both hands.⁷⁴ How tDCS can enhance motor performance in clinical populations will be discussed further in section 1.5.8.

1.2.5.3 SMA as a target for motor Behavior modulation

The SMA has been largely ignored as a potential target for tDCS behavior modification. The SMA has been linked to planning of movements, grasping behavior in primates, monitoring movement errors and motor learning.⁹⁸ In addition, structurally, the SMA has strong efferent connections with both M1 and the spinal cord, making it an ideal modifier of motor behavior. There have been few studies examining the effects of anodal tDCS to SMA; however, beneficial motor effects have been identified. Carter et al. demonstrated an increased accuracy and speed during a bimanual dynamic phase coordination task.⁹⁹ Furthermore, Hupfield et al. demonstrated significantly faster reaction times in a serial reaction time task and choice reaction task, indicating more efficient movement planning of the SMA.¹⁰⁰ Lastly, using a visuomotor pinch force task, Vollman et al. demonstrated enhanced performance with anodal tDCS to SMA.¹⁰¹ Together these studies provide evidence toward the need for investigation of more complex behavioural tasks with tDCS applied to SMA. There are limitations presented with tDCS to SMA that need to be addressed. Due to the size and location of the SMA (directly near the central sulcus), it is in close proximity to its contralateral counterpart. Due to the size of most electrodes, localizing and stimulating only one SMA presents a challenge. It is more likely that bilateral SMA will be targeted

1.3 MRI

MRI is an imaging technique that provides anatomical, functional and physiological information of the body. The images provide detailed information from soft tissues that can be used for diagnoses, treatment planning, and disease monitoring. MRI is a safe technique that uses magnetic fields and radio-frequency waves to create images.¹⁰² MRI has the ability to provide soft tissue contrast, particularly between grey and white matter

in the brain, making it especially useful for the investigation of the central nervous system.¹⁰³



Figure 1.8 7T MRI used at Robarts Research Institute

1.3.1 The MR signal

Hydrogen nuclei (protons), found in water and fat in the body, are used to produce magnetic resonance images. The interaction between the hydrogen nuclei and the magnetic field of the MRI can be conceptually explained using classical physics. Briefly, the hydrogen protons have a property known as spin, which produces a magnetic moment. Each hydrogen proton can be thought of as a small magnet that in the absence of an external magnetic field, would be randomly oriented.¹⁰² When the hydrogen protons experience an external magnetic field, such as that produced by the MRI, the magnetic moment of the protons tend to align in the direction of that field. The magnetic moment may align in two directions, parallel (low energy) and anti-parallel (high-energy) to the external field.¹⁰² A slight excess of protons will favour the low energy state. Although protons continually fluctuate between the two energy states, given a large enough sample, a slight majority will have their magnetic moments aligned parallel to the field.¹⁰² With increased magnetic field, there will be a greater difference in the excess

number of protons aligned parallel to the field. The sum of all individual proton magnetic moments in a given sample is known as net magnetization, and is aligned with the magnetic field at equilibrium. The frequency at which protons precess is also dependent on the magnetic field. Higher magnetic fields cause the nucleus to precess faster, described by the Larmor Equation: $\omega = \gamma B$, where ω is the precession or the Larmor frequency in MHz, γ is the gyromagnetic ratio, a fundamental property of each nucleus (the hydrogen nucleus has a gyromagnetic ratio of 267.52 X 10⁶ rad s⁻¹ T⁻¹), and B is the external magnetic field strength in Tesla.¹⁰²

1.3.2 Excitation

Excitation is achieved by delivering a short burst of energy in the form of a radiofrequency (RF) pulse.¹⁰² The energy delivered must occur at the resonant frequency, which is determined by the Larmor equation. When an RF pulse is applied perpendicular to the net magnetization at the resonance frequency, the net magnetization is rotated from its equilibrium position, down towards the transverse plane.¹⁰² If the net magnetization is rotated into the transverse plane, then a 90° RF excitation pulse has occurred. The RF pulse also aligns the phase of the protons. This RF excitation is applied through transmitter coils within the MR system. The same coils can be used to transmit and receive signals. After the RF excitation pulse is turned off, the spin system begins to return to equilibrium.¹⁰²

1.3.3 Relaxation

To restore the system to equilibrium, the protons in the high energy state must return to the low energy state by releasing energy. When this occurs, the magnitude of the net magnetization of the transverse plane decreases and the longitudinal magnetization is restored to its original value.¹⁰² The process whereby hydrogen nuclei lose energy and

return to equilibrium is called relaxation. The time is takes for the protons to relax is characterized by two time constants called T_1 and T_2 .¹⁰²

The energy that was absorbed by the protons during the RF pulse is dissipated back out to the surrounding tissue (lattice) in a process called longitudinal relaxation, spin-latticerelaxation, or simple T_1 relaxation. The time that it takes for the longitudinal magnetization to recover is described by the longitudinal relaxation time constant T_1 . The T₂ relaxation time constant characterizes how quickly the spins lose phase coherence¹⁰⁴. One mechanism that causes T_2 relaxation is the exchange of energy between spins (spin-spin interaction), which causes the spins behavior. Once the RF pulse is turned off, the protons no longer remain in phase with one another. In tissue, T_2 signal decay typically occurs 5-10 times more rapidly than T_1 recovery¹⁰⁴. T_2^* is another time constant used to describe relaxation (or decay) of the signal in the transverse plane. T_2^* occurs due to local inhomogeneities of the magnetic field in addition to spin-spin interactions. This type of dephasing can be reversed by applying a 180 degree refocusing pulse. The T_2^* time constant is therefore shorter than T_2^{104} . It is often used to produce contrast in tissue in response to changes in local magnetic fields. It is also the main source of contrast used during fMRI studies when local magnetic fields change due to altered deoxyhemoglobin concentration following brain activity and subsequent alterations in perfusion¹⁰⁵.

1.3.4 Contrasts

Different tissue types and pathologies have unique relaxation properties and can therefore be identified by adjusting image parameters. Repetition time (TR) and echo time (TE) can be manipulated to highlight specific image weightings (eg. T₁-weighted, T₂-weighted and proton density (PD) weighted)¹⁰⁴. The TR is defined as the time between two successive RF pulses. Whereas, the TE is the time between the RF pulse and the collection of the MR signal. Tissue differences in the rate of recovery of the longitudinal magnetization (T₁) can be emphasized by using short TR and short TE. Fat appears bright and fluid appears dark on T_1 weighted images. Similarly, differences in the rate of dephasing of the transverse magnetization (T_2) can be emphasized with long TR and long TE. Fat appears darker, while fluid appears bright on T_2 -weighted images. PD-weighted images are acquired with a long TR and short TE, displaying the relative proton concentration in the different tissue types; tissues with higher numbers of protons produce greater (brighter) signal¹⁰⁴.

1.3.5 MRI in CSM and SCI

MRI is the preferred method of diagnosing CSM, as it provides excellent contrast in soft tissues and great anatomical detail of the spinal cord structure. With MRI it is relatively straight forward to determine the severity of spinal cord compression, the presence of cord edema, and intrinsic cord abnormalities by observing changes in signal intensity.^{10,103} Due to ease of visualization of spinal cord structures, variations from healthy spinal cord can be observed and measured for diagnosis and treatment planning. Normal cervical spinal canal diameter (C3-C7) ranges from 17 to 18 mm. "Relative stenosis" is diagnosed when the cervical spinal canal diameter is measured to be less than 13 mm, while "absolute stenosis" is diagnosed at less than 10 mm.^{106,107} Anatomical features that indicate compression of the spine can also be identified on a conventional MRI; the presence of osteophytes, loss of disc height, disc bulging, ligamentum flavum infolding and ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament¹⁰³. In addition to anatomical indicators, MRI will also show signal change in the spinal cord, a characteristic indicative of CSM.^{26,103,108,109} Specifically, hyper-intensities on a T₂ weighted image or hypo-intensities on a T_1 weighted image have been correlated with a poorer prognosis, as it is indicative of irreversible changes in edema and ischemia.^{103,109} With such a high prevalence of use as a prognostic tool in CSM cases, recent studies have found a correlation between these anatomic factors and surgical outcome. Although a recent systematic review reported that there are currently no anatomic features that are associated with outcomes of CSM, ¹⁰³ several studies have shown otherwise.^{26,108} Chibbaro *et al.* conducted a prospective study of 70 CSM patients, concluding that there

was a significant correlation between hyper-intense T_2 signal and hypo-intense T_1 signal with post-operative mJOA scores.¹¹⁰ Conversely, in a group of 101 CSM patients, Nakashima and colleagues determined that there were no significant associations between high T_2 signal intensity and lower limb function as measured by the JOA Cervical Myelopathy Evaluation Questionnaire.¹¹¹ The discrepancy between studies may result from the heterogeneity of this patient population. Although canal size may seem pathological and signal change is present, a patient may be asymptomatic, making these anatomical features difficult biomarkers of recovery. Newer imaging techniques are emerging and have shown promise in predicting surgical outcome and recovery. These techniques will be introduced and discussed in the following sections.

1.4 Functional MRI

Functional MRI is a non-invasive technique used to measure brain activity by detecting changes in the MR signal as a consequence of alterations in local blood flow and oxygenation. The technique uses the blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) contrast as a means to detect local changes in blood oxygenation that have been linked to neurotransmitter release and local neuronal behavior¹¹²

1.4.1 Neurovascular Coupling

Neurovascular coupling refers to the relationship between neural activity, metabolism, and cerebral blood flow. An increase in blood flow occurs in tissues that are active. An increase in blood flow due to increases in neural activity requires a cascade of complex signaling mechanisms that involve neurons, astrocytes and vascular cells and an abundant energy source.¹¹³ Under normal resting conditions, the brain's energy (ATP) demands are met almost exclusively by glucose oxidation, oxidizing glucose to water and CO₂, producing 36 molecules of ATP.¹¹³ Neural activation increases the cerebral metabolic rate of glucose and cerebral blood flow by nearly 50%; however, the cerebral metabolic

rate of oxygen is only increased by 5%.¹¹⁴ This increase in blood flow far exceeds the requirement of oxygen, which leads to a reduction in oxygen extraction and a reduction in the relative concentration of deoxy-hemoglobin, providing the basis for the BOLD signal (Figure 1.9).



Deoxyhemoglobin

Figure 1.9 Blood Flow at rest and during neural activity. During normal blood flow, oxygen is extracted from the hemoglobin at a constant rate. B) During neural activity, the consumption of glucose and oxygen triggers an increase in blood flow, which overcompensates for the amount of oxygen being extracted. A decrease in the relative concentration of deoxyhemoglobin provides the basis or the BOLD signal.

The need for increased blood flow is communicated to the nearby blood vessels through several signaling pathways. Both neurons and astrocytes play a crucial role in releasing vasoactive messengers that alter blood flow by inducing vasoconstriction or vasodilation of the vascular smooth muscle cells.^{105,115} Astrocytes are ideally situated to participate in the coupling between neural activity and blood flow; they outnumber neurons 10:1 and are situated in close proximity to both synapses and capillaries.¹⁰⁵ It has been shown that dilation of arterioles triggered by neural activity is dependent on glutamate-mediated Ca²⁺ fluctuations in astrocytes. ¹⁰⁵ This response is triggered by several vasoactive factors such as nitric oxide (NO), potassium (K⁺) and adenosine. Like astrocytes, neurons also release vasodilatory factors that are regulated by glutamatergic neurotransmission. These include COX-2, nitric oxide (NO), acetylcholine and corticotropin-releasing factor. ¹¹⁶ It is likely that these processes work in conjunction to mediate neurovascular coupling.^{105,112}

1.4.2 Hemoglobin

Hemoglobin is an iron containing protein responsible for transporting oxygen throughout the blood. In 1936 it was discovered that hemoglobin has different magnetic properties that depend on whether or not oxygen is bound.¹¹⁷ Hemoglobin, in its natural state, having no oxygen molecules attached (deoxygenated hemoglobin (dHb)), is paramagnetic. In contrast, when oxygen is bound to hemoglobin (Hb), it undergoes a structural change, making it diamagnetic.¹¹⁷ Therefore, in the presence of a magnetic field such as that produced by an MRI, blood vessels containing oxygenated hemoglobin create little or no distortion to the field within the surrounding tissue, while capillaries or veins containing deoxygenated blood distort the magnetic field. These small magnetic field inhomogeneities surrounding capillaries lead to T_2^* based signal loss.¹¹⁸ As blood flow increases in response to neural activity, the relative amount of deoxyhemoglobin falls, resulting in an increase in T_2^* relaxation rate and corresponding increase in MRI signal intensity relative to the normal resting state.¹¹⁸ The mechanism by which dHb modulates MRI signal intensity is termed the blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) effect.

1.4.3 BOLD Contrast

Ogawa and colleagues were the first to recognize that deoxyhemoglobin in venous blood could act as a naturally occurring contrast agent for MRI. ¹¹⁹ They manipulated blood oxygen levels in rats by adjusting the amount of oxygen and carbon monoxide the rats breathed. ¹¹⁹ When the rodents breathed normal air, there were areas of signal loss that corresponded to blood vessels containing deoxygenated blood. With increased levels of dHb, the blood vessels became more prominent in the T_2 *-weighted MR images. The cause of this contrast can be attributed to a dephasing of the tissue water signal induced by the paramagnetic deoxyhemoglobin in red blood cells. ¹¹⁹ The results showed that dHb decreased the MR signal on T_2 * images compared to Hb and that this endogenous contrast could noninvasively monitor blood oxygenation levels in the brain. ^{105,119}

1.4.4 Hemodynamic Response (HDR) and Signal Generation

Cerebral hemodynamic responses rapidly alter delivery of oxygenated blood to areas of neural activity.^{105,112,113} BOLD contrast is sensitive to changes in cerebral blood flow, cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen, and cerebral blood volume; collectively, this is the basis of the HDR. The predictable effect of these responses on BOLD contrast allows for the design and analysis of imaging experiments that manipulate BOLD contrast.¹¹³

An increase in neural activity leads to increased blood flow to that specific brain region in order to meet oxygen and glucose demands.^{105,120} The onset of the HDR is typically delayed by approximately 2 seconds, reflecting the time required for blood to travel from the arteries to capillaries and draining veins.¹²¹ An initial dip is present, which reflects the delay in the response time of cerebral blood flow relative to oxygen extraction, resulting in a higher proportion of deoxyhemoglobin, thereby reducing the MR signal.^{116,121,122} The signal continues to ramp up, as there is an overcompensation of blood flow relative to oxygen extraction, and reaches a plateau after 6-12 seconds. Once neural activity stops, cerebral oxygen metabolism remains elevated, while cerebral blood flow and blood volume return to baseline. This elevated state of oxygen extraction after cessation of stimulation results in the BOLD signal decreasing below baseline in a phenomenon known as the post stimulus undershoot.¹²² (Figure 1.10)



Figure 1.10 Hemodynamic Response Function. At stimulus onset there is an initial dip where oxygen consumption is increased, resulting in more dHb. As cerebral blood flow and blood volume increase to compensate for increased demand for glucose and oxygen, there is a relative decrease in dHb, resulting in an increased BOLD signal. At stimulus offset, there is a post-stimulus undershoot as cerebral blood volume lags the decrease in oxygen consumption, resulting in increased dHb.

1.4.5 Resting state vs task based fMRI

Task-based activity of the brain can be examined using BOLD contrast in MRI. However even at rest, it has been shown that brain network activity can be monitored using BOLD contrast. Although BOLD contrast is used for signal generation in both task-based and resting state fMRI, the information obtained from these two methods differs. Resting state fMRI (rs-fMRI) measures spontaneous, low frequency fluctuations (<0.1Hz) of the BOLD signal.^{123,124} The functional significance of these fluctuations was first discovered when subjects were asked to remain still and not perform any cognitive, language or motor tasks.¹²⁵ This technique identifies regions of the brain that demonstrate synchronous BOLD fluctuations at rest, known as resting state networks.¹²⁴ The first network to be observed, and the focus of a large body of research is the sensorimotor network, which encompasses the bilateral primary motor cortex, (M1) supplementary motor area (SMA) and premotor cortex (PMC). Fluctuations in resting BOLD signal between brain regions, which are temporally correlated, are thought to reflect functional connectivity of the underlying neurons. Another prominent network, the default mode network (DMN), was identified by Greicius et al. using fMRI and has since been the target of numerous studies.¹²⁶ Analysis of rs-fMRI data allows one to determine the relationship between two or more regions of the brain and identify spatially distinct resting state networks. Brain regions that show temporally correlated fluctuations in signal are considered to be functionally connected.¹²⁷ Studies have shown that resting state networks can be highly reliable both across imaging sessions and across different subjects.128

Conversely, task-based fMRI allows the detection of brain regions that are active due to the execution of a certain task (cognitive, verbal, motor, etc.). The experiment usually involves the execution of a behavioural task for a set amount of time, intermingled with periods of rest. The time series is then compared against a hypothesized model of neural function based on the task performed and the HDR. The functional map acquired identifies the difference between the functional activity at rest compared to the task.¹²⁹

1.4.6 fMRI in CSM and SCI

fMRI is frequently used in clinical populations to identify differences in activation between two groups, or to monitor treatment/ intervention effects in a single cohort. Cortical reorganization, in response to axonal loss or neuronal injury has been shown to occur as a compensatory mechanism to preserve function.^{34,35} fMRI is a valuable tool to track this reorganization in individuals with CSM and spinal cord compression.³⁴⁻³⁶ Duggal *et al.* illustrated that reversible spinal cord compression leads to an increased activated volume within M1 in comparison to controls.³⁴ Surgical decompression results in cortical reorganization that is also accompanied by a significant return of clinical function.³⁴ Previous work from our lab has shown difference in activation patterns between mild and moderate CSM. Individuals with mild CSM demonstrated increased volume of activation of primary motor cortex compared to moderate; six months after surgery, activation patterns between the two groups were comparable.¹³⁰ In addition, Dong et al. demonstrated altered sensorimotor recruitment patterns during wrist and finger movements in 8 CSM patients; following spinal decompression, these patients regained motor and sensory function and demonstrated cortical maps similar to that of healthy controls.¹³¹ The exact mechanism by which cortical reorganization occurs is not completely understood. There may be one or more processes that lead to the plasticity observed. Two possible explanations have been widely accepted. First is the modulation of preexisting connections, or the sprouting of new axonal connections.^{35,132-134} For example, the dense network of horizontal connections within the primary motor cortex are not homogeneously distributed within M1. Plasticity of the motor system after injury may involve the modulation of these horizontal connections. Collateral sprouting from undamaged neurons may preserve function by taking on the role of injured neuronal pools.¹³⁵ The second proposed mechanism that leads to plasticity after spinal cord injury is a disruption in the inhibitory—excitatory balance, which produces a decrease in synaptic inhibition. The disruption of inhibitory influence has been shown to facilitate cortical reorganization through axonal sprouting.¹³⁵

Although the majority of research has focused on the reorganization of the primary sensorimotor cortex, adjacent, non-primary motor areas should also be considered. The SMA, in particular, has enhanced activation following cortical injury to assist in maintenance and recovery of function.^{16,50,136-139} This has been extensively observed in the stroke literature. Specifically, Calautti *et al.* performed a review of motor recovery after stroke and observed that recovery of motor control evolved from the unmasking of previously silent synapses, as well as an enhanced input of SMA and premotor cortex.¹³⁸ Furthermore, Holly *et al.* demonstrated an expansion of the cortical representation of the affected extremity, in CSM patients, to include neighboring motor areas such as the SMA.³⁶ Together, this may suggest a role for functional brain imaging as a potential biomarker for recovery in patients with spinal cord compression, and that the non-primary motor areas should be examined as an important contributor to functional recovery

1.5 Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy

Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) is a specialized technique associated with MRI that is used to study average metabolite tissue concentration changes in the brain.^{140,141} This is in contrast to micro dialysis, which is used to commonly measure synaptic metabolite levels.¹⁴² An MR spectrum can be obtained using any nucleus with a magnetic moment such as phosphorus (³¹P), fluorine (¹⁹F), carbon (¹³C), sodium (²³Na) and hydrogen (¹H). The most commonly used nucleus is the proton (¹H) due to its high sensitivity and abundance in the body. Only those molecules that are freely mobile and present in relatively high concentrations (> 1 mM) can be observed by this technique.¹⁴¹ MRS is a valuable tool to non-invasively study the pathologies of a variety of neurological disorders such as stroke, tumors, and spinal cord injury.^{140,143,144} The MRS spectrum contains a number of peaks at different frequencies representing protons from

different metabolites. The concentration of the metabolite can be related to the signal intensity of its spectrum.^{140,141,143}

1.5.1 Chemical Shift and J-Coupling

The chemical shift of the ¹H nucleus within a molecule determines the position of the peak in the spectrum. As described earlier, when placed in a magnetic field, the hydrogen nucleus precesses at a specific frequency determined by the Larmor equation.¹⁴¹ However, the electron cloud surrounding the hydrogen nuclei causes small modulations of the main magnetic field, reducing the magnetic field experienced by the hydrogen nucleus.¹⁴¹ The greater the density of the electron cloud, the more the proton is shielded from the main magnetic field, further reducing the associated Larmor frequency¹⁴⁶. This results in slightly different resonant frequencies for protons in different molecules and even for protons in the same molecule but at different positions. These frequency shifts are known as the chemical shift and are expressed in parts per million (ppm).¹⁴¹ The chemical shift is dependent on the strength of the magnetic field; therefore, an advantage of using high magnetic field strength is the distance between peaks in a spectrum (chemical shift dispersion) increases and allows for more accurate quantification of metabolite concentration.¹⁴⁷

Another consequence of the chemical structure of a molecule is known as J coupling. J coupling results from the indirect interaction of two nuclear spins within the same molecule through their chemical bonds. J-coupling strength is measured in Hertz (Hz) and is independent of the main magnetic field strength $(B_0)^{146}$. The result of these spin interactions is the splitting of single peaks into doubles, triplets or multiplets.¹⁴⁸ If a hydrogen nucleus is coupled to more than one other nucleus then triplets, quartets, and more complicated multiplets can be formed. The most prominent example of spectral splitting is that of the lactate peak, which presents as a doublet at 1.3 ppm¹⁴⁶.

1.5.2 Data Acquisition

The MRS spectra are usually acquired from a small, localized region of interest in the brain called a voxel. Once the voxel is placed over the area of interest, saturation bands are placed around the boundaries of the voxel to reduce unwanted signal from outside the volume of interest. Localization of the signal is achieved by exciting three orthogonal slices, at which the intersection is the volume of interest. Although increasing field strength comes with many advantages, one of the main disadvantages is the increased prevalence of non-uniform RF excitation fields¹⁴⁶. Since excitation field uniformity is extremely important in MRS, the work described in this thesis used a semi localized by adiabatic selective refocusing (semi-LASER) pulse sequence. The semi-LASER sequence consists of a non-adiabatic 90° slice-selective pulse and two pairs of adiabatic hyperbolic secant pulses for refocusing.^{149,150} The pairs of adiabatic pulses produce excellent slice profiles even under conditions of non-uniform RF excitation.

Approximately 80% of the brain is composed of water. As such, the water signal is much greater than that of other metabolites. Typically the water signal is suppressed in MRS acquisitions to increase the visibility of the smaller metabolite signals. There are a variety of water suppression techniques; however, the current work used the VAPOR water suppression method, which uses 8 narrow bandwidth presaturation pulses followed by signal crusher gradients to reduce the water signal.

1.5.3 The ¹H Spectrum

The in-vivo ¹H spectrum contains several distinctive frequencies that correspond to multiple metabolites. The spectrum is obtained by Fourier transformation of the acquired time domain signal (Figure 1.11). The frequency (chemical shift) of the metabolites is plotted along the x-axis and referenced to a standard, which is commonly sodium 3-trimethylsilyl-propionic acid (TSP) set to 0 ppm¹⁴⁶. The most prominent peak is centred

at 2.02 ppm from *N*-aceytlaspartate (NAA). The area under each peak is proportional to the metabolite concentration.¹⁴¹



Normal for the form of the second state of the

Figure 1.11 A typical semi-LASER spectrum (TE=60 ms) acquired from 7T. The x-axis represents the frequency or chemical shift measured in ppm and the amplitude of the peak is on the y-axis. Each peak represents a metabolite. The area under the peak is calculated to determine the concentration of the metabolite within the voxel.

1.5.4 Advantages of High-Field and Ultra High-Field MRS

There are many advantages of increasing the main magnetic field to high or ultra-high field strengths (3T, 7T respectively). Primarily, with increased magnetic field there is an increased signal to noise ratio (SNR). This allows for the detection of very minute changes in metabolite concentration in both healthy and neurologically injured populations. An increased SNR also allows for shorter acquisition times, which is important in clinical applications, or a decreased voxel size, which reduces partial volume effects. When moving from 3T to 7T, the spectral resolution is also increased. This

effectively stretches the spectrum along the chemical shift axis and allows for easier discrimination of individual peaks (reduced spectral overlap). These advantages combine to increase metabolite concentration measurement precision.^{151,152} It is also important to note some of the disadvantages of higher field MRS, particularly an increase in the chemical shift artefact and an increase in magnetic field inhomogeneity. Chemical shift artefacts can be reduced by increasing the bandwidth of the RF pulses.^{153,154}

1.5.5 Select Metabolites Involved in Neurotransmission

1.5.5.1 *N*-Acetylaspartate

N-Acetylaspartate (NAA) is one of the most abundant and highly concentrated metabolites in the brain, with an average concentration of 9.2 mmol/g. ^{140,155} Its spectrum is composed of a large single peak centred at 2.02 ppm on the chemical shift spectrum, and a multiplet in the region between 2.3-2.6 ppm. NAA is synthesized in neuronal mitochondria, then transported into neuronal cytoplasm along axons and broken down in oligodendrocytes; it is found in higher concentrations in cerebral grey matter than white matter.^{140,156} MRS has been shown to be sensitive enough to detect changes in NAA levels in a number of neurological disorders and conditions. A number of these studies have observed a decrease in NAA concentration after injury or damage to the brain.¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁵⁸ These decreases in NAA concentration were hypothesized to represent irreversible neuronal damage and loss; however, recent evidence suggests that these decreases may be transient and indicate reversible neuronal or mitochondrial dysfunction¹⁴⁵. One important opposition to this hypothesis is Canavan disease, in which NAA concentration increases due to the lack of the NAA catabolic enzyme. ¹⁶⁰ NAA is also a direct precursor for the synthesis of NAAG, a neuronal peptide that acts through presynaptic glutamate receptors to modulate the release of neurotransmitters.¹⁶¹ In summary, MRS measurements of NAA in-vivo provide an invaluable tool for observing and quantifying neurological function and disease.

1.5.5.2 Creatine

The creatine signal of an MRS spectrum is composed of both creatine and phosphocreatine compounds, having resonances at both 3.03 ppm and 3.91 ppm. ^{140,145,162} Creatine's most featured role is that of cellular metabolism and bioenergetics. Although present throughout the brain, there are higher levels in grey matter (glial cells) than white matter (neurons).¹⁶² In the brain, there is a large tissue energy demand, especially in areas of functional activity. Creatine is therefore an important energy source for maintaining membrane potential, ion gradients, neurotransmission and intracellular behavior.^{145,163} Recently, it has been suggested that creatine can act as a co-transmitter or neuromodulator in the CNS, and is therefore important to consider when discussing neurotransmission.¹⁶³ Creatine is released from the neuron in a similar manner as neurotransmitters, that is, in an action potential dependent manner. Once released, creatine modulates the activity of post synaptic receptors such as GABA.¹⁴⁵ A recent study by Rango et al. observed a transient decrease in PCr levels after functional activation, indicating the usage of creatine stores.¹⁶³ This has important implications for spectroscopy analysis. Creatine is often used as an internal reference for analysis of metabolite ratios; however, caution must be taken when doing so to ensure that creatine is stable.^{140,162,165} Calculating a metabolites concentration in terms of ratios have many advantages. Tissue partial volume and tissue relaxation time constants are not taken into consideration, therefore errors in representing these are discounted.¹⁴⁸ In addition, ratios can provide a more sensitive measure in detecting changes when the numerator and denominator are acting in opposition (one increases and the other decreases).

1.5.5.3 Glutamate and gamma-Aminobutryic acid (GABA)

Glutamate is the most abundant excitatory neurotransmitter in the human brain and thus very important to consider when discussing neurotransmission. Although glutamate is present in the brain in relatively high concentrations (12 mmol), it is often a difficult metabolite to quantify because of its overlapping resonances with glutamine, GABA and NAA.^{140,145} Glu and Gln have overlapping peaks centered at 2.05 and 2.50 ppm, respectively. Because of their similar chemical structure and metabolic role, glutamate and glutamine are often analyzed and discussed as a single entity (Glx).^{140,166} Using ultra high field MRS (7T), the overlap between the glu and gln decreases and quantification of each separate metabolite is possible. Glutamine, stored in glial cells, is the precursor to both glutamate and GABA. Glutamine is released from astrocytes and converted to glutamate in neurons by a neuron-specific enzyme, phosphate-activated glutaminase.¹⁴⁵ Once released from the neuron, glutamate binds to post-synaptic receptors to induce activation; it is then subsequently removed by adjoining cells and converted back into glutamine in the astrocyte.¹⁴⁵ Glutamate has a high intracellular concentration and low extracellular concentration.

In contrast, GABA is the major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain, but present in much smaller concentrations (1 mM intracellularly and 2 μ M extracellularly). The MR spectrum of GABA consists of three sets of multiplets, which correspond to the three methylene (CH₂) groups in the molecule.¹⁴⁴ The spectral splitting of these resonances results in a lower peak intensity and wider footprint along the chemical shift axis. Because of this, it is dominated by the NAA, Cr, Glu and Gln peaks, making quantification difficult.¹⁴⁵ Similar to the dispersion of glutamate and glutamine, increasing the magnetic field strength will allow for an increased spread of spectral resonances and therefore less overlap between GABA and the surrounding metabolites. The GABAergic system is involved in a variety of physiological processes in the CNS such as pain, sleep, motor control and anxiety and it is therefore a very important aspect when discussing neurotransmission.¹⁴⁵

1.6 tDCS and fMRI

With the use of fMRI, we are able to observe both the online and offline functional changes that occur due to the application of tDCS. This allows a deeper level of knowledge into the mechanism behind the behavioural changes that have been observed and which brain areas are functionally affected by the stimulation. These effects can be observed either at rest, with resting state fMRI, or in combination with a task.

In combination with a serial reaction time task, Stagg *et al.* observed an increase in motor-related activity in the stimulated M1 after 1 mA of cathodal stimulation.⁴³ Furthermore, cathodal stimulation caused an increase in the activation of M1 and premotor cortex in the hemisphere contralateral to stimulation. On the contrary, anodal stimulation increased the activation in M1, SMA and premotor cortex on the stimulated hemisphere.⁴³ The use of fMRI allows for the visualization of the effects on cortical excitation and connectivity between the two tDCS montages (uni vs bihemispheric). By modelling current distribution we are able to visualize the flow of current and local hot spots; ^{55,122} however, with fMRI, a direct relationship between current and local and distant cortical excitation can be inferred. Lindenberg performed a study comparing the effects of bihemispheric M1 to the conventional unhemispheric approach in both task based and resting state fMRI study.¹⁶⁷ Stronger task-related activity was observed in bilateral M1 during bihemispheric compared with unihemipsheric tDCS. This observation was repeated by Waters et al. They observed a greater activation in bilateral S1 and M1 after bihemispheric tDCS. ⁷³ Interestingly, they found a similar increase in motor learning and BOLD activation regardless of whether the anode was on the left M1 and cathode on right M1 or vice versa. This not only points towards an enhancement of motor performance and cortical activity regardless of electrode polarity, but also an active role of the ipsilateral cortex in motor control.⁷³ Similarly, Sehm *et al.* observed a difference in cortical activity through resting state fMRI between unihemipsheric and bihemispheric tDCS of M1.¹⁶⁸ Using 1 mA of current for 20 minutes, they observed specific spatial and temporal activity that differed between the two montages. During

stimulation, only bihemispheric tDCS increased activity of M1 (under the anode) and secondary motor areas such as premotor cortex and SMA. In contrast, unihemipheric tDCS increased functional activity of the cerebellum, both during and after the stimulation period.¹⁶⁸

Generally, anodal tDCS to M1 has led to increase functional connectivity not only within M1, but also between M1 and motor network regions such as thalamus and SMA.^{62,169} Furthermore, cathodal tDCS to M1 has also shown modulatory effects of functional connectivity. Amadi *et al.* observed increased interhemispheric connectivity between bilateral M1 hand regions and bilateral SMA following cathodal tDCS. In addition, he observed an increase in the overall strength of the default mode network following cathodal tDCS.⁶⁰

An important area that has shown strengthened connectivity with M1 and/or increased cortical activity throughout a large majority of the literature is the SMA. Previous work has shown that the SMA is an important mediator of M1 activity.¹⁷⁰ Amadi *et al.* demonstrated that 1 mA of cathodal tDCS to M1 enhanced the activity of bilateral SMA.⁶⁰ In the first concurrent tDCS, rs-fMRI study, Kwon *et al.* observed increased cortical activity in left M1 and left SMA following anodal tDCS to left M1.¹⁷¹ tDCS over M1 has shown whole brain effects that extend further than the target area⁶². This promotes the strengthening of not only task related synaptic connections, allowing for enhanced motor performance, but also a strengthening in the functional connectivity in resting state networks, most importantly the coupling between SMA and M1.¹³

1.7 tDCS and MRS

An alternate modality to observe the physiological mechanism of induced plasticity by tDCS is through MRS. With MRS the metabolic pathways involved in tDCS modulation can be quantified during and after the stimulation period. The most commonly measured

metabolites are GABA and Glutamate (or Glx, a combination of glutamate and glutamine), as they have been shown to play a role in human motor learning.^{172,173} With the simplistic description of anodal stimulation being excitatory and cathodal being inhibitory, it has been extrapolated that anodal stimulation should decrease while cathodal stimulation will increase GABA concentration.^{57,174,175} However, recent studies have shown conflicting results. Stagg et al. observed a significant decrease in GABA concentration in M1 following 1 mA of anodal stimulation; however, GABA concentration also decreased with cathodal stimulation. Furthermore, cathodal stimulation also decreased glutamate concentration; a strong correlation between the decrease in Glutamate and GABA has been observed.⁴⁴ Alterations of glutamate by tDCS can also be observed in other brain regions. Clark et al. observed a significant increase in Glx concentration of the right parietal cortex after 2 mA of anodal tDCS. In addition, he also reported a significant increase in tNAA under the stimulating electrode.¹⁷⁶ Finally, reduced GABA concentration has been observed after 1.5 mA of anodal tDCS to M1 at 7T; however, in this study, no other metabolite changes were observed.¹⁷⁶ The mechanism linking the metabolic changes observed across studies become challenging, as different current intensities and durations are used. However there are some commonalities in explaining the changes observed. Excitatory stimulation (anodal) increases neuronal firing rate, resulting in increased neuronal transmission and a subsequent increase in the rate of glutamate synthesis. Enhanced cortical activity following anodal stimulation may be largely mediated by a reduction in GABAergic inhibition.^{174,178} Similarly, the inhibitory effects of cathodal tDCS may be largely mediated by a reduction in glutamate synthesis and neurotransmission.⁴⁴

To elucidate the physiological mechanism further, previous studies have combined imaging modalities and motor performance in attempt to make correlations and draw further mechanistic conclusions. Bachtier demonstrated that at rest, before application of tDCS, GABA concentration was correlated with the strength of the motor network. However, although a reduction in GABA concentration and increased functional connectivity was observed with anodal tDCS to M1 following stimulation, these changes were not correlated.¹⁷⁴ This provides novel evidence that the mechanism of these two process may not be as interconnected as once thought.¹⁷⁴ In relation to motor learning, tDCS induced reductions in GABA concentration are highly correlated with both motor learning and motor memory and fMRI BOLD activity.^{177,178} Kim *et al.* showed that individuals who demonstrated large reductions of GABA concentration after anodal tDCS performed better on a force adaption task and demonstrated improved motor memory.¹⁷⁷ Together, this supports the notion that functional plasticity measured with fMRI reflects GABAergic modulation. A reduction in GABA in M1 has also been observed after motor learning in the absence of tDCS.¹⁷⁹ Although previous studies have shown anodal tDCS can alter cortical activity and GABA concentration, it is perhaps driven by separate underlying mechanisms in the resting brain. In the absence of task related activity, tDCS provides sub-threshold modulation that may bring a neuron closer to firing, thereby increasing the firing rate. Although GABA is found in high concentrations in presynaptic vesicles, it also accumulates extracellularly to produce GABAergic tone, or sustained inhibitory response.¹⁸⁰ Evidence from animal studies has shown the MRS GABA signal is primarily from extra synaptic GABA rather than presynaptic GABA, ¹⁸¹ as the latter may be less visible to MRS as it is bound by macromolecules. Additionally, animal studies have demonstrated that a reduction in GABAergic tone is essential for LTP-like plasticity within the motor cortex¹⁸¹. Since tDCS acts to enhance motor learning and memory through an LTP-like manner, and this process does not occur in the resting brain, it is only through the combination of tDCS and a motor task that the correlation in BOLD activity and GABA concentration share a similar mechanism.

1.8 Clinical Implications

The translation of tDCS to clinical applications has been endless. Due to its low cost, enhanced portability and user-friendly nature, tDCS has been used primarily to augment traditional treatments, whether that be behavioural or medical. Furthermore, tDCS has little to no primary side effects. The use of this tool has been used to improve impulse control in Alzheimer's disease, enhance memory in Parkinson's disease, reduce negative thoughts in psychological disorders such as Schizophrenia, and elevate mood in depression.¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁵ Recently, tDCS has been used in conjunction with traditional rehabilitation strategies to enhance motor performance after stroke and spinal cord injury. This section will focus on clinical applications of tDCS as it relates to motor performance.

Both electrode montages have been shown to enhance motor performance after stroke.^{167,186,187} Although the majority of clinical applications in spinal cord injury involving tDCS have targeted central and neuropathic pain, few have examined the beneficial effects on motor rehabilitation. Combining tDCS with both upper and lower motor training has shown beneficial effects. Raithatha *et al.* observed improvement in lower extremity motor function when tDCS was combined with multiple sessions of robot assisted gait training, ¹⁸⁸ while Cortes *et al.* demonstrated improvement in hand motor function after a single training session with tDCS.⁴² Finally, Potter-Baker *et al.* conducted a pilot study combining tDCS and motor rehabilitation for 2 hrs, 5 times a week for two weeks and assessed functional outcomes immediately and three months following the intervention.¹⁸⁹ Combined tDCS rehabilitation increased strength in proximal and hand muscles immediately following intervention, and these gains persisted three months following intervention.¹⁸⁹ These positive results indicate the need for further investigation into the appropriate dosage of tDCS combined rehabilitation and implementing it into standard clinical practice.

1.9 Limitations of tDCS

The limitations surrounding tDCS result from a lack of a standardized approach to motor or cognitive enhancement, which largely stems from the fact that the exact mechanism of action has yet to be elucidated. There is currently no method to measure the dose of tDCS. With the dosage dependent on so many variables, it is difficult to draw parallels between studies. Factors that influence tDCS dosage and effects are current intensity, electrode size, current duration, and total number of sessions.⁹³ Recent literature has
observed current density to be a good predictor of tDCS efficacy; however, this is dependent on current intensity and electrode size. Small changes in either of the two parameters alters current density, as well as current flow and distribution.^{55,69,76,122}

A second limitation is the applicability of positive results from healthy individuals to a clinical population. When current is injected into an unhealthy or damaged brain, does this alter current distribution, flow and overall efficacy? For example, working memory has shown enhancement with 1 mA of tDCS in healthy individuals; ¹⁹⁰ however, the same result was observed only after 2 mA of tDCS in individuals with Parksinon's disease.¹⁸² Similar challenges have been observed in older populations. When tDCS was applied over the DLFPC, young adults demonstrated a decrease in risk behavior, ¹⁹⁰ while older adults showed the opposite effect.¹⁸³ These studies highlight the challenges associated with translating tDCS to a clinical population.

Finally, there is a large inter-individual variability in both the effects of MEP and behavioural response to tDCS, ⁷⁶ leading to difficulty identifying significant behavioural changes associated with tDCS, further increasing the variability in the literature. Determining why there is such a large variability between individuals would help to stratify results and potentially lead to greater interpretability of tDCS research.

1.10 Goals and Hypothesis

CSM is a highly prevalent and devastating disorder where the spinal cord is compressed, disrupting motor and sensory function. Although a great deal of research has been conducted to characterize this disorder and identify biomarkers for surgical and functional success, a rehabilitation strategy for both surgical and non-surgical patients has been largely ignored.

The overarching goal of this research is to develop a rehabilitation strategy involving the use of tDCS to enhance motor function, particularly hand function, in patients with CSM. Very few studies have examined the combined effects of tDCS and spinal cord injury rehabilitation. As a prerequisite to successfully applying tDCS in CSM to promote hand function, it is necessary to better understand the role of tDCS in enhancing hand function, and to examine the short term effects of tDCS on the brain. Therefore the overall goals of this thesis were to identify motor network reorganization that is correlated with recovery of function in CSM patients, and then design a tDCS paradigm that specifically enhances these cortical regions to promote enhanced recovery of hand function. Due to the novel electrode montage chosen in the current thesis, several studies on healthy individuals were done to better understand the mechanism of tDCS.

Chapter 1 one of this thesis provides an extensive literature review of cervical myelopathy, available treatment strategies and pitfalls. Furthermore, an introduction to tDCS, the controversies behind its mechanism and how its application can modulate cortical activity and human behavior is discussed.

Chapter 2 of this thesis describes the cortical reorganization that occurs in patients with CSM before and after surgical decompression of the spinal cord. Functional MRI was used to compare brain activity during a hand motor task in patients with CSM and healthy controls. Currently, the gold standard of treatment of CSM is surgical decompression of the spine; however, only approximately 35% of individuals will see neurological improvements following surgery. We hypothesize that by longitudinally examining the functional reorganization of the brain following surgery we will find direct evidence of cortical recruitment and reorganization in response to injury.

Chapter 3 describes the use of bihemispheric tDCS to enhance motor performance and consolidation in healthy older adults. A single and tri session protocol was used to determine if bihemispheric tDCS to bilateral motor areas will enhance motor dexterity.

We hypothesize that tDCS will enhance motor dexterity, preferentially using a tri session protocol compared to sham and single session due to enhanced cortical spinal activity.

Chapter 4 of this thesis sought to determine whether bihemispheric tDCS produced acute metabolite changes in the primary motor cortex in healthy individuals measured using 7 Tesla MR spectroscopy. We hypothesize that tDCS can alter metabolite concentration, specifically that of glutamate and creatine when measured immediately following 20 minutes of tDCS.

Finally, chapter 5 of this thesis extends previous literature, to determine whether bihemispheric tDCS can induce cortical modulations in resting state functional connectivity of the motor network measured using 7 Tesla resting-state fMRI. We hypothesize that tDCS will enhance the functional connectivity of the motor network both during and following tDCS.

1.11 References

- 1 Toledano, M. & Bartleson, J. D. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Neurologic clinics* **31**, 287-305, doi:10.1016/j.ncl.2012.09.003 (2013).
- 2 Bakhsheshian, J., Mehta, V. A. & Liu, J. C. Current diagnosis and management of cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Global Spine Journal* **7**,572-586 (2017)
- Edwards, C. C., 2nd, Riew, K. D., Anderson, P. A., Hilibrand, A. S. & Vaccaro,
 A. F. Cervical myelopathy. current diagnostic and treatment strategies. *The spine journal : official journal of the North American Spine Society* 3, 68-81 (2003).
- 4 Kalsi-Ryan, S., Karadimas, S. K. & Fehlings, M. G. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: The clinical phenomenon and the current pathobiology of an increasingly prevalent and devastating disorder. *Neuroscientist* 19, 409-421 (2013).
- 5 Wilson, J. R. *et al.* Diagnosis, heritability and outcome assessment in cervical myelopathy: A consensus statement. *Spine* (2013).
- 6 Young, W. F. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: a common cause of spinal cord dysfunction in older persons. *American family physician* **62**, 1064-1070, 1073 (2000).
- Fehlings, M. G. & Skaf, G. A review of the pathophysiology of cervical spondylotic myelopathy with insights for potential novel mechanisms drawn from traumatic spinal cord injury. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* 23, 2730-2737 (1998).
- 8 Kato, S. & Fehlings, M. Degenerative cervical myelopathy. *Current reviews in musculoskeletal medicine* **9**, 263-271, doi:10.1007/s12178-016-9348-5 (2016).
- Baptiste, D. C. & Fehlings, M. G. Pathophysiology of cervical myelopathy. *The spine journal : official journal of the North American Spine Society* 6, 190s-197s, doi:10.1016/j.spinee.2006.04.024 (2006).
- Lebl, D. R., Hughes, A., Cammisa, F. P. & O'Leary, P. F.Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: pathrophysiology, clinical presentation and magement. *HSS Journal* 7, 170-178 (2011).

- Marieb, E., Mallatt, J., Wilhelm, P. Human anatomy & physiology /Boston : Pearson (2012).
- 12 Dum, R. P. & Strick, P. L. The origin of corticospinal projections from the premotor areas in the frontal lobe. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **11**, 667-689 (1991).
- 13 Arai, N., Lu, M.-K., Ugawa, Y. & Ziemann, U. Effective connectivity between human supplementary motor area and primary motor cortex: a paired colied TMS study. *Experimental Brain Research.* 220, 79-87 (2012).
- Bestmann, S., Baudewig, J., Siebner, H. R., Rothwell, J. C. & Frahm, J.
 Functional MRI of the immediate impact of transcranial magnetic stimulation on cortical and subcortical motor circuits. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 19, 1950-1962, doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03277.x (2004).
- 15 Grefkes, C., Eickhoff, S. B., Nowak, D. A., Dafotakis, M. & Fink, G. R. Dynamic intra- and interhemispheric interactions during unilateral and bilateral hand movements assessed with fMRI and DCM. *Neuroimage* 41, 1382-1394, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.03.048 (2008).
- Rao, S. M. *et al.* Functional magnetic resonance imaging of complex human movements. *Neurology* 43, 2311-2318 (1993).
- Vergani, F. *et al.* White matter connections of the supplementary motor area in humans. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry* 85, 1377-1385, doi:10.1136/jnnp-2013-307492 (2014).
- 18 Kalsi-Ryan, S., Karadimas, S. K. & Fehlings, M. G. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: the clinical phenomenon and the current pathobiology of an increasingly prevalent and devastating disorder. *Neuroscientist* 19, 409-421, doi:10.1177/1073858412467377 (2013).
- 19 Martin, A. R. *et al.* Imaging Evaluation of Degenerative Cervical Myelopathy: Current State of the Art and Future Directions. *Neurosurgery clinics of North America* 29, 33-45, doi:10.1016/j.nec.2017.09.003 (2018).
- de Oliveira Vilaça, C. *et al.* Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy: What the
 Neurologist Should Know. *Neurology International* 8, doi:10.4081/ni.2016.6330
 (2016).

- 21 Kato, S. Kato, S., & M, Fehlings. Degenerative cervical myelopathy. *Current Reviews in Musculoskeltal Medicine*. **9**, 268-271. (2015).
- 22 Revanappa, K. K. & Rajshekhar, V. Comparison of Nurick grading system and modified Japanese Orthopaedic Association scoring system in evaluation of patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *European spine journal : official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society* **20**, 1545-1551, doi:10.1007/s00586-011-1773-y (2011).
- 23 Tetreault, L. *et al.* Significant Predictors of Outcome Following Surgery for the Treatment of Degenerative Cervical Myelopathy: A Systematic Review of the Literature. *Neurosurgery clinics of North America* 29, 115-127.e135, doi:10.1016/j.nec.2017.09.020 (2018).
- Vernon, H. & Mior, S. The Neck Disability Index: a study of reliability and validity. *Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics* 14, 409-415 (1991).
- 25 Ghogawala, Z., Benzel, E. C., Riew, K. D., Bisson, E. F. & Heary, R. F. Surgery versus conservative care for cervical spondylotic mylelopathy: surgery is approporiate for progressive myelopathy. *Neurosurgery*.62, 56-61(2015)
- 26 Oshima, Y. *et al.* Natural course and prognostic factors in patients with mild cervical spondylotic myelopathy with increased signal intensity on T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* **37**, 1909-1913, doi:10.1097/BRS.0b013e318259a65b (2012).
- Kadaňka, Z., Bednařík, J., Novotný, O., Urbánek, I. & Dušek, L. ervical spondylotic myelopathy: conservative versus surgical treatment after 10 years. *The Spine Journal.* 11, 677-680 (2011).
- 28 Alafifi, T., Kern, R. & Fehlings, M. Clinical and MRI predictors of outcome after surgical intervention for cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Journal of Neuroimaging* 17, 315-322 (2007).
- 29 Fehlings, M. G. *et al.* A global perspective on the outcomes of surgical decompression in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy: results from the

prospective multicentre AOSpine international study on 479 patients. *Spine*. **40**, 1322-1328 (2015)

- 30 Freund, P. *et al.* Disability, atrophy and cortical reorganization following spinal cord injury. *Brain*.**134**, 1610-1622 (2011)
- 31 Hains, B. C., Black, J. A. & Waxman, S. G. Primary cortical motor neurons undergo apoptosis after axotomizing spinal cord injury. *The Journal of comparative neurology* 462, 328-341, doi:10.1002/cne.10733 (2003).
- Bruehlmeier, M. *et al.* How does the human brain deal with a spinal cord injury?
 European Journal of Neuroscience 10, 3918-3922, doi:10.1046/j.1460 9568.1998.00454.x (1998).
- 33 Cramer, S. C., Lastra, L., Lacourse, M. G. & Cohen, M. J. Brain motor system function after chronic, complete spinal cord injury. *Brain* 128, 2941-2950, doi:10.1093/brain/awh648 (2005).
- 34 Duggal, N. *et al.* Brain reorganization in patients with spinal cord compression evaluated using fMRI. *Neurology* **74**, 1048-1054 (2010).
- Raineteau, O. & Schwab, M. E. Plasticity of motor systems after incomplete spinal cord injury. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 2, 263-273, doi:10.1038/35067570 (2001).
- Holly, L. T., Dong, Y., Albistegui-DuBois, R., Marehbian, J. & Dobkin, B.
 Cortical reorganization in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Journal* of Neurosurgery: Spine 6, 544-551 (2007).
- Jurkiewicz, M. T., Mikulis, D. J., McIlroy, W. E., Fehlings, M. G. & Verrier, M.
 C. Sensorimotor cortical plasticity during recovery following spinal cord injury:
 A longitudinal fMRI study. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair* 21, 527-538 (2007).
- 38 Fregni, F. *et al.* Clinical effects and brain metabolic correlates in non-invasive cortical neuromodulation for visceral pain. *European journal of pain (London, England)* 15, 53-60, doi:10.1016/j.ejpain.2010.08.002 (2011).
- Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Transcranial direct current stimulation--update 2011.
 Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience 29, 463-492, doi:10.3233/rnn-2011-0618 (2011).

- Rothwell, J. C. Clinical Applications of Noninvasive Electrical Stimulation:
 Problems and Potential. *Clinical EEG and Neuroscience* 43, 209-214 (2012).
- Tazoe, T. & Perez, M. A. Effects of Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation on Recovery of Function After Spinal Cord Injury. *Noninvasive Brain Stimulation in Neurorehabilitation* 96, S145-S155, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2014.07.418 (2015).
- 42 Cortes, M. *et al.* Improved grasp function with transcranial direct current stimulation in chronic spinal cord injury. *NeuroRehabilitation* **41**, 51-59, doi:10.3233/nre-171456 (2017).
- Stagg, C. J. *et al.* Modulation of movement-associated cortical activation by transcranial direct current stimulation. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 30, 1412-1423, doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06937.x (2009).
- 44 Stagg, C. J. *et al.* Polarity-sensitive modulation of cortical neurotransmitters by transcranial stimulation. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **29**, 5202-5206, doi:10.1523/jneurosci.4432-08.2009 (2009).
- 45 Stagg, C. J. & Nitsche, M. A. Physiological basis of transcranial direct current stimulation. *Neuroscientist* **17**, 37-53, doi:10.1177/1073858410386614 (2011).
- Stagg, C. J. *et al.* Polarity and timing-dependent effects of transcranial direct current stimulation in explicit motor learning. *Neuropsychologia* 49, 800-804, doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.02.009 (2011).
- 47 Stagg, Charlotte J., Bachtiar, V. & Johansen-Berg, H. The role of GABA in human motor learning. *Current Biology*. **22**, 480-484, (2011).
- Thomas, R. K. & Young, C. D. A note on the early history of electrical stimulation of the human brain. *The Journal of general psychology* 120, 73-81, doi:10.1080/00221309.1993.9917863 (1993).
- 49 Endler, N. S. The Origins of Electroconvulsive Therapy (ECT). *Convulsive therapy* **4**, 5-23 (1988).
- 50 Di Pino, G. *et al.* Modulation of brain plasticity in stroke: a novel model for neurorehabilitation. *Nature reviews. Neurology* 10, 597-608, doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2014.162 (2014).

- 51 Rahman, A. *et al.* Cellular effects of acute direct current stimulation: Somatic and synaptic terminal effects. *Journal of Physiology* **591**, 2563-2578 (2013).
- 52 Rush, S. & Driscoll, D. A. Current distribution in the brain from surface electrodes. *Anesthesia and analgesia* **47**, 717-723 (1968).
- Reinhart, R. M. G., Cosman, J. D., Fukuda, K. & Woodman, G. F. Using transcranial direct-current stimulation (tDCS) to understand cognitive processing. *Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics* 79, 3-23, doi:10.3758/s13414-016-1224-2 (2017).
- Bikson, M., Rahman, A. & Datta, A. Computational models of transcranial direct current stimulation. *Clinical EEG and neuroscience* 43, 176-183, doi:10.1177/1550059412445138 (2012).
- 55 Miranda, P. C., Lomarev, M. & Hallett, M. Modeling the current distribution during transcranial direct current stimulation. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* **117**, 1623-1629, doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2006.04.009 (2006).
- 56 Kabakov, A. Y., Muller, P. A., Pascual-Leone, A., Jensen, F. E. & Rotenberg, A. Contribution of axonal orientation to pathway-dependent modulation of excitatory transmission by direct current stimulation in isolated rat hippocampus. *Journal of neurophysiology* **107**, 1881-1889, doi:10.1152/jn.00715.2011 (2012).
- 57 Liebetanz, D., Nitsche, M. A., Tergau, F. & Paulus, W. Pharmacological approach to the mechanisms of transcranial DC-stimulation-induced after-effects of human motor cortex excitability. *Brain* **125**, 2238-2247 (2002).
- Bikson, M. *et al.* Computational models of transcranial direct current stimulation.
 Clinical EEG and neuroscience 43, 176-183, doi:10.1177/1550059412445138
 (2012)
- 59 Radman, T., Ramos, R. L., Brumberg, J. C. & Bikson, M. Role of cortical cell type and morphology in subthreshold and suprathreshold uniform electric field stimulation in vitro. *Brain stimulation* 2, 215-228, 228.e211-213, doi:10.1016/j.brs.2009.03.007 (2009).

- 60 Amadi, U., Ilie, A., Johansen-Berg, H. & Stagg, C. J. Polarity-specific effects of motor transcranial direct current stimulation on fMRI resting state networks. *Neuroimage* 88, 155-161, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.11.037 (2014).
- 61 Antal, A., Polania, R., Schmidt-Samoa, C., Dechent, P. & Paulus, W. Transcranial direct current stimulation over the primary motor cortex during fMRI. *NeuroImage* 55, 590-596 (2011).
- Polania, R., Paulus, W. & Nitsche, M. A. Modulating cortico-striatal and thalamocortical functional connectivity with transcranial direct current stimulation.
 Human brain mapping 33, 2499-2508, doi:10.1002/hbm.21380 (2012).
- 63 Sun, Y. *et al.* Direct current stimulation induces mGluR5-dependent neocortical plasticity. *Annals of neurology* **80**, 233-246, doi:10.1002/ana.24708 (2016).
- Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. *The Journal of physiology* 527 Pt 3, 633-639 (2000).
- Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Sustained excitability elevations induced by transcranial DC motor cortex stimulation in humans. *Neurology* 57, 1899-1901 (2001).
- 66 Nitsche, M. A. *et al.* Pharmacological modulation of cortical excitability shifts induced by transcranial direct current stimulation in humans. *The Journal of physiology* 553, 293-301, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2003.049916 (2003).
- Gandiga, P. C., Hummel, F. C. & Cohen, L. G. Transcranial DC stimulation (tDCS): a tool for double-blind sham-controlled clinical studies in brain stimulation. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 117, 845-850, doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2005.12.003 (2006).
- 68 Batsikadze, G., Moliadze, V., Paulus, W., Kuo, M. F. & Nitsche, M. A. Partially non-linear stimulation intensity-dependent effects of direct current stimulation on motor cortex excitability in humans. *The Journal of physiology* **591**, 1987-2000, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2012.249730 (2013).

- 69 Miranda, P. C., Mekonnen, A., Salvador, R. & Ruffini, G. The electric field in the cortex during transcranial current stimulation. *Neuroimage* 70, 48-58, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.12.034 (2013).
- Nitsche, M. A. *et al.* Shaping the effects of transcranial direct current stimulation of the human motor cortex. *Journal of neurophysiology* 97, 3109-3117, doi:10.1152/jn.01312.2006 (2007).
- Bastani, A. & Jaberzadeh, S. Differential modulation of corticospinal excitability by different current densities of anodal transcranial direct current stimulation.
 PloS one 8, e72254, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072254 (2013).
- Gomes-Osman, J. & Field-Fote, E. C. Bihemispheric anodal corticomotor stimulation using transcranial direct current stimulation improves bimanual typing task performance. *Journal of motor behavior* 45, 361-367, doi:10.1080/00222895.2013.808604 (2013).
- Waters, S., Wiestler, T. & Diedrichsen, J. Cooperation Not Competition:
 Bihemispheric tDCS and fMRI Show Role for Ipsilateral Hemisphere in Motor
 Learning. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 37, 7500-7512, doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3414-16.2017 (2017).
- Waters-Metenier, S., Husain, M., Wiestler, T. & Diedrichsen, J. Bihemispheric transcranial direct current stimulation enhances effector-independent representations of motor synergy and sequence learning. *Journal of Neuroscience* 34, 1037-1050 (2014).
- 75 Song, C., Schwarzkopf, D. S., Kanai, R. & Rees, G. Relating inter-individual differences in metacognitive performance on different perceptual tasks. *Conscious Congition.* 20, 1787-1792, (2011).
- Datta, A. Inter-Individual Variation during Transcranial Direct Current
 Stimulation and Normalization of Dose Using MRI-Derived Computational
 Models. *Frontiers in Psychiatry* 3, doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2012.00091 (2012).
- Catalan, M. J., Honda, M., Weeks, R. A., Cohen, L. G. & Hallett, M. The functional neuroanatomy of simple and complex sequential finger movements: A PET study. *Brain* 121, 253-264 (1998).

- Dayan, E. & Cohen, Leonardo G. Neuroplasticity Subserving Motor Skill
 Learning. *Neuron* 72, 443-454, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.10.008
 (2011).
- 79 Wiestler, T. & Diedrichsen, J. Skill learning strengthens cortical representations of motor sequences. *eLife* 2, e00801, doi:10.7554/eLife.00801 (2013).
- 80 Rioult-Pedotti, M. S., Friedman, D. & Donoghue, J. P. Learning-induced LTP in neocortex. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 290, 533-536 (2000).
- 81 Reis, J. *et al.* Noninvasive cortical stimulation enhances motor skill acquisition over multiple days through an effect on consolidation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 1590-1595, doi:10.1073/pnas.0805413106 (2009).
- 82 Alonzo, A., Brassil, J., Taylor, J. L., Martin, D. & Loo, C. K. Daily transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) leads to greater increases in cortical excitability than second daily transcranial direct current stimulation. *Brain stimulation* 5, 208-213, doi:10.1016/j.brs.2011.04.006 (2012).
- Cabral, M. E. *et al.* Transcranial direct current stimulation: before, during, or after motor training? *Neuroreport* 26, 618-622, doi:10.1097/wnr.000000000000397 (2015).
- 84 Nitsche, M. A. *et al.* Facilitation of implicit motor learning by weak transcranial direct current stimulation of the primary motor cortex in the human. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience* **15**, 619-626, doi:10.1162/089892903321662994 (2003).
- 85 Kantak, S. S., Mummidisetty, C. K. & Stinear, J. W. Primary motor and premotor cortex in implicit sequence learning--evidence for competition between implicit and explicit human motor memory systems. *The European journal of neuroscience* 36, 2710-2715, doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08175.x (2012).
- 86 Rroji, O., van Kuyck, K., Nuttin, B. & Wenderoth, N. Anodal tDCS over primary motor cortex facilitates long term memory formation reflecting use-dependant plasticity.*PLoS One.* **10** e0127270. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0127270. (2015)
- 87 Hashemirad, F., Zoghi, M., Fitzgerald, P. B. & Jaberzadeh, S. The effect of anodal transcranial direct current stimulation on motor sequence learning in

healthy individuals: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain and cognition* **102**, 1-12, doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2015.11.005 (2016).

- 88 Savic, B., Muri, R. & Meier, B. A single session of prefrontal cortex transcranial direct current stimulation does not modulate implicit task sequence learning and consolidation. *Brain stimulation* **10**, 567-575, doi:10.1016/j.brs.2017.01.001 (2017).
- Antonenko, D. *et al.* Neuronal and behavioral effects of multi-day brain stimulation and memory training. *Neurobiology of aging* 61, 245-254, doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2017.09.017 (2018).
- Horvath, J. C., Carter, O. & Forte, J. D. No significant effect of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) found on simple motor reaction time comparing 15 different simulation protocols. *Neuropsychologia* 91, 544-552, doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.09.017 (2016).
- 91 Parikh, P. J. & Cole, K. J. Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation in combination with motor practice on dexterous grasping and manipulation in healthy older adults. *Physiological reports* 2, e00255, doi:10.1002/phy2.255 (2014).
- 92 Horvath, J. C., Forte, J. D. & Carter, O. Quantitative Review Finds No Evidence of Cognitive Effects in Healthy Populations From Single-session Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS). *Brain stimulation* 8, 535-550, doi:10.1016/j.brs.2015.01.400 (2015).
- Woods, A. J. *et al.* A technical guide to tDCS, and related non-invasive brain stimulation tools. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 127, 1031-1048, doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2015.11.012 (2016).
- 94 Reis, J. *et al.* Noninvasive cortical stimulation enhances motor skill acquisition over multiple days through an effect on consolidation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United Stattes of America.* **106**, 1590-1595 (2009).

- 95 Fritsch, B. *et al.* Direct current stimulation promotes BDNF-dependent synaptic plasticity: potential implications for motor learning. *Neuron* 66, 198-204, doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2010.03.035 (2010).
- 96 Vines, B. W., Cerruti, C. & Schlaug, G. Dual-hemisphere tDCS facilitates greater improvements for healthy subjects' non-dominant hand compared to unihemisphere stimulation. *BMC neuroscience* 9, 103, doi:10.1186/1471-2202-9-103 (2008).
- 97 Mordillo-Mateos, L. *et al.* Effects of simultaneous bilateral tDCS of the human motor cortex. *Brain stimulation* **5**, 214-222, doi:10.1016/j.brs.2011.05.001 (2012).
- 98 Luppino, G., Matelli, M., Camarda, R. & Rizzolatti, G. Corticocortical connections of area F3 (SMA-proper) and area F6 (pre-SMA) in the Macaque monkey. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* **338**, 114-140 (1993).
- 99 Carter, M. J., Maslovat, D. & Carlsen, A. N. Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation applied over the supplementary motor area delays spontaneous antiphase-to-in-phase transitions. *Journal of neurophysiology* **113**, 780-785, doi:10.1152/jn.00662.2014 (2015).
- 100 Hupfeld, K. E., Ketcham, C. J. & Schneider, H. D. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) to the supplementary motor area (SMA) influences performance on motor tasks. *Experimental brain research* 235, 851-859, doi:10.1007/s00221-016-4848-5 (2017).
- 101 Vollmann, H. *et al.* Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) over supplementary motor area (SMA) but not pre-SMA promotes short-term visuomotor learning. *Brain stimulation* 6, 101-107, doi:10.1016/j.brs.2012.03.018 (2013).
- 102 Berger, A. Magnetic resonance imaging. *the BMJ*. **324**, 35 (2002).
- 103 Tetreault, L. A. *et al.* Systematic review of magnetic resonance imaging characteristics that affect treatment decision making and predict clinical outcome in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* 38, S89-110, doi:10.1097/BRS.0b013e3182a7eae0 (2013).
- McRobbie, D., Moore, E., Graves, M. & Prince, M. *MRI From Picture to Proton*.2 edn, (Cambridge University Press, 2007).

- Nair, D. G. About being BOLD. *Brain research. Brain research reviews* 50, 229-243, doi:10.1016/j.brainresrev.2005.07.001 (2005).
- 106 Wolf, B. S., Khilnani, M. & Malis, L. The sagittal diameter of the bony cervical spinal canal and its significance in cervical spondylosis. *Journal of the Mount Sinai Hospital, New York* 23, 283-292 (1956).
- Morishita, Y. *et al.* The relationship between the cervical spine canal diameter and the patholgical changes in the cervical spine. *European Spine Journal.* 18, 877-883 (2009)
- Morio, Y. *et al.* Correlation between operative outcomes of cervical compression myelopathy and mri of the spinal cord. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* 26, 1238-1245 (2001).
- 109 Wada, E., Yonenobu, K., Suzuki, S., Kanazawa, A. & Ochi, T. Can intramedullary signal change on magnetic resonance imaging predict surgical outcome in cervical spondylotic myelopathy? *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* 24, 455-461; discussion 462 (1999).
- Chibbaro, S. *et al.* Anterior cervical corpectomy for cervical spondylotic myelopathy: experience and surgical results in a series of 70 consecutive patients. *Journal of clinical neuroscience : official journal of the Neurosurgical Society of Australasia* 13, 233-238, doi:10.1016/j.jocn.2005.04.011 (2006).
- 111 Nakashima, H. *et al.* Abnormal findings on magnetic resonance images of the cervical spines of 1211 asymptomatic patients. *Spine.* **40**, 392-398 (2015)
- 112 Glover, G. H. Overview of functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Neurosurgery clinics of North America.* **22**, 133-139 (2010)
- 113 Phillips, A. A., Chan, F. H., Zheng, M. M., Krassioukov, A. V. & Ainslie, P. N. Neurovascular coupling in humans: Physiology, methodological advances and clinical implications. *Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism* 36, 647-664, doi:10.1177/0271678x15617954 (2016).
- Heeger, D. J. & Ress, D. What does fMRI tell us about neuronal activity? *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 3, 142-151 (2002).

- Attwell, D. *et al.* Glial and neuronal control of brain blood flow. *Nature* 468, 232-243, doi:10.1038/nature09613 (2010).
- Cauli, B. & Hamel, E. Revisiting the role of neurons in neurovascular coupling.*Fronties in Neuroenergetics*. 2,9 (2010)
- 117 Pauling, L. & Coryell, C. D. The magnetic properties and structure of hemoglobin, oxyhemoglobin and carbonmonoxyhemoglobin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the United States of America.* 22, 210-216 (1936).
- 118 Matthews, P. & Jezzard, P. Functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery and psychiatry*. **75**, 6-12 (2004).
- 119 Ogawa, S., Lee, T. M., Kay, A. R. & Tank, D. W. Brain magnetic resonance imaging with contrast dependent on blood oxygenation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the United States of America*. 87, 9868-9872 (1990).
- 120 Lindquist, M. A., Loh, J. M., Atlas, L. Y. & Wager, T. D. Modelling the hemodynamic response function in fMRI: efficiency, bias and mis-modelling. *Neuroimage*. 45, S187-198 (2009).
- 121 Kwong, K. K. *et al.* Dynamic magnetic resonance imaging of human brain activity during primary sensory stimulation. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences **89**, 5675-5679, doi:10.1073/pnas.89.12.5675 (1992).
- 122 Buxton, R. B., Uludag, K., Dubowitz, D. J. & Liu, T. T. Modeling the hemodynamic response to brain activation. *Neuroimage* 23 Suppl 1, S220-233, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07.013 (2004).
- 123 van den Heuvel, M. P. & Hulshoff Pol, H. E. Exploring the brain network: A review on resting-state fMRI functional connectivity. *European Neuropsychopharmacology* 20, 519-534 (2010).
- 124 Guerra-Carrillo, B., MacKey, A. P. & Bunge, S. A. Resting-state fMRI: A window into human brain plasticity. *Neuroscientist* **20**, 522-533 (2014).
- 125 Biswal, B., Yetkin, F. Z., Haughton, V. M. & Hyde, J. S. Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar MRI. *Magnetic resonance in medicine* 34, 537-541 (1995).

- Greicius, M. D., Krasnow, B., Reiss, A. L. & Menon, V. Functional connectivity in the resting brain: a network analysis of the default mode hypothesis.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100, 253-258, doi:10.1073/pnas.0135058100 (2003).
- 127 Fox, M. D. & Raichle, M. E. Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 8, 700-711, doi:10.1038/nrn2201 (2007).
- 128 Friedman, L. *et al.* Test-retest and between-site reliability in a multicenter fMRI study. *Human Brain Mapping* **29**, 958-972, doi:10.1002/hbm.20440 (2008).
- 129 Chen, J. E. & Glover, G. H. Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Methods. *Neuropsychology review* 25, 289-313, doi:10.1007/s11065-015-9294-9 (2015).
- Aleksanderek, I., Stevens, T. K., Goncalves, S., Bartha, R. & Duggal, N.
 Metabolite and functional profile of patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Journal of neurosurgery. Spine* 26, 547-553, doi:10.3171/2016.9.spine151507 (2017).
- 131 Dong, Y. *et al.* Compensatory cerebral adaptations before and evolving changes after surgical decompression in cervical spondylotic myelopathy: Laboratory investigation. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine* **9**, 538-551 (2008).
- 132 Kambi, N. *et al.* Large-scale reorganization of the somatosensory cortex following spinal cord injuries is due to brainstem plasticity. *Nature communications* 5, 3602, doi:10.1038/ncomms4602 (2014).
- Ramachandran, V. S. Plasticity and functional recovery in neurology. *Clinical Medicine, Journal of the Royal College of Physicians of London* 5, 368-373 (2005).
- 134 Takeuchi, N., Oouchida, Y. & Izumi, S. I. Motor control and neural plasticity through interhemispheric interactions. *Neural Plasticity* **2012** (2012).
- Herdmann, J., Reiners, K. & Freund, H. J. Motor unit recruitment order in neuropathic disease. *Electromyography and Clinical Neurophysiology* 28, 53-60 (1988).
- 136 Wong, W. W., Chan, S. T., Tang, K. W., Meng, F. & Tong, K. Y. Neural correlates of motor impairment during motor imagery and motor execution in sub-

cortical stroke. *Brain injury* **27**, 651-663, doi:10.3109/02699052.2013.771796 (2013).

- 137 Askim, T., Indredavik, B., Vangberg, T. & Håberg, A. Motor network changes associated with successful motor skill relearning after acute ischemic stroke: A longitudinal functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair* 23, 295-304 (2009).
- Calautti, C. & Baron, J. C. Functional neuroimaging studies of motor recovery after stroke in adults: a review. *Stroke* 34, 1553-1566, doi:10.1161/01.str.0000071761.36075.a6 (2003).
- 139 Johansen-Berg, H. et al. The role of ipsilateral premotor cortex in hand movement after stroke. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99, 14518-14523 (2002).
- Minati, L., Aquino, D., Bruzzone, M. G. & Erbetta, A. Quantitation of normal metabolite concentrations in six brain regions by in-vivoH-MR spectroscopy. *Journal of medical physics* 35, 154-163, doi:10.4103/0971-6203.62128 (2010).
- 141 Gujar, S. K., Maheshwari, S., Bjorkman-Burtscher, I. & Sundgren, P. C. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Journal of neuro-ophthalmology : the official journal of the North American Neuro-Ophthalmology Society* 25, 217-226 (2005).
- Chefer VI, Thompson AC, Zapata A, Shippenberg TS. Overview of Brain Microdialysis. *Current protocols in neuroscience*. CHAPTER:Unit7.1. doi:10.1002/0471142301.ns0701s47 (2009).
- Auvichayapat, P. *et al.* Transient Changes in Brain Metabolites after Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Spastic Cerebral Palsy: A Pilot Study. *Frontiers in neurology* 8, 366, doi:10.3389/fneur.2017.00366 (2017).
- Kowalczyk, I., Duggal, N. & Bartha, R. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy of the motor cortex in cervical myelopathy. *Brain* 135, 461-468, doi:10.1093/brain/awr328 (2012).
- Rae, C. D. A Guide to the Metabolic Pathways and Function of Metabolites
 Observed in Human Brain 1H Magnetic Resonance Spectra. *Neurochemical Research.* 39 1-36 (2014).

- 146 Harris, R. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy. (John Wiley & Sons, 1991).
- 147 Marjanska, M. *et al.* Localized 1H NMR spectroscopy in different regions of human brain in vivo at 7 T: T2 relaxation times and concentrations of cerebral metabolites. *NMR in biomedicine* 25, 332-339, doi:10.1002/nbm.1754 (2012).
- 148 Jansen, J. F., Backes, W. H., Nicolay, K. & Kooi, M. E. 1H MR spectroscopy of the brain: absolute quantification of metabolites. *Radiology* 240, 318-332, doi:10.1148/radiol.2402050314 (2006).
- 149 Oz, G. & Tkac, I. Short-echo, single-shot, full-intensity proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy for neurochemical profiling at 4 T: validation in the cerebellum and brainstem. *Magnetic resonance in medicine* 65, 901-910, doi:10.1002/mrm.22708 (2011).
- 150 Xin, L., Schaller, B., Mlynarik, V., Lu, H. & Gruetter, R. Proton T1 relaxation times of metabolites in human occipital white and gray matter at 7 T. *Magnetic resonance in medicine* 69, 931-936, doi:10.1002/mrm.24352 (2013).
- 151 Godlewska, B. R., Clare, S., Cowen, P. J. & Emir, U. E. Ultra high-field magnetic resonance spectroscopy in psychiatry. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*. **8** 123 (2017).
- 152 Tkáč, I., Öz, G., Adriany, G., Uğurbil, K. & Gruetter, R. In vivo 1H NMR spectropscopy of the human brain at high magnetic fields: metabolite quantification at 4T vs 7T. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*. **62**, 868-879 (2009).
- 153 Bartha, R., Drost, D. J. & Williamson, P. C. Factors affecting the quantification of short echo in-vivo 1H MR spectra: prior knowledge, peak elimination, and filtering. *NMR Biomed* **12**, 205-216 (1999).
- 154 Bartha, R., Drost, D. J., Menon, R. S. & Williamson, P. C. Spectroscopic lineshape correction by QUECC: combined QUALITY deconvolution and eddy current correction. *Magn Reson Med* 44, 641-645 (2000).
- 155 Clark, J. B. N-acetyl-aspartate: a marker for neuronal loss or mitochondrial dysfunction. *Developmental Neuroscienc*.**20**, 271-276 (1998).
- 156 Patel, T., Blyth, J. C., Griffiths, G., Kelly, D. & Talcott, J. B. Moderate relationships between NAA and cognitive ability in healthy adults: implications

for cognitive spectroscopy. *Frontiers in human neuroscience* **8**, 39, doi:10.3389/fnhum.2014.00039 (2014).

- Aleksanderek, I. *et al.* Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy: Metabolite Changes in the Primary Motor Cortex after Surgery. *Radiology*, 152083, doi:10.1148/radiol.2016152083 (2016).
- Goncalves, S., Stevens, T. K., Doyle-Pettypiece, P., Bartha, R. & Duggal, N. N-acetylaspartate in the motor and sensory cortices following functional recovery after surgery for cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Journal of neurosurgery. Spine* 25, 436-443, doi:10.3171/2016.2.spine15944 (2016).
- 159 Landim, R. C. G. Investigation of NAA and NAAG dynamics underlying visual stimulation using MEGA-PRESS in a functional MRS experiment. 34, 239-245, doi:10.1016/j.mri.2015.10.038 (2016).
- 160 Wittsack, H. J., Kugel, H., Roth, B. & Heindel, W. Quantitative measurements with localized 1H MR spectroscopy in children with Canavan's disease. *Journal* of magnetic resonance imaging : JMRI 6, 889-893 (1996).
- 161 Castellano, G., Dias, C., Foerster, B., Li, L. & Covolan, R. NAA and NAAG variation in neuronal activation during visual stimulation. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Reseasrch.* 45,1031-1036 (2012).
- 162 Wyss, M. & Kaddurah-Daouk, R. Creatine and creatinine metabolism.*Physiological reviews* 80, 1107-1213 (2000).
- Beard, E. & Braissant, O. Synthesis and transport of creatine in the CNS: importance for cerebral functions. *Journal of neurochemistry* 115, 297-313, doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06935.x (2010).
- Rango, M., Castelli, A. & Scarlato, G. Energetics of 3.5 s neural activation in humans: a 31P MR spectroscopy study. *Magnetic resonance in medicine* 38, 878-883 (1997).
- 165 Rae, C. D., Lee, V. H., Ordidge, R. J., Alonzo, A. & Loo, C. Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation increases brain intracellular pH and modulates bioenergetics. *The international journal of neuropsychopharmacology* **16**, 1695-1706, doi:10.1017/s1461145713000084 (2013).

- 166 Yasen, A. L., Smith, J. & Christie, A. D. Reliability of glutamate and GABA quantification using proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Neuroscience letters* 643, 121-124, doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2017.02.039 (2017).
- Lindenberg, R., Renga, V., Zhu, L. L., Nair, D. & Schlaug, G. Bihemispheric brain stimulation facilitates motor recovery in chronic stroke patients. *Neurology* 75, 2176-2184, doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318202013a (2010).
- 168 Sehm, B., Kipping, J., Schafer, A., Villringer, A. & Ragert, P. A Comparison between Uni- and Bilateral tDCS Effects on Functional Connectivity of the Human Motor Cortex. *Frontiers in human neuroscience* 7, 183, doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00183 (2013).
- Sehm, B. *et al.* Dynamic modulation of intrinsic functional connectivity by transcranial direct current stimulation. *Journal of neurophysiology* 108, 3253-3263, doi:10.1152/jn.00606.2012 (2012).
- 170 Grefkes, C., Eickhoff, S. B., Nowak, D. A., Dafotakis, M. & Fink, G. R. Dynamic intra- and interhemispheric interactions during unilateral and bilateral hand movements assessed with fMRI and DCM. *NeuroImage* **41**, 1382-1394 (2008).
- 171 Kwon, Y. H. *et al.* Primary motor cortex activation by transcranial direct current stimulation in the human brain. *Neuroscience letters* 435, 56-59, doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2008.02.012 (2008).
- Ziemann, U., Rothwell, J. C. & Ridding, M. C. Interaction between intracortical inhibition and facilitation in human motor cortex. *Journal of Physiology* 496, 873-881 (1996).
- 173 Ziemann, U. Muellbacher W, Hallett M, Cohen LG. Modulation of practicedependent plasticity in human motor cortex. *Brain* **124**,1171-1181 (2011)
- Bachtiar, V., Near, J., Johansen-Berg, H. & Stagg, C. J. Modulation of GABA and resting state functional connectivity by transcranial direct current stimulation.
 Elife 4, e08789, doi:10.7554/eLife.08789 (2015).
- Hone-Blanchet, A., Edden, R. A. & Fecteau, S. Online Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Real Time on Human Prefrontal and Striatal Metabolites. *Biological psychiatry* 80, 432-438, doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.11.008 (2016).

- 176 Clark, V. P., Coffman, B. A., Trumbo, M. C. & Gasparovic, C. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) produces localized and specific alterations in neurochemistry: a (1)H magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *Neuroscience letters* 500, 67-71, doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2011.05.244 (2011).
- 177 Kim, S., Stephenson, M. C., Morris, P. G. & Jackson, S. R. tDCS-induced alterations in GABA concentration within primary motor cortex predict motor learning and motor memory: a 7T magnetic resonance spectropscopy study. *Neuroimage* 99, 237-243
- Stagg, C. J., Bachtiar, V. & Johansen-Berg, H. The role of GABA in human motor learning. *Current biology : CB* 21, 480-484, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2011.01.069 (2011).
- 179 Floyer-Lea, A., Wylezinska, M., Kincses, T. & Matthews, P. M. Rapid modulation of GABA concentration in human sensorimotor cortex during motor learning. *Journal of neurophysiology* **95**, 1639-1644, doi:10.1152/jn.00346.2005 (2006).
- 180 Farrant, M. & Nusser, Z. Variations on an inhibitory theme: phasic and tonic activation of GABA(A) receptors. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 6, 215-229, doi:10.1038/nrn1625 (2005).
- Mason, G. F. *et al.* Decrease in GABA synthesis rate in rat cortex following
 GABA-transaminase inhibition correlates with the decrease in GAD(67) protein.
 Brain research 914, 81-91 (2001).
- Boggio, P. S. *et al.* Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on working memory in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Journal of the neurological sciences* 249, 31-38, doi:10.1016/j.jns.2006.05.062 (2006).
- Boggio, P. S. *et al.* Non-invasive brain stimulation to assess and modulate neuroplasticity in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychological rehabilitation* 21, 703-716, doi:10.1080/09602011.2011.617943 (2011).
- 184 Loo, C. K. *et al.* Transcranial direct current stimulation for depression: 3-week, randomised, sham-controlled trial. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* **200**, 52-59, doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.111.097634 (2012).

- 185 Agarwal, S. M. *et al.* Transcranial direct current stimulation in schizophrenia. *Clinical Psychopharmacological Neuroscience*. **11**, 118-125 (2013).
- 186 Lefebvre, S. *et al.* Single session of dual-tDCS transiently improves precision grip and dexterity of the paretic hand after stroke. *Neurorehabilitation and neural repair* 28, 100-110, doi:10.1177/1545968313478485 (2014).
- 187 Notturno, F. *et al.* Neuroprotective effect of cathodal transcranial direct current stimulation in a rat stroke model. *Journal of the neurological sciences* 342, 146-151, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2014.05.017 (2014).
- Raithatha, R. *et al.* Non-invasive brain stimulation and robot-assisted gait training after incomplete spinal cord injury: A randomized pilot study.
 NeuroRehabilitation 38, 15-25, doi:10.3233/nre-151291 (2016).
- 189 Potter-Baker, K. A. *et al.* Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) Paired with massed practice training to promote adaptive plasticity and motor recovery in chronic incomplete tetraplegia: a pilot study. *The journal of spinal cord medicine*, 1-15, doi:10.1080/10790268.2017.1361562 (2017).
- 190 Fregni, F. *et al.* Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation of prefrontal cortex enhances working memory. *Experimental brain research* 166, 23-30, doi:10.1007/s00221-005-2334-6 (2005).
- 191 Fecteau, S. *et al.* Diminishing risk-taking behavior by modulating activity in the prefrontal cortex: a direct current stimulation study. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 27, 12500-12505, doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3283-07.2007 (2007).

Chapter 2

Motor Network Recovery in Patients with Chronic
 Spinal Cord Compression: a Longitudinal Study
 Following Decompression Surgery

State of Publication: Published in: <u>Ryan K</u>, Goncalves S, Bartha R, Duggal N. Motor network recovery in patients with chronic spinal cord compression: a longitudinal study following decompression surgery. Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine 28(4); 379-388, 2018

Copyright Approval: Appendix B

2.1 Abstract:

We have used functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to assess cortical reorganization of the motor network after chronic spinal cord compression and characterize the plasticity that occurs post surgical intervention. A 3T MRI was used to acquire functional images of the brain in 22 patients with reversible cervical spinal cord compression and 10 controls. Controls performed a finger-tapping task on three different occasions, baseline, six weeks and six months apart, while patients performed the identical task before surgery and again six weeks and six months following spinal decompression surgery. After surgical intervention, an increased % BOLD signal and volume of activation was observed within the contralateral and ipsilateral motor network. The volume of activation of contralateral primary motor cortex was associated with functional measures both at baseline (r = 0.55, p < 0.01), and six months following surgery (r = 0.55, p < 0.01). The % BOLD signal of ipsilateral supplementary motor area six months following surgery was associated with increased function six months after surgery (r = 0.48, p < 0.01). Plasticity of the contralateral and ipsilateral motor network play complementary roles in maintaining neurological function in patients with spinal cord compression and may be critical in the recovery phase following surgery.

2.2 Key Words

cervical spondylotic myelopathy; decompression surgery; motor; rehabilitation; recovery

2.3 Introduction

Following brain or spinal cord injury, it is postulated that cortical reorganization provides a compensatory mechanism to minimize functional deficits. Cortical reorganization has previously been shown in healthy individuals.^{1,2}and patients with neurological disorders³⁻⁶ in response to finger movement tasks. Degeneration of the cervical spine, which may cause slow, progressive spinal cord compression, represents a unique model of spinal cord injury that may be reversible following decompression surgery,⁷ The overwhelming majority of studies on cervical spondylotic myelopathy (CSM) have focused on local changes at the site of spinal cord compression and have neglected the intimate interconnection with the brain.^{8,9}

We have previously shown altered brain function and metabolism in patients with cervical spondylosis.^{4,10-13} These studies, and others, have demonstrated cortical reorganization in primary motor regions contralateral to the side of motor movements in CSM.^{4,7,14} The presence and potential contributions of cortical changes ipsilateral to the side of motor movements have not been previously examined in relation to spinal cord compression, even though such contributions are well documented in stroke victims.^{5,6,15-} ¹⁷ Specifically, the ipsilateral premotor cortex (PMC) and supplementary motor area (SMA) are known to be involved in the compensation of the loss of motor function caused by contralateral brain injury.^{18,19} Extensive stroke literature has demonstrated functional reorganization of ipsilateral motor areas in response to cortical damage, supporting the idea that both hemispheres are essential for the normal integration of function and motor recovery.^{6,18,20} Studying the involvement of the ipsilateral hemisphere in motor recovery in patients with CSM will allow us to further evaluate a potential imaging biomarker of motor recovery following surgery. In addition, determining the integration of both hemispheres will further our understanding of the mechanism of cortical reorganization following injury. The present study compared preoperative and postoperative brain activation during a standardized motor task, to assess both contralateral and ipsilateral motor activation. Our specific goal was to examine the

relationship between plasticity of the motor network and neurological recovery following spinal cord decompression. Neurological function, measured by validated clinical outcome scores, were also evaluated to determine whether functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) could be used as an indicator of clinical outcome and recovery.

2.4 Methods

2.4.1 Participants and Study Design

Twenty-two patients (19 males, mean age 50 ± 10.9 , 22 right–handed) with a clinical history of CSM of less than or equal to one year in duration and no other neurological disorders were recruited and participated in three 3.0 Tesla MR imaging sessions. Surgery for the treatment of symptomatic CSM was considered when there was a history of a progressive decline in neurological function, concordant imaging with evidence of spinal cord compression, and limited or no response to appropriate conservative measures. All CSM patients showed evidence of signal cord change in preoperative MRI. CSM patients underwent a baseline research MRI scan, surgical decompression, followed by a second research MRI scan six weeks postsurgery, and a third scan six months postsurgery. These two time points were chosen to capture important milestones in the recovery process²¹ and to coincide with the time of patient clinic visits. CSM inherently affects men more commonly than women.²² Therefore, the control group was sex matched with the patient group. Ten age-matched control subjects (48 ± 9.9 years, 7 males, 10 right-handed) with no previous history of neurological disease were also recruited. Control subjects had three MRI sessions (baseline, six weeks and six months) without surgical intervention. Informed written consent was obtained for all procedures according to the Declaration of Helinski (World Medical Association, 2008) and the study was approved by the Western University Health Sciences Research Ethics Board. All patients completed validated instruments for assessing disability resulting from myelopathy (modified Japanese Orthopedic Association (mJOA) outcome measure). This

metric was used as an indirect measure of the success of the surgery. Postoperative MRI is not acquired at our institution unless there was neurological deterioration. Controls did not participate in the assessment of neurological function, as these measures are not designed to measure variations in normal function. Given our inclusion criteria for controls, no functional impairment was expected, as premised from previous work by our group.¹³ Throughout the current study, "ipsilateral" refers to brain activation on the same side as task movement, and "contralateral" indicates activation in the brain that is on the opposite side of task movement.

2.4.2 Procedures

A 3.0T Siemens Magnetom Tim Trio magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scanner, with a 32-channel head coil including a neck and spine array was used to acquire all data. Each exam included the acquisition of sagittal T₁-weighted 3D–magnetization prepared rapid gradient echo anatomical images (192 slices, 1 mm isotropic resolution, repetition time/echo time = 2300/3.42 ms). During the functional task, blood-oxygen level dependent (BOLD) images were acquired continuously using an interleaved echo planar imaging pulse sequence (parallel imaging factor = 2, 80 × 80 acquisition matrix, 45 slices/volume, 3 mm isotropic resolution, repetition time/echo time = 2500/55 ms, flip angle = 90°). The total acquisition time was 5 minutes and 30 seconds for 132 volumes.

The motor pathway was activated using a block paradigm functional task, with 11 segments (6 rest and 5 active). Participants were instructed to perform finger to thumb opposition ('duck-quack') using a button box with the right hand. Participants were instructed to press the buttons simultaneously with all four fingers, followed by an extension upwards until the hand touched the roof of the box. To control the frequency at which participants performed the button tapping, visual cues instructed the participant to tap every 3 seconds during the 30 second active interval, followed by a 30 second rest period. All subjects were monitored during the fMRI scan to ensure that they could perform the "duck quack" motion in the scanner.

Anatomical and functional images were processed using Brain Voyager QX 2.1 (Brain Innovation, Maastricht, the Netherlands). The T_1 -weighted images were coregistered to the functional time series and transformed to Talairach space. Processing of functional images included 3D motion correction using sinc interpolation, spatial smoothing, and temporal linear trend removal. Spatial smoothing was performed by convolving each slice with a 6 mm full-width-half-maximum Gaussian kernel.²³ A volume time course was created from anatomical and functional images and single participant analysis was completed using a general linear model. Separate predictors were created for each subject by convolving the block paradigm boxcar function with a double-Gamma hemodynamic response function. Group analysis was performed using a hypothesis-driven Random Effects Analysis of Variance. Group activation maps were created at each time point (baseline, six weeks and six months) and were adjusted for multiple comparisons using a Bonferonni correction.²⁴ These maps identify the average activation patterns of the group. For the purpose of this study, we report results from brain regions relevant to the stated hypothesis: the contralateral sensorimotor cortex (M1/S1), the contralateral supplementary motor area (SMA), the ipsilateral SMA and the ipsilateral premotor cortex (PMC). Significant regions of activation were quantified using beta weights and volume of activation (VOA). For all functional images, Talairach coordinates of the center of gravity of the VOA were recorded and converted into brain regions by The Talairach Daemon Client 2.0 (University of Texas Health Science Centre, San Antonio, TX). Beta weights associated with the tapping task across groups were determined by defining regions of interest from group activation maps created by an Analysis of Variance Random Effects model. Beta weights represent how much of the BOLD signal is attributed to the task and will be noted as the % BOLD signal throughout the text.²⁵

2.5 Statistical Analysis

The modified Japanese Orthopedic Association scale (mJOA) was used to measure relevant functional improvement in each patient and was administered presurgery, six weeks and six months postsurgery. A One way ANOVA was used to determine if there were functional changes between the three time points with significance set at p < 0.05. Paired t tests were used to determine individual activation differences in patients and controls between the three time points and unpaired t-tests were used to determine significance between the two groups (patients and controls) with significance set at p < 0.05. The Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient was used to determine whether there were any significant correlations between clinical scores and the % BOLD signal change or VOA for patients at baseline, six weeks postsurgery, and six months postsurgery. Throughout the text, group means are provided, followed by the standard deviation (SD). All statistical tests evaluating group differences had a high level of power ($\alpha = 0.80$). The only exception was the comparison of the ipsilateral SMA between baseline and six months postsurgery in patients, which has a power of 0.72.

2.6 Results

Patient demographic and clinical information are presented in Table 2.1. All patients and controls were right handed. There were no significant differences between patients and controls with respect to age. There was a significant difference in mJOA scores between baseline and six month follow up indicating that neurological function improved in CSM patients following surgery (Table 2.1)

We examined the VOA and % BOLD signal of the contralateral and ipsilateral motor network in patients and controls at baseline and again six weeks and six months later. Specifically, the activation of the motor cortex, sensory cortex, and associated motor areas (SMA and PMC) were quantified. The ipsilateral M1/S1 did not show statistically significant activation. Relevant brain regions showing significant differences between time points are presented below; all other regions displayed no change.

	Age	Gender	Site of	mJOA		
			impairment	(maxiumum 18)		
				Baseline	6WK	6MO
1	38	М	C5/C6	11	14	13
2	36	Μ	C5/C6	14	16	16
3	64	Μ	C5/C6	15	12	16
4	37	Μ	C5/C6	15	18	18
5	42	Μ	C3/C4	11	16	16
6	57	Μ	C5/C6	9	14	16
7	32	Μ	C5/C6	11	16	14
8	59	Μ	C5/C6	17	13	18
9	62	Μ	C4/C5	13	12	13
10	53	F	C5/C6	17	15	16
11	65	Μ	C3/C4	6	15	13
12	48	Μ	C5/C6	15	14	15
13	61	Μ	C5/C6	11	14	15
14	56	Μ	C3/C4	9	10	11
15	54	Μ	C5/C6	17	16	17
16	45	Μ	C5/C6	17	15	17
17	63	F	C3/C4	12	12	18
18	38	Μ	C3/C4	15	13	16
19	63	Μ	C4/C5	15	10	14
20	34	Μ	C6/C7	16	10	18
21	45	Μ	C5/C6	12	13	16
22	57	Μ	C4/C5	12	16	18
Average		13 ± 3	14 ± 2	$16 \pm 2^{*}$		

Table 2.1 CSM Demographics

2.6.1 Longitudinal Changes in Controls

We observed longitudinal motor network changes in both the VOA and the % BOLD signal in control subjects. There was a significant decrease in the VOA at six weeks

compared with baseline in contralateral M1, PMC and SMA; additionally, there was reduced VOA at six months compared with baseline in contralateral M1/S1, PMC and SMA. (p < 0.05) (Table 2.2, Figure 2.1). The % BOLD signal (Table 2.3) was stable from baseline to six months in all areas except contralateral SMA (Table 2.1, Figure 2.1), which was reduced at the six month follow-up.

Changes in the ipsilateral motor network were also observed in controls. There was a significant decrease in the VOA of the ipsilateral SMA and PMC at six weeks compared with baseline, and a decrease in ipsilateral SMA at six months compared with baseline (p < 0.05) (Figure 2.1, 2.2, Table 2.2).

2.6.2 Longitudinal Changes in CSM Patients

Patients demonstrated unique longitudinal patterns of motor network change. The VOA of the contralateral and ipsilateral motor network remained constant over time (Figure 2.1b, 2.2b). However, there was an increase in the % BOLD signal of ipsilateral SMA six months after surgery compared with baseline $(0.34 \pm 0.27 \text{ and } 0.41 \pm 0.23 \text{ respectively}$, Table 2.3, consistent with the group average activation maps presented in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1 Longitudinal Cortical Activation

Functional MRI of group level activation maps in controls B) Functional MRI of group level activation maps of CSM patients at pre surgery, six weeks, and six months post decompression surgery.

Volume of Activation								
(voxels)								
Controls								
	PRE	6WK	6MO					
Contralateral M1	1510 ± 202	$970 \pm 669*$	$1153\pm457*$					
Contralateral S1	1496 ± 362	1072 ± 587	$957\pm610^{\ast}$					
Contralateral PMC	947 ± 540	$285 \pm 400*$	$444 \pm 442*$					
Contralateral SMA	$1553{\pm}168$	$703 \pm 617*$	$846\pm759^{*}$					
Ipsilateral SMA	925 ± 551	$39 \pm 109*$	$189\pm330^{*}$					
Ipsilateral PMC	782 ± 589	$140 \pm 317*$	290 ± 513					
Patients								
Contralateral M1	1704 ±1398	$1985 \pm 1356 \dagger$	1597 ± 1547					
Contralateral S1	1121 ±2309†	1280 ± 1228	1046 ± 1416					
Contralateral PMC	246 ± 554	288 ± 592	608 ± 1130					
Contralateral SMA	1024 ± 1225	1323 ± 920 †	1117 ± 1359					
Ipsilateral SMA	$390\pm636\dagger$	$425\pm743\dagger$	255 ± 504					
Ipsilateral PMC	529 ± 1144	502 ± 735	576 ± 942					

Table 2.2 Volume of Activation

Abbreviations: SMA, supplementary motor area; M1, primary motor cortex; PMC,

premotor cortex; S1, sensory cortex.

* Significantly different compared to baseline p <0.05

† Significantly different compared to controls p <0.05

% BOLD Activation							
Controls							
	PRE	6WK	6MO				
Contralateral M1	0.65 ± 0.24	0.7 ± 0.29	0.58 ± 0.41				
Contralateral S1	0.65 ± 0.37	0.52 ± 0.34	0.48 ± 0.37				
Contralateral SMA	0.73 ± 0.43	0.63 ± 0.18	$0.33\pm0.31*$				
Contralateral PMC	$0.57{\pm}0.22$	0.71 ± 0.25	0.60 ± 0.38				
Ipsilateral SMA	0.37 ± 0.14	0.5 ± 0.24	0.45 ± 0.3				
Ipsilateral PMC	0.22 ± 0.19	0.26 ± 0.24	0.15 ± 0.24				
Patients							
Contralateral M1	0.5 ± 0.33	0.58 ± 0.34	0.51 ± 0.43				
Contralateral S1	0.54 ±0.37	0.48 ± 0.24	0.45 ± 0.24				
Contralateral SMA	0.43 ±0.33†	0.47 ±0.24†	0.45 ± 0.23				
Contralateral PMC	0.41 ± 0.17	0.61 ± 0.38	0.33 ± 0.20				
Ipsilateral SMA	0.34 ±0.27	0.37 ±0.30	$0.41 \pm 0.23*$				
Ipsilateral PMC	0.24 ± 0.25	0.26 ±0.22	0.22 ± 0.19				

Table 2.3 BOLD Activation

Abbreviations: SMA, supplementary motor area; M1, primary motor cortex; PMC,

premotor cortex; S1, sensory cortex

-

* Significantly different compared to baseline p <0.05

† Significantly different compared to controls p <0.05

2.6.3 Differences Between CSM and Controls

There were specific differences in cortical activation between patients with CSM and controls. On the contralateral side, patients exhibited a significantly smaller VOA in S1 at baseline compared with controls (Table 2.2, Figure 2.1). Six weeks following surgery, patients had a larger VOA in contralateral M1 and SMA compared with controls (Table 2.2, Figure 2.1). Patients also demonstrated a significantly lower % BOLD signal at baseline and six weeks postsurgery in contralateral SMA compared with controls (Table 2.3). When examining the ipsilateral motor network, the VOA of SMA was significantly smaller at baseline compared with controls (Table 2.2, Figure 2.1). However, six weeks following surgery, patients had a larger VOA of ipsilateral SMA compared with controls (Figure 2.1, Table 2.2).

When comparing the longitudinal changes in the VOA from baseline to six weeks, we found a difference between control subjects and patients in the contralateral PMC and SMA as well as the ipsilateral PMC (Figure 2.3a). When comparing the longitudinal changes in % BOLD signal from six weeks to six months we found a difference between control subjects and patients in contralateral SMA (Figure 2.3d).


Figure 2.2 Longitudinal trends in functional cortical activation

Line graph displaying the trends in volume of activation (VOA) in controls at baseline, six weeks and six months B) Line graph displaying the trends in volume of activation in patients with spinal cord compression at baseline, six weeks and six months. *Asterisk* represents significant change from baseline to 6 month follow up. Double cross represents significant change from baseline to 6 week follow up.

2.6.4 Relationship Between Cortical Activation and Clinical Outcome

Analysis of the motor network and clinical scores (mJOA) demonstrated a significant relationship between cortical activation and function. In the contralateral M1 of patients, the VOA at baseline was significantly correlated with mJOA scores at baseline (r = 0.55, p = 0.008, Figure 2.4a) and six months following surgery (r = 0.55, p = 0.008, Figure 4b). Furthermore, a greater change (Δ) in % BOLD signal in contralateral M1 at six months following surgery was associated with higher baseline mJOA scores (r = 0.45, p = 0.03, Figure 2.4c). In the ipsilateral SMA of patients, the % BOLD signal was associated with greater mJOA scores (less impairment) at six months postsurgery (r = 0.48, p = 0.03, Figure 2.5a). Additionally, an increase in the % BOLD signal of ipsilateral SMA from baseline to six months after surgery was associated with greater mJOA scores at the six months follow-up (r = 0.42, p = 0.04, Figure 2.5b).

2.7 Discussion

This study, using a highly standardized functional task, was the first to examine and quantify longitudinal changes in the ipsilateral motor network in patients with reversible spinal cord compression, and relate these changes to functional recovery. In the current study, the motor paradigm used was not sufficiently difficult to activate the ipsilateral M1/S1. This result is consistent with previous studies that have shown contralateral M1/S1 activation during simple, visually cued motor tasks, in the absence of ipsilateral M1/S1 activation. Ipsilateral M1/S1 is activated with complex sequential finger tasks and bimanual motor tasks.²⁶ We observed significant changes in the ipsilateral motor network, specifically the SMA, six months after surgery, that were correlated to function, suggesting that ipsilateral reorganization and compensation may be important in functional improvements following surgery for spinal cord compression.



Figure 2.3 Comparison of activation between CSM and controls

Bar graph displaying the difference in the change in VOA between baseline and six weeks in controls and CSM patients over time. B) Bar graph displaying the difference in the change in VOA between six weeks and six months in controls and CSM patients. C) Bar graph displaying the difference in the change in % BOLD signal between baseline and six weeks in controls and CSM patients, D) Bar graph displaying the difference in the change in the % BOLD signal between controls and CSM patients between six weeks and six months

2.7.1 Cortical Activation as a Result of Motor Learning

In controls, there was a temporal decline in activation from baseline to six month follow up, which can be attributed to motor learning.^{2,27,28} The learning of motor tasks modulates brain activity in the contralateral primary motor cortex.²⁸ Furthermore, as learning occurs, there is decreased activation because of the reduced requirement of neuronal resources to perform the motor task.²⁸ We observed a similar effect with reduced activation six months after the initial scan. The VOA of contralateral M1/S1, PMC, SMA, as well as the ipsilateral SMA were significantly decreased compared with baseline, indicating the task had become familiar. In addition, the % BOLD signal was reduced in the ipsilateral SMA at six months compared with baseline.



Figure 2.4 BOLD Activation and Clinical Scores

Line graph displaying the correlation between the % BOLD signal of ipsilateral SMA at six months postsurgery-and clinical outcome, measured by mJOA at six months postsurgery. B) Line graph displaying the correlation between the % BOLD signal change of ipsilateral SMA from baseline to six month postsurgery and mJOA at six months.



Figure 2.5 Cortical Activation Predicts Clinical Outcome

Line graph displaying the correlation between baseline (presurgery) VOA on contralateral M1 (measured by the number of activated voxels) in patients with CSM and baseline function measured by mJOA score. B) Line graph displaying the correlation between the the VOA of contralateral M1 at and mJOA at six months, C). Line graph displaying the correlation between the change in M1 BOLD activation from baseline to 6 months after surgery and baseline mJOA scores.

2.7.2 Activation Profiles in CSM Patients

Patients with CSM demonstrated a different profile of cortical activation than control subjects. When compared with controls, we found that spinal cord compression resulted in a reduced VOA of contralateral S1, PMC and ipsilateral SMA, and a reduced % BOLD signal of contralateral SMA. This reduction in activation may reflect the compression of the spinal cord with attenuating signal transduction to the cortical motor networks. Specifically, the proprioceptive sensory feedback required to modulate synaptic recruitment may be impaired, reducing the level of activation.²⁹

When examining the longitudinal changes in activation, we observed a stable profile in the VOA from pre surgery to six months following surgery and a significant increase in the % BOLD signal of the ipsilateral SMA. Previous work has demonstrated that cerebral adaptations, in the form of reorganization of motor control, occur after brain and spinal cord injury to support recovery.^{6,30} Freund and colleagues observed both cord and cortical atrophy following spinal cord injury. This focused atrophy of the somatosensory cortex may contribute to the cortical reorganization that occurs after decompression surgery in patients with CSM. In addition, Kriz and colleagues demonstrated that the primary motor cortex becomes partially inhibited following spinal cord injury.²⁹ Changes in the contralateral M1, secondary to spinal cord injury, may result in additional recruitment of both primary and secondary motor areas to assist in the cortical demand of the motor task.¹⁵ Cortical atrophy following SCI may be a result of decreased cortical connectivity, reduced cellular activation or retrograde degeneration.³¹ Our group has recently

suggested that a change in the metabolic profile of the motor cortex may trigger cortical reorganization.^{10,12} Additionally, we have reported increases in the VOA within the contralateral M1/S1 following surgical intervention in CSM patients using a self-paced motor task.⁴ The exact mechanisms involved in neural organization and recruitment after neurological injury is not completely understood. There may be one, or more processes that lead to the plasticity observed in the motor system. Two possible explanations have been widely accepted. First is the modulation of preexisting connections, or the sprouting of new axonal connections³². For example, the dense network of horizontal connections within the primary motor cortex are not homogeneously distributed within M1. Plasticity of the motor system after injury may involve the modulation of these horizontal connections.³ Collateral sprouting from undamaged neurons may serve to preserve function by taking on the role of injured neuronal pools. The second proposed mechanism that leads to plasticity after spinal cord injury is a disruption in the inhibitory—excitatory balance, which produces a decrease in synaptic inhibition. The disruption of inhibitory influence has been shown to facilitate cortical reorganization through axonal sprouting.³²

Following spinal cord decompression, the integrity of the spinal cord is potentially restored, and sensory feedback signals that provide updated motor plans are potentially improved. Although the source of spinal cord compression is removed, residual injury within the spinal cord and motor cortex may still exist,¹⁰ requiring recruitment of additional areas of the brain to assist in motor performance. The current study highlights the importance of the ipsilateral motor network as it relates to neurological recovery. Six months following surgical decompression, we observed an increase in the % BOLD signal in ipsilateral SMA, which may represent the emergence of compensatory mechanisms during the recovery process. The SMA becomes preferentially activated during difficult tasks, learning, and in bimanual motor tasks, and has shown enhanced activation following cortical injury to assist in maintenance and recovery of function.^{6,33} This has been extensively observed in the stroke literature. Specifically, Calautti et al. performed a review of motor recovery after stroke and observed that recovery of motor control evolved from the unmasking of previously silent synapses, as well as an enhanced input of SMA and PMC.³⁴ A similar process may be occurring with spinal cord

compression. For example, Holly et al. demonstrated an expansion of the cortical representation of the affected extremity to include neighboring motor areas such as the SMA.¹⁴ These findings suggest there may be a role for functional brain imaging as a potential biomarker for recovery in patients with spinal cord compression, and that the ipsilateral motor network should be examined as an important contributor to functional recovery.

When comparing the longitudinal change in the VOA from baseline to six weeks in both controls and patients, there was a large reduction in the VOA of the motor network of controls. In contrast to controls, patients maintained or further increased their motor network activation. Although there was no difference in the change in the % BOLD signal from baseline to six weeks between controls and patients, a change emerged from six weeks to six months. When individuals have a disruption in the conduction between brain and muscle, as in cervical myelopathy, it may result in an altered perception of the magnitude of force applied to a certain task.³² When an individual cannot sustain a certain level of force required to complete a task, additional motor units may be recruited to compensate. This has been shown in previous studies where CSM patients have an increased VOA of primary motor cortex as compared with controls, perhaps from increased neural recruitment.^{4,14,35} Once the spinal cord is decompressed and signal transduction is improved, larger motor neurons are activated, allowing the volume of cortical activation to return to that of controls.³⁶ However, when continued cortical output is required, activated motor neurons may increase their firing rate, which may represent the increased strength in BOLD signal. We believe the increase we observe in the BOLD signal from ipsilateral SMA following surgery is the result of adaptive changes of the brain allowing for an increased synaptic efficiency and motor unit discharge rate.

2.7.3 Implications for Neural Recovery

Previous studies have demonstrated the functional significance of motor activation, demonstrating that increases in activation may be correlated with improved recovery.^{7,30}

In-vivo neuroimaging biomarkers that predict surgical success and recovery are lacking. Our study demonstrated neural recruitment of motor areas that may play a role in functional recovery. Recruitment of contralateral M1 at baseline was correlated with both a maintenance of function at baseline, and greater function six months following surgery. This may indicate that contralateral M1 activation before surgery may be able to predict motor function six months following surgery. Additionally, an increase in the % BOLD signal of ipsilateral SMA six months following surgery was associated with greater function six months following surgery. The change in the % BOLD signal from baseline to six months following surgery was correlated with improved function. This suggests that the % BOLD signal of the ipsilateral SMA may be an important indicator for recovery after chronic spinal cord compression.

2.7.4 Limitations

Limitations of the current study are important to note. There may have been subtle differences in finger tapping between subjects. Although we attempted to control for the rate of tapping by providing subjects with a visual cue, which is a standard technique reported previously by our group,⁴ alternations in the force of tapping may lead to variability in activation patterns. The severity of spinal compression in CSM patients will also lead to variability in function, sensory perception and consequently activation patterns between individuals. The variability in patient presentations and neurological recovery limits the interpretation of average group activation maps within the motor network between baseline and postsurgical time points.

2.8 Conclusions

Patients with spinal cord compression demonstrate the ability to recruit secondary motor regions six weeks and six months after surgery to assist in the cortical demands of neurological recovery. Cortical reorganization of the motor network may have a strong

influence on motor control and may be important in the maintenance of function after injury, and in the recovery process.

2.9 References

- Catalan, M. J., Honda, M., Weeks, R. A., Cohen, L. G. & Hallett, M. The functional neuroanatomy of simple and complex sequential finger movements: A PET study. *Brain* 121, 253-264 (1998).
- 2 Verstynen, T., Diedrichsen, J., Albert, N., Aparicio, P. & Ivry, R. B. Ipsilateral motor cortex activity during unimanual hand movements relates to task complexity. *Journal of Neurophysiology* **93**, 1209-1222 (2005).
- Raineteau, O. & Schwab, M. E. Plasticity of motor systems after incomplete spinal cord injury. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 2, 263-273, doi:10.1038/35067570 (2001).
- Duggal, N. *et al.* rain reorganization in patients with spinal cord compression evaluated using fMRI. *Neurology* 74, 1048-1054 (2010). evaluated using fMRI. *Neurology* 74, 1048-1054 (2010).
- 5 Favre, I. *et al.* Upper limb recovery after stroke is associated with ipsilesional primary motor cortical activity: a meta-analysis. *Stroke* **45**, 1077-1083, doi:10.1161/strokeaha.113.003168 (2014).
- Calautti, C. & Baron, J. C. Functional neuroimaging studies of motor recovery after stroke in adults: a review. *Stroke* 34, 1553-1566, doi:10.1161/01.str.0000071761.36075.a6 (2003).
- 7 Dong, Y. *et al.* Compensatory cerebral adaptations before and evolving changes after surgical decompression in cervical spondylotic myelopathy: Laboratory investigation. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine* **9**, 538-551 (2008).
- 8 Morio, Y. *et al.* Correlation between operative outcomes of cervical compression myelopathy and mri of the spinal cord. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* **26**, 1238-1245 (2001).
- Wada, E., Yonenobu, K., Suzuki, S., Kanazawa, A. & Ochi, T. Can intramedullary signal change on magnetic resonance imaging predict surgical outcome in cervical spondylotic myelopathy? *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* 24, 455-461; discussion 462 (1999).

- Aleksanderek, I. *et al.* Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy: Metabolite Changes in the Primary Motor Cortex after Surgery. *Radiology*, 152083, doi:10.1148/radiol.2016152083 (2016).
- Aleksanderek, I., Stevens, T. K., Goncalves, S., Bartha, R. & Duggal, N.
 Metabolite and functional profile of patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Journal of neurosurgery. Spine* 26, 547-553, doi:10.3171/2016.9.spine151507 (2017).
- 12 Goncalves, S., Stevens, T. K., Doyle-Pettypiece, P., Bartha, R. & Duggal, N. N-acetylaspartate in the motor and sensory cortices following functional recovery after surgery for cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Journal of neurosurgery. Spine* 25, 436-443, doi:10.3171/2016.2.spine15944 (2016).
- Kowalczyk, I., Duggal, N. & Bartha, R. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy of the motor cortex in cervical myelopathy. *Brain* 135, 461-468, doi:10.1093/brain/awr328 (2012).
- Holly, L. T., Dong, Y., Albistegui-DuBois, R., Marehbian, J. & Dobkin, B.
 Cortical reorganization in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Journal* of Neurosurgery: Spine.6, 544-551(2007).
- 15 Askim, T., Indredavik, B., Vangberg, T. & Håberg, A. Motor network changes associated with successful motor skill relearning after acute ischemic stroke: A longitudinal functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair* 23, 295-304 (2009).
- Carey, L. M., Abbott, D. F., Egan, G. F., Bernhardt, J. & Donnan, G. A. Motor impairment and recovery in the upper limb after stroke: behavioral and neuroanatomical correlates. *Stroke* 36, 625-629, doi:10.1161/01.str.0000155720.47711.83 (2005).
- Di Pino, G. *et al.* Modulation of brain plasticity in stroke: a novel model for neurorehabilitation. *Nature reviews. Neurology* 10, 597-608, doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2014.162 (2014).
- 18 Johansen-Berg, H. *et al.* The role of ipsilateral premotor cortex in hand movement after stroke. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 14518-14523 (2002).

- 19 Zeller, D. *et al.* Functional role of ipsilateral motor areas in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* **82**, 578-583 (2011).
- Mutha, P. K., Haaland, K. Y. & Sainburg, R. L. The effects of brain lateralization on motor control and adaptation. *Journal of Motor Behaviour.* 44, 455-469, (2012).
- 21 Kato, S. & Fehlings, M. Degenerative cervical myelopathy. *Current reviews in musculoskeletal medicine* **9**, 263-271, doi:10.1007/s12178-016-9348-5 (2016).
- 22 Kalsi-Ryan, S., Karadimas, S. K. & Fehlings, M. G. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: The clinical phenomenon and the current pathobiology of an increasingly prevalent and devastating disorder. *Neuroscientist* **19**, 409-421 (2013).
- Mikl, M. *et al.* Effects of spatial smoothing on fMRI group inferences. *Magnetic Resonance Imaging* 26, 490-503 (2008).
- 24 Ashworth, N. L., Satkunam, L. E. & Deforge, D. Treatment for spasticity in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, Cd004156, doi:10.1002/14651858.CD004156.pub2 (2004).
- 25 Peterson, D. S., Pickett, K. A., Duncan, R., Perlmutter, J. & Earhart, G. M. Gaitrelated brain activity in people with Parkinson disease with freezing of gait. *PloS* one 9, e90634, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0090634 (2014).
- 26 Witt, S. T., Meyerand, M. E. & Laird, A. R. Functional neuroimaging correlates of finger tapping task variations: An ALE meta-analysis. *NeuroImage* 42, 343-356, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.04.025 (2008).
- Waters-Metenier, S., Husain, M., Wiestler, T. & Diedrichsen, J. Bihemispheric transcranial direct current stimulation enhances effector-independent representations of motor synergy and sequence learning. *Journal of Neuroscience* 34, 1037-1050 (2014).
- Dayan, E. & Cohen, Leonardo G. Neuroplasticity Subserving Motor Skill
 Learning. *Neuron* 72, 443-454,doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.10.008
 (2011).
- 29 Kriz, J., Kozak, J. & Zedka, M. Primary motor cortex inhibition in spinal cord injuries. *Neuro endocrinology letters* 33, 431-441 (2012).

- 30 Sadato, N., Yonekura, Y., Waki, A., Yamada, H. & Ishii, Y. Role of the supplementary motor area and the right premotor cortex in the coordination of bimanual finger movements. *Journal of Neuroscience* 17, 9667-9674 (1997).
- 31 Freund, P. *et al.* Disability, atrophy and cortical reorganization following spinal cord injury. *Brain*.**134**, 1610-1622 (2011).
- Herdmann, J., Reiners, K. & Freund, H. J. Motor unit recruitment order in neuropathic disease. *Electromyography and Clinical Neurophysiology* 28, 53-60 (1988).
- 33 Arai, N., Lu, M.-K., Ugawa, Y. & Ziemann, U. Effective connectivity between human supplementary motor area and primary motor cortex: a paired colied TMS study. *Experimental Brain Research.* 220, 79-87 (2012).
- 34 Calautti, C. & Baron, J. C. Functional neuroimaging studies of motor recovery after stroke in adults: a review. *Stroke* **34**, 1553-1566,
- 35 Hrabalek, L. *et al.* [Effects of spinal cord decompression in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy oncortical brain activations]. *Rozhledy v chirurgii : mesicnik Ceskoslovenske chirurgicke spolecnosti* **93**, 530-535 (2014).
- Heeger, D. J. & Ress, D. What does fMRI tell us about neuronal activity? *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 3, 142-151 (2002).

3 Differential Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Anti-phase and In-phase Motor Tasks

State of Publication: <u>Ryan, K.</u>, Schranz, A., Duggal, N., Bartha, R. Differential Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Anti-phase versus In-phase Motor Tasks. In preparation for submission to Frontiers in Human Neuroscience

3.1 Abstract

Ageing is associated with a general decline in motor function that critically interferes with activities of daily living involving bimanual motor movements. Cortical adaptation may preserve the function of these hand movements in aging adults. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is a form of non-invasive brain stimulation that has been shown to enhance manual dexterity in healthy aging adult. The supplementary motor area (SMA) is involved in motor preparation and bimanual control; bihemispheric tDCS incorporating the SMA may therefore preferentially enhance bimanual motor movements in healthy older adults. The aim of the current study was to determine if tDCS incorporating SMA in a bihemispheric approach could improve manual dexterity in older adults. Twenty-four healthy older adults, aged 67-84 participated in this double-blind, randomized, cross over design study. One group of participants (n=17) were randomized to receive stimulation or sham on their first visit and received the contrary on their second visit, seven days later. A second group of participants (n=10) received three consecutive days of tDCS while performing a motor task. In all cases, participants performed the Complete Minnesota Dexterity Task, which utilizes five motor tasks to assess unimanual and bimanual dexterity while receiving 2 mA of tDCS. The total time for participants to complete three trials of each of the five tasks was recorded. No significant differences in performance were observed between single session tDCS and sham conditions. Furthermore, tDCS did not enhance the execution of the motor task after three consecutive days. However, tDCS had opposing effects on the motor consolidation of antiphase and in-phase bimanual tasks. Application of bihemispheric tDCS did not improve unimanual task performance speed during a single session or tri session paradigm. However, during the tri session paradigm, healthy older adults improved performance learning of antiphase bimanual movements more quickly than inphase bimanual movements, suggesting a different mechanism of action of these two movements.

3.2 Keywords

Transcranial direct current stimulation, motor task, motor enhancement, antiphase task, inphase task, supplementary motor area

3.3 Introduction

Reduced accuracy and speed of motor movements, and a loss of fine motor control are common in healthy aging ^{1,2}. To compensate for these age related declines, studies have shown increased cortical activation of the ipsilateral motor cortex when completing both unimanual and bimanual motor tasks ^{3,4}. The execution of bimanual finger coordination tasks involves increased activation of the supplementary motor area (SMA) and pre motor cortex (PMC) compared to unimanual tasks ^{5,6}. These regions also play an important role in the dynamic integration of both limbs. This adaptive plasticity of the motor cortex is well documented in neurological injury such as stroke and spinal cord injury ⁷⁻⁹. Motor related cortical excitability can be naturally enhanced through practice or rehabilitation ¹⁰. Therefore, mechanisms that exogenously enhance cortical excitability may improve motor performance or slow the deterioration of motor skills in both healthy aging adults and those with neurological injury.

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is a form of non-invasive brain stimulation that has been shown to alter motor behavior by applying continuous, weak current to the motor cortex during training of a motor task ¹¹⁻¹⁴. By targeting the motor areas of the brain, cortical plasticity can be manipulated to enhance motor functions such as manual dexterity and motor skill learning ^{13,15}. As bimanual hand movements have been shown to involve a complex organization of cortical activity in both hemispheres, providing stimulation to both cortices may provide optimal enhancement ^{6,16,17}. Previous studies using bihemispheric tDCS, have shown enhanced motor behavior in complex and simple motor tasks compared to a traditional unihemispheric paradigm ^{10,16-19}. In addition, consecutive, multisession tDCS, in combination with motor practice, is associated with increased corticospinal excitability compared to single session tDCS or application on alternate days ²⁰.

The SMA has become a recent target of tDCS to enhance motor dexterity due to its direct role in motor planning and execution and strong connections to the primary motor cortex

(M1)^{6,21-26}. In the current study, we investigated the effect of applying bihemispheric tDCS for three consecutive days compared to single session tDCS, while healthy older adults completed a motor dexterity task. We hypothesized that applying tDCS during the execution of a motor task would increase cortical excitability and result in improved motor dexterity in healthy older adults. Furthermore, based on previous findings, we hypothesized that bihemispheric tDCS targeting the SMA would preferentially improve the execution of bimanual tasks compared to unimanual tasks ^{6,25}. In addition, three consecutive days of tDCS and motor practice were expected to enhance motor performance compared to a single tDCS session.

3.4 Methods

3.4.1 Participants

Twenty-four healthy older adults participated in this study (10 female, average age 73 \pm 5, all were right handed). None of the subjects reported any history of neurologic or psychiatric disorders. The study was approved by the Western University Health Sciences Research Ethics Board, conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

3.4.2 Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation

tDCS was applied by a DC-Stimulator (Neuroconn, Germany) for 20 minutes. Direct current (2 mA) was applied to bilateral motor areas while the participant performed the prescribed motor task. Rubber electrodes were $3x3 \text{ cm}^2$, providing a total current density of 0.22 mA/cm² and a total charge with respect to time of 0.27 C/cm². Electrodes were placed in saline soaked sponge pockets and positioned on each participant using the EEG 10-10 system, which has been shown to be a reliable localization tool ²⁷. The cathode was placed on the left primary motor cortex (C3), and the anode was placed on the right

supplementary motor area (FC₂). For stimulation, current was ramped up over 10 seconds to reach 2 mA and held constant for 20 minutes, followed by a 10s ramp down period. During sham stimulation, current was ramped up over 10s and then immediately turned off, as it has been shown that subjects are unable to distinguish between sham and true tDCS using this paradigm 13,28 .

3.4.3 Motor Task

The Complete Minnesota Manual Dexterity Test (CMMDT) is a standardized measure of both gross and fine dexterity ²⁹. The CMMDT is composed of two thick cedar boards measuring 23.5 x 85 x 3 cm³ with 58 wells for cylindrical blocks. The test is composed of five subtests. The Placing Test, the Displacing Test, the One-Hand Turning and Placing Test are all executed using the dominant hand only (unimanual). The Turning and the Two-Hand Turning and Placing Test are executed using both hands (bimanual). Together, these tasks measure both fine and gross unimanual and bimanual dexterity. The test has a high two-trial reliability of 0.91 and correlates well with alternate tasks of gross and fine dexterity ³⁰.

Standardized instructions were given to the participant before each of the subtests at every session and participants were able to practice each subtest before timing began. All subtests were performed with the subject standing at a waist high table. Each of the five tasks were completed three times, the order of the tasks was the same for all participants. The amount of time to perform each trial was recorded and averaged over the three trials. In the ready position, with the participants hand touching the first block, time started when the experimenter gave a count down from '3-2-1 Go' and stopped when the hand left the final block placement. If the participant dropped a block at any point, they were told to retrieve it as time continued; drops were noted during each test.

3.4.4 Experimental Protocol

The current study explored two different methodological designs of tDCS motor enhancement: single session and multiple session tDCS. Seventeen (6 females) individuals participated in the single session (Experiment 1) and ten (4 females) participated in the multi-day sessions (Experiment 2). There were three individuals who participated in both. In this crossover, double-blind, within-subjects design, subjects were pseudo-randomized to have a balanced number across the groups. Subjects completed the motor task while concurrently receiving tDCS. Sham and stimulation sessions were separated by one week to prevent carry-over effects.

3.4.4.1 Single-session tDCS

Each of the seventeen subjects participated in two sessions, where they received either sham or bihemispheric tDCS in a randomized order. Subjects completed the CMMDT, which is comprised of the five sub tasks listed above. Participants were given a practice trial of each of the five motor tasks before performance was timed. tDCS began before the first practice trial of the first task and ended after 20 minutes.

3.4.4.2 Multi-day tDCS (3 consecutive days)

Each of the 10 participants were randomized to receive either three consecutive days of motor training plus tDCS, or motor training and sham. Every subject participated in both sham and tDCS, resulting in six sessions altogether. Session one, two, and three took place on consecutive days; session four, five and six took place on consecutive days one week later. All other aspects of Experiment 2 were identical to Experiment 1.

3.4.5 Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS (version 22). The average time of the three trials for each of the five sub tasks were calculated. For the single-session tDCS, a 2 (condition) x 5 (task) MANOVA was performed. Since tDCS may have differing effects for unimanual and bimanual dexterity, we performed a 2 (condition) x 3 (unimanual tasks) MANOVA and a 2 (condition) x 2 (bimanual tasks) MANOVA. For multi-day tDCS, a 2 (condition) x 5 (task) x 3 (day) MANOVA was performed. To determine the differential effects on unimanual and bimanual dexterity over a three day session we also performed a 2 (condition) x 3 (unimanual task) x 3 (day) MANOVA. Post-hoc t-tests were performed for each subtask for sham and stimulation. Significance was set at p < 0.05.

3.5 Results

3.5.1 Single Session tDCS

All participants tolerated tDCS without any adverse effects. The overall MANOVA (including all 5 subtasks) showed no significant effect of condition ($F_{(15,1)} = 0.938$, p=0.35). However, there was a main effect of task ($F_{(12,4)} = 316.9$, p < 0.001), which was expected, as the tasks were not equal in difficulty or time to completion. There was no significant interaction between condition and task, ($F_{(12,4)} = 1.36$, p=0.30, Figure 3.1).

3.5.1.1 Unimanual Motor Tasks

Three of the five subtests involved unimanual dexterity. There was no main effect of condition ($F_{(15,1)} = 1.57$, p=0.22). However, a main effect of task was observed ($F_{(14,2)} = 729.8$, p<0.0001). There was no significant interaction effect ($F_{(14,2)} = 2.38$, p=0.12).

3.5.1.2 Bimanual Motor Tasks

Two of the five subtests involved bimanual dexterity. There was no main effect of condition ($F_{(15,1)} = 0.26$, p=0.61). However, a main effect of task was observed ($F_{(15,1)} = 9.67$, p<0.01). There was no significant interaction ($F_{(15,1)} = 0.51$, p=0.48).



Figure 3.1. Single session tDCS versus sham. No differences were observed between tDCS and sham in any of the tasks.

3.5.2 Multi-session tDCS

When all five subtasks were combined, we observed no significant main effect of condition ($F_{(9,1)} = 0.004$, p=0.95). However a main effect of task ($F_{(6.4)} = 81.2$, p<0.0001) and day were observed ($F_{(8,2)} = 464.5$, p<0.0001). There were no interactions between condition, day, or task. (Figure 3.2).

3.5.2.1 Unimanual Motor Tasks

When tasks were stratified based on unimanual dexterity, we observed a significant main effect of task ($F(_{8,2}) = 180.9$, p < 0.0001) and day ($F_{(8,2)} = 95.5$, p < 0.0001). There was also a significant interaction between task and day, ($F_{(6,4)} = 5.33$, p = 0.035). There was no main effect of condition ($F_{(9,1)} = 0.001$, p = 0.97).

3.5.2.2 Bimanual Motor Tasks

A main effect of task ($F_{(9,1)} = 11.57$, p < 0.01) and day ($F_{(8.2)} = 68.18$, p < 0.0001) were observed for bimanual tasks. In addition, we observed a significant interaction of condition and task, ($F_{(9,1)} = 4.98$, p < 0.05) and a significant interaction of condition, day, and task ($F_{(8,2)} = 5.32$, p < 0.05). Post hoc t-tests revealed significant motor consolidation from day one to day two in the sham condition for the two hand turn and place task (in-phase) compared to the stimulation condition. Participants improved their completion time by an average of 12.5 seconds in the sham condition and only 5.1 seconds in the stimulation condition (p < 0.05). There was no main effect of condition ($F_{(9,1)} = 0.26$, p = 0.87).



Figure 3.2. Multisession tDCS versus sham. Significant learning effect over the three days was observed for both sham and stimulation condition.

3.6 Discussion

The aim of the current study was to examine the effects of bihemispheric M1-SMA tDCS on manual dexterity in healthy older adults. Although the effect of tDCS on unimanual dexterity has been previously reported, the possible beneficial effect of tDCS on bimanual dexterity is understudied. We observed no effect of single session bihemispheric stimulation on unimanual or bimanual dexterity. However, tri session tDCS, had opposing effects on motor consolidation of antiphase and in-phase bimanual movements. Coordinated bimanual movements form the basis of many everyday motor skills and can become impaired in older adults ². Previous research has shown cortical adaptation during motor skill learning occurs in healthy older adults. Specifically, the

SMA, which is involved in bilateral movement coordination, movement initiation and sequential motor learning, is preferentially active during the learning of a motor task ^{6,22,23,31}. By applying tDCS over SMA, studies have observed improved reaction times, early response initiation and improved bimanual coordination ²²⁻²⁵. Recently, it has been shown that a bihemispheric electrode montage provides optimal motor improvements, especially for those involving bimanual control ^{16,32}. Specifically, bihemispheric M1-M1 provides optimal motor activation and improved motor performance compared to the traditional unihemispheric approach ^{16,32}. It has been suggested that by stimulating SMA, enhancement of motor preparation can occur via alterations in the cortico-cortical connections with M1 ²². By stimulating both SMA and M1, as in the current study, we aimed to enhance both intra and inter hemispheric connections between SMA and M1 to provide enhancement of bimanual motor tasks.

Cortical representations for unimanual and bimanual motor tasks are different ^{5,6}. Therefore, it is reasonable to expect that these tasks may be differentially affected by the application of tDCS, particularly when applying bihemispheric tDCS, as in the current study. To ensure one aspect of manual dexterity was not driving our results, we chose to observe unimanual and bimanual dexterity separately. In single session tDCS, we did not observe any significant enhancements or diminutions of motor performance compared to sham in our cohort of healthy older adults. The literature has been highly variable regarding the effect of single session tDCS on motor performance ³³⁻³⁶. Using 15 different single session tDCS paradigms, Horvath et al. found no significant difference between any stimulation paradigms compared to sham using a simple visuomotor reaction time task ³⁵. This study concluded that short duration, or single session tDCS over M1 may not have a reliable effect on simple visuomotor reaction times ³⁵. Considering the studies showing motor performance differences after single session tDCS, most report no differences during the task. Rather, the effect was observed after the stimulation period had ended, indicating tDCS may have more prominent effects on motor consolidation and retention rather than motor execution ^{36,37}. This interpretation is consistent with our results, which showed no differences in motor performance during a single session of bihemispheric tDCS.

It is thought that tDCS assists in the retention and consolidation of motor tasks, therefore optimal motor enhancement may be achieved by multiple tDCS and training sessions 10,13,38 . In a study of twelve healthy subjects, Alonzo *et al.* found that multiday, consecutive applications of tDCS were associated with greater increases in motor evoked potential amplitude compared to tDCS application on alternate days ²⁰. Multiday application of tDCS allows for the consolidation of offline effects (motor improvements that occur after the motor task is completed), and maintains an increased state of corticomotor excitability between sessions. This heightened corticomotor excitability is thought to play a major role in motor enhancement ^{20,38}. In the current study, a significant learning effect was observed in both sham and stimulation conditions. However, bihemispheric tDCS did not have an additive effect on unimanual tasks, even after three consecutive days. Hupfield et al. obtained a similar result using anodal tDCS applied to the SMA over three consecutive days. They did not find enhanced performance on the grooved pegboard task, a test of unimanul dexterity ²⁵. This result may indicate that anodal tDCS to the SMA preferentially enhances bimanual motor tasks. A previous study by Gomes-Osman observed enhanced performance on a bimanual typing task after a five day course of bihemispheric M1-M1 tDCS. The change in motor performance was significantly enhanced from pre-task day 1 to post task day 5 compared to sham, indicating bihemispheric tDCS may increase motor consolidation of bimanual tasks ¹⁰. Furthermore, Reis and colleagues applied anodal tDCS to M1, assessing the impact on both within day (online) and between day (offline) effects ³⁸. They observed a greater total (online plus offline) skill acquisition with tDCS compared to sham suggesting this result was primarily mediated through the enhancement of offline effects ³⁸. Using a three consecutive day paradigm, the present study did not observe a main effect of bihemispheric tDCS on motor performance. This may be due to our measurement of motor skill *during* the task. It is possible that motor performance measured after the cessation of tDCS, could better elucidate an offline effect.

When controlling for unimanual compared to bimanual hand movements, we observed a differential effect of tDCS for in-phase and anti-phase bimanual hand movements. In the CMMDT, there are two tasks requiring bimanual motor movements, the two hand turn

and place task, and the turning task. The two hand turn and place task required both hands to act symmetrically, mirroring the action of the other (in-phase), whereas, the turning task required each hand to perform synchronized movements in the same direction (antiphase), therefore out of phase by 180 degrees (supination / pronation of the hand). Previous literature has shown that anti-phase movements become more variable and less accurate when participants are required to perform at a faster pace ²³. In addition, in a study using functional magnetic resonance imaging, the magnitude of SMA activation was greater during antiphase tasks relative to in-phase, indicating that SMA is important in bimanual control, and antiphase coordination may be preferentially enhanced with anodal tDCS of SMA⁶. In the current study, there was a significant differential learning effect of tDCS on antiphase and inphase tasks. Offline learning from day one to day two was significantly worse for in-phase motor tasks in the stimulation condition compared to sham (Figure 3). Carter et al. observed a similar result; in their study using anodal tDCS to SMA, participants were able to perform antiphase movements more accurately and consistently compared to sham. Furthermore, anodal tDCS had no effect on in-phase motor performance. The authors concluded that in-phase patterns are more stable and less likely to be affected by enhancing SMA²³. In the current study, there was an inhibition of offline motor consolidation for the in-phase task (Figure 3 B). As in-phase motor movements are not dependent on SMA activation, its exogenous excitation in the current study may have induced unnecessary noise into the system, altering reciprocal inhibition patterns, thereby slowing motor consolidation. In healthy individuals, each motor cortex provides reciprocal inhibition to the other to promote coordinated movements ³⁹. By providing excitatory stimulus to both hemispheres, the complex communication between the motor networks and SMA may have disrupted motor consolidation for in-phase tasks. Further research is necessary to elucidate the mechanism of motor consolidation in bimanual motor movements. By the third day of motor learning, there was no difference in motor performance or consolidation between sham and tDCS. The SMA is preferentially active during motor skill learning and decreases in activity when the skill has been successfully learned ^{25,39}. Perhaps by day three of motor learning, the task was no longer novel, and no longer required recruitment of SMA. Therefore enhancing SMA activity resulted in no further

increases in motor consolidation. It is also possible that participants reached a ceiling effect and no further enhancements we observed.



Figure 3.3. Differing effects of stimulation on in-phase and antiphase tasks. Time of completion of anti-phase and in-phase motor tasks over the three consecutive day period of both sham and stimulation protocols. Anti-phase and in-phase bimanual movements show opposing pattern of learning during sham and stimulation. B) The effects of stimulation on learning from Day 1 to Day 2 had different effects on anti-phase and in-phase tasks. We observed a significant reduction in learning from day one to day two in the stimulation condition for in-phase tasks, such that participants performed an average of 12.5 seconds faster in the sham condition and only 5.1 in the stimulation condition (*p<0.05).

3.6.1 Limitations

There are a several limitations that should be considered in the current study. First, a baseline pre-test of motor performance was not completed before stimulation or sham began. Therefore, contributions of motor learning through practice cannot be isolated. As there was a significant effect of day, indicating practice did have an effect on motor performance, the additive effect of stimulation would need to be greater to observe a significant effect of stimulation. Furthermore, recent tDCS literature has shown the presence of "non-responders", individuals who do not respond at all, or in the opposite direction of intended tDCS effect. A study by Davidson *et al.* observed high variability in MEP amplitude due to 40-50% of individuals classified as "non-responders"⁴⁰. An increase in the sample size, and the inclusion of a baseline measurement may have decreased the variability observed in the current study. Additionally, all measurements of motor enhancements were completed during the application of bihemispheric tDCS, with no inclusion of a post-test measurement. We therefore cannot determine whether the stimulation paradigm had an effect on long term motor retention. A further limitation of the present study was that we did not include direct neurophysiological measures of cortical excitability, and therefore can only infer that there were changes based on published evidence. ¹²

3.7 Conclusion

Bihemispheric tDCS incorporating the SMA has the potential to modulate bimanual motor performance in healthy, aging adults. Bimanual hand movements are a part of many aspects of daily living and are important to maintain. The paradigm used in the current study has the potential to assist in maintaining bimanual motor dexterity in healthy aging adults, and may be extended to neurorehabilitation. Further research that incorporates SMA in tDCS paradigms is required to fully elucidate the mechanism behind motor training consolidation and retention in older adults.

3.8 References

- Shea, C. H., Park, J. H. & Braden, H. W. Age-related effects in sequential motor learning. *Physical therapy* 86, 478-488 (2006).
- 2 Giampaoli, S. *et al.* Hand-grip strength predicts incident disability in non-disabled older men. *Age and ageing* **28**, 283-288 (1999).
- 3 Mattay, V. S. *et al.* Neurophysiological correlates of age-related changes in human motor function. *Neurology* **58**, 630-635 (2002).
- Hutchinson, S. *et al*. Age related differences in movement representation.
 Neuroimage 4 1720-1728 (2002).
- 5 Sadato, N., Yonekura, Y., Waki, A., Yamada, H. & Ishii, Y. Role of the supplementary motor area and the right premotor cortex in the coordination of bimanual finger movements. *Journal of Neuroscience* 17, 9667-9674 (1997).
- 6 Grefkes, C., Eickhoff, S. B., Nowak, D. A., Dafotakis, M. & Fink, G. R. Dynamic intra- and interhemispheric interactions during unilateral and bilateral hand movements assessed with fMRI and DCM. *Neuroimage* 41, 1382-1394, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.03.048 (2008).
- 7 Duggal, N. *et al.* Brain reorganization in patients with spinal cord compression evaluated using fMRI. *Neurology* **74**, 1048-1054 (2010).
- Calautti, C. & Baron, J. C. Functional neuroimaging studies of motor recovery after stroke in adults: a review. *Stroke* 34, 1553-1566, doi:10.1161/01.str.0000071761.36075.a6 (2003).
- 9 Ryan, K., Goncalves, S., Bartha, R. & Duggal, N. Motor network recovery in patients with chronic spinal cord compression : a longitudinal study following decompression surgery. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine*, **28** 379-388 (2018).
- Gomes-Osman, J. & Field-Fote, E. C. Bihemispheric anodal corticomotor stimulation using transcranial direct current stimulation improves bimanual typing task performance. *Journal of motor behavior* 45, 361-367, doi:10.1080/00222895.2013.808604 (2013).

- Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. *The Journal of physiology* 527 Pt 3, 633-639 (2000).
- Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Sustained excitability elevations induced by transcranial DC motor cortex stimulation in humans. *Neurology* 57, 1899-1901 (2001).
- Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Transcranial direct current stimulation--update 2011.
 Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience 29, 463-492, doi:10.3233/rnn-2011-0618 (2011).
- 14 Stagg, C. J. & Nitsche, M. A. Physiological basis of transcranial direct current stimulation. *Neuroscientist* **17**, 37-53, doi:10.1177/1073858410386614 (2011).
- 15 Nitsche, M. A. *et al.* Facilitation of implicit motor learning by weak transcranial direct current stimulation of the primary motor cortex in the human. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience* **15**, 619-626, doi:10.1162/089892903321662994 (2003).
- Waters, S., Wiestler, T. & Diedrichsen, J. Cooperation Not Competition:
 Bihemispheric tDCS and fMRI Show Role for Ipsilateral Hemisphere in Motor
 Learning. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 37, 7500-7512, doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3414-16.2017 (2017).
- Waters-Metenier, S., Husain, M., Wiestler, T. & Diedrichsen, J. Bihemispheric transcranial direct current stimulation enhances effector-independent representations of motor synergy and sequence learning. *Journal of Neuroscience* 34, 1037-1050 (2014).
- 18 Wiestler, T. & Diedrichsen, J. Skill learning strengthens cortical representations of motor sequences. *eLife* **2**, e00801, doi:10.7554/eLife.00801 (2013).
- 19 Vines, B. W., Cerruti, C. & Schlaug, G. Dual-hemisphere tDCS facilitates greater improvements for healthy subjects' non-dominant hand compared to unihemisphere stimulation. *BMC neuroscience* 9, 103, doi:10.1186/1471-2202-9-103 (2008).
- 20 Alonzo, A., Brassil, J., Taylor, J. L., Martin, D. & Loo, C. K. Daily transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) leads to greater increases in cortical excitability

than second daily transcranial direct current stimulation. *Brain stimulation* **5**, 208-213, doi:10.1016/j.brs.2011.04.006 (2012).

- 21 Arai, N., Lu, M.-K., Ugawa, Y. & Ziemann, U. Effective connectivity between human supplementary motor area and primary motor cortex: a paired colied TMS study. *Experimental Brain Research.* 220, 79-87 (2012).
- 22 Carlsen, A. N., Eagles, J. S. & MacKinnon, C. D. Transcranial direct current stimulation over the supplementary motor area modulates the preparatory activation level in the human motor system. *Behavioural brain research* 279, 68-75, doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2014.11.009 (2015).
- 23 Carter, M. J., Maslovat, D. & Carlsen, A. N. Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation applied over the supplementary motor area delays spontaneous antiphase-to-in-phase transitions. *Journal of neurophysiology* **113**, 780-785, doi:10.1152/jn.00662.2014 (2015).
- 24 Hayduk-Costa, G., Drummond, N. M. & Carlsen, A. N. Anodal tDCS over SMA decreases the probability of withholding an anticipated action. *Behavioural brain research* 257, 208-214, doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2013.09.030 (2013).
- 25 Hupfeld, K. E., Ketcham, C. J. & Schneider, H. D. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) to the supplementary motor area (SMA) influences performance on motor tasks. *Experimental brain research* 235, 851-859, doi:10.1007/s00221-016-4848-5 (2017).
- 26 Luppino, G., Matelli, M., Camarda, R. & Rizzolatti, G. Corticocortical connections of area F3 (SMA-proper) and area F6 (pre-SMA) in the Macaque monkey. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* **338**, 114-140 (1993).
- Jurcak, V., Tsuzuki, D. & Dan, I. 10/20, 10/10, and 10/5 systems revisited: their validity as relative head-surface-based positioning systems. *Neuroimage* 34, 1600-1611, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.09.024 (2007).
- Gandiga, P. C., Hummel, F. C. & Cohen, L. G. Transcranial DC stimulation (tDCS): a tool for double-blind sham-controlled clinical studies in brain stimulation. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 117, 845-850, doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2005.12.003 (2006).

- 29 Fleishman, E. A. & Hempel, W. E. A Factor Analysis of Dexterity Tests. Personnel Psychology.7, 15-22 (1954).
- 30 Desrosiers, J., Rochette, A., Hebert, R. The Minnesota manual dexterity test: reliability, validity and reference values studies with healthy eldery people. *Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy.*, 5 (1997).
- 31 Rao, S. M. *et al.* Functional magnetic resonance imaging of complex human movements. *Neurology* **43**, 2311-2318 (1993).
- 32 Lindenberg, R., Nachtigall, L., Meinzer, M., Sieg, M. M. & Flöel, A. Differential Effects of Dual and Unihemispheric Motor Cortex Stimulation in Older Adults. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 33, 9176-9183, doi:10.1523/jneurosci.0055-13.2013 (2013).
- Floel, A. tDCS-enhanced motor and cognitive function in neurological diseases.
 Neuroimage 85 Pt 3, 934-947, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.05.098 (2014).
- Horvath, J. C., Forte, J. D. & Carter, O. Evidence that transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) generates little-to-no reliable neurophysiologic effect beyond MEP amplitude modulation in healthy human subjects: A systematic review. *Neuropsychologia* 66, 213-236, doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2014.11.021 (2015).
- Horvath, J. C., Carter, O. & Forte, J. D. No significant effect of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) found on simple motor reaction time comparing 15 different simulation protocols. *Neuropsychologia* 91, 544-552, doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.09.017 (2016).
- 36 Parikh, P. J. & Cole, K. J. Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation in combination with motor practice on dexterous grasping and manipulation in healthy older adults. *Physiological reports* 2, e00255, doi:10.1002/phy2.255 (2014).
- 37 Parikh, P. J. & Cole, K. J. Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on the control of finger force during dexterous manipulation in healthy older adults. *PloS* one 10, e0124137, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0124137 (2015).
- 38 Reis, J. *et al.* Noninvasive cortical stimulation enhances motor skill acquisition over multiple days through an effect on consolidation. *Proceedings of the*

National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **106**, 1590-1595, doi:10.1073/pnas.0805413106 (2009).

- Lefebvre, S. & Liew, S. L. Anatomical Parameters of tDCS to Modulate the Motor System after Stroke: A Review. *Frontiers in neurology* 8, 29, doi:10.3389/fneur.2017.00029 (2017).
- Davidson, T. W., Bolic, M. & Tremblay, F. Predicting Modulation in Corticomotor Excitability and in Transcallosal Inhibition in Response to Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation. *Frontiers in human neuroscience* 10, 49, doi:10.3389/fnhum.2016.00049 (2016).
Chapter 4

 ¹H MR Spectroscopy of the Motor Cortex Immediately Following Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation at 7 Tesla

Publication statement: Ryan, K., Wawrzyn,K., Gati, J., Chronik, BA., Wong, D., Duggal, N., Bartha, R. 1H MR Spectropscopy of the Motor Cortex Immediately Following Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation at 7 Tesla. Submitted to PLoS One.

4.1 Abstract

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is a form of non-invasive brain stimulation that may modulate, cortical excitability, metabolite concentration, and human behaviour. The supplementary motor area (SMA) has been largely ignored as a potential target for tDCS neurorehabilitation but is an important region in motor compensation after brain injury with strong efferent connections to the primary motor cortex (M1). The objective of this work was to measure tissue metabolite changes in the human motor cortex immediately following tDCS. We hypothesized that bihemispheric tDCS would change levels of metabolites involved in neuromodulation including N-acetylaspartate, glutamate, and creatine. In this single-blind, randomized, cross-over study, fifteen healthy adults aged 21-60 participated in two 7T MRI sessions, to identify changes in metabolite concentrations by magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Immediately after 20 minutes of tDCS, there were no significant changes in metabolite levels or metabolite ratios comparing tDCS to sham. There was a strong, positive correlation between the change in the absolute concentration of NAA and the change in the absolute concentration of tCr (p < 0.001), suggesting an effect of tDCS. Both NAA and creatine are important markers of neurometabolism. Our findings provide novel insight into the modulation of neural metabolites in the motor cortex *immediately following* application of bihemispheric tDCS.

4.2 Key Words

Transcranial direct current stimulation, magnetic resonance spectroscopy, creatine, *N*-acetyl-aspartate

4.3 Introduction

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is a form of non-invasive brain stimulation that has shown promise in modulating cortical excitability and behavior in humans ¹⁻⁴. However, many facets of its use remain controversial. For example, the optimization of stimulation parameters (current level, duration, electrode montage, etc.), characterization of individual response variability, and the physiological mechanism of action are still under active investigation.

Several potential mechanisms of action have been proposed based on pharmacological, behavioural, and imaging studies ^{1-3,5,6}. At current levels of 1mA, tDCS is thought to induce alterations of the membrane potential, with anodal tDCS making it more likely, and cathodal tDCS making it less likely, for an action potential to fire ^{7,8}. However, the level of current may also impact the neuronal response to stimulation. At 2 mA, cathodal stimulation has been shown to have an excitatory influence on membrane potential. This has been thought to occur due to an increased release of Ca²⁺ at the higher current.⁹ Furthermore, current penetrates deeper into cortical tissues, potentially causing dendritic depolarization at a sufficient level to excite adjacent neuronal structures.⁹ Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) provides a means to investigate the effects of tDCS on cellular metabolism and synaptic transmission as it can be used to non-invasively quantify cerebral metabolites in vivo, including glutamate (Glu) and gammaaminobutyric acid (GABA). Previous MRS studies have shown changes in excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitter levels, minutes after tDCS, with current levels ranging from 1-2 mA ^{6,7,10-14}. Other studies have suggested that creatine may have an important role in bioenergetics and neuromodulation¹⁵⁻¹⁷. For example, Rae *et al.* found an increase in adenosine-triphosphate (ATP) synthesis, with a decrease in the concentration of phosphocreatine in the left temporo-frontal region following anodal tDCS to the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex¹⁷. In another study, 2mA of anodal tDCS to the right parietal cortex caused an increase in both Glx and total N-aceytl-aspartate (NAA + NAAG) relative to sham, measured from the parietal cortex ¹⁰, while a study by Stagg

and colleagues ⁷ found that 1 mA of cathodal stimulation to left M1 decreased Glx under the electrode. Other studies have found no effect. For example, Kim *et. al.* found no changes after 1.5 mA of cathodal tDCS to left M1 in any metabolite measured under the stimulating electrode.¹⁸ Similarly, using 1mA of current in an M1-M1 bihemispheric montage, Tremblay *et. al.* found no significant changes in any metabolite in left M1¹⁹. These conflicting results are difficult to interpret, and leads to uncertainty with regards to the implementation of an optimum stimulation paradigm.

The application of tDCS to improve motor performance and recovery in neurological disorders requires optimization of stimulation parameters. Bihemispheric tDCS can enhance both behavior and physiological responses in healthy and neurologically injured individuals ²⁰⁻²². The supplementary motor area (SMA) has proven to be an important area of the brain during the execution of bimanual hand movements²³, and plays a compensatory role during the recovery of both stroke and spinal cord injury ²⁴⁻²⁶. With its strongest efferent projections to M1 and the corticospinal tract, SMA is a unique target for tDCS ²⁷. Support for this notion come from a recent study that showed enhanced motor performance by targeting the left SMA with 0.4 mA of anodal tDCS for 90 min over three days.²⁸ By targeting *both SMA and M1* with 2mA of tDCS, it may be possible to induce additive effects on M1 excitability via interhemispheric connections, which are thought to be more focal than those associated with M1-supraortibal stimulation ^{19,20}.

The purpose of the current study was to demonstrate the feasibility of concurrent tDCS and 7T MRI, and to determine whether targeting both SMA and M1 using a bihemispheric tDCS montage would produce immediate changes in metabolite concentrations in M1 measured using ultra high-field (7T) MRS. To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the metabolic changes after bihemispheric tDCS, delivered in the MR environment, at an ultra-high magnetic field strength. Based on previous studies, we hypothesized that 2 mA bihemispheric tDCS would enhance synaptic and metabolic activity^{10,11,15,17}. As such, metabolites involved in neurometabolism such as NAA, glutamate, and creatine would be altered by stimulation.

4.4 Methods

4.4.1 Participants and Study Design

15 healthy adults aged 21-60 years (mean \pm standard deviation: 28 \pm 10, 9 female), with no reported history of mental or neurological illness, participated in two sessions on a 7 Tesla (Siemens, Erlangen) head–only MRI scanner. All participants had ¹H MRS in this single blind, sham controlled, cross-over design. Participants were randomized to receive tDCS stimulation or sham stimulation on their initial visit, and the contrary on their second visit, at least 7 days apart. Informed written consent was obtained for all procedures according to the Declaration of Helinski (World Medical Association, 2008) and the study was approved by the Western University Health Sciences Research Ethics Board.

4.4.2 tDCS Stimulation

Using an MR-compatible DC-STIMULATOR (NeuroConn, Germany), 2 mA of current was applied to bihemispheric motor areas in the MRI scanner, for a total of 20 minutes. Electrodes were 3x3 cm², providing a total current density of 0.22 mA/cm² and a total charge with respect to time of 0.27 C/cm². For use inside the scanner, electrodes were fit with 5 kOhm resistors placed next to the electrode to minimize the possibility of eddy currents induced in the leads during MRS acquisition. Electrodes were positioned on each participant outside the magnet using the EEG 10-10 system, which has been shown to be a reliable localization tool ²⁹. The cathode was placed on the left primary motor cortex (C3), anode on the right supplementary motor area (FC₂). For stimulation, current was ramped up over 10 seconds to reach 2 mA and held constant for 20 minutes, followed by a 10 s ramp down period. During sham stimulation, current was ramped up over 10 s and then immediately turned off. As it has been shown that subjects are unable

to distinguish between sham and true tDCS using this paradigm, we used this measurement as a baseline comparison 3,30 .

4.4.3 Temperature Monitoring

To ensure the safety of the participants during tDCS in the MRI, temperature was monitored on all subjects throughout the duration of the scan (approximately an hour and 15 minutes). Specifically, four T1C 1.7 mm diameter fibre optic temperature sensors (Neoptix, Quebec, Canada) were located under both electrode pads and the nearest cable chokes. Temperature was monitored in real time with a calibrated Reflex signal conditioner (Neoptix, Quebec, Canada) and a custom data collection program written in LabVIEW 2010 (National Instruments).

4.4.4 Magnetic Resonance Image Acquisition and Analysis

A 7 Tesla Siemens (Erlangen, Germany), head-only MRI (Magnetom) was used to acquire spectroscopy and imaging data. Data were acquired using an 8 channel transmit and 32 channel receive coil array. T₁-weighted MP2RAGE anatomical images (TE/TR = 2.83/6000 ms and 750 μ m isotropic resolution) were acquired and used for voxel positioning. These images were also used to estimate white-matter (WM), gray-matter (GM) and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) fractions for partial volume correction when determining metabolite concentration. The MRS acquisition began immediately following the completion of the stimulation to capture alterations in metabolite concentration due to tDCS. Water suppressed (64 averages) and unsuppressed (8 averages) ¹H MR spectra were acquired from a single voxel (1.6×2.0×1.8 cm³) located in the left primary motor cortex (under the cathode) (Figure 4.1) using the semi Localization by Adiabatic Selective Refocusing (semi-LASER) pulse sequence ³¹: TE/TR = 60/7500 ms, voxel size=1.6×2.0×1.8 cm³,total MRS acquisition time was approximately 10 minutes. A localized B₀ and B₁ shim were applied prior to data acquisition. The B₀ shim was optimized using a two-echo gradient recalled echo (GRE) shimming technique ³² and the B₁ field was optimized such that the phases of the transmit channels added constructively within the MRS voxel. Spectra were lineshape corrected using combined QUALITY deconvolution and eddy current correction (QUECC) with 400 QUALITY points ³³. Simulated prior knowledge metabolite lineshapes were fitted to post-processed spectra using the fitMAN software developed in-house (Figure 4.2) ³⁴. Metabolite concentrations were examined as ratios normalized to creatine and also as absolute concentrations using unsuppressed water as an internal reference standard as previously described ³⁵. Measurement of tissue partial volume with the voxel was made using the MP2RAGE images in FMRIB Software Library (FSL) ³⁶ to obtain the fraction of WM, GM and CSF within the voxel. In addition, relaxation rates of the metabolites were incorporated into the quantification to correct for T₁ and T₂ relaxation induced signal loss ³⁷⁻⁴⁰.



Figure 4.1. Voxel Position: Typical MP2RAGE anatomical images used for voxel placement were brain extracted using FSL. The voxel shown in green (2x2x2cm³) was placed over the left primary motor cortex (under the cathode).

Metabolites measured with a group coefficient of variation of less than <30% in the sham condition were included in statistical analyses. To identify differences in metabolite levels and metabolite ratios between sham and tDCS conditions, repeated measures MANOVA was performed in SPSS (IBM SPSS Statistics Version 25). The main factors were the type of stimulation (two levels: sham and tDCS) and the metabolite (six levels: *N*-acetyl aspartate (NAA), myo-inositol (mI), creatine (Cr), choline (Cho), glutamate (Glu), glutathione (GSH) or metabolite ratio (five levels: NAA/Cr, mI/Cr, Cho/Cr, Glu/Cr, GSH/Cr) measured. In addition, differences between sham and tDCS conditions were compared separately for each metabolite and metabolite ratio using paired t-tests.



Figure 4.2 7T MRS Spectrum. Semi-LASER ¹H MRS (TE=60 ms) of the left primary motor cortex. The spectrum (grey) is overlaid on the fitted result (black) with the residual shown above (black). Select metabolite peaks are identified.

4.5 Results

4.5.1 Temperature Monitoring

The tDCS was safely and successfully applied in the 7T MRI environment in all subjects. The average temperature change in all four probes was 4.3 ± 0.2 °C throughout the duration of the experiment. This temperature increase was largely due to warming of the bore and from the participant's natural body heating. Once equilibrium was established, small fluctuations on the order of 1 °C were observed during periods when RF was turned on.

4.5.2 Metabolite Ratio Changes

Spectral quality measures including signal to noise ration and linewidth are summarized in Table 1 for all participants. There were no age or gender related effects. When examining the metabolite ratios the repeated measures MANOVA indicated no effect of stimulation ($F_{(1,14)}=3.52$, p=0.08). There was a significant main effect of metabolite ($F_{(12,3)}=343.35$, p<0.001). There was no main interaction effect ($F_{(12,3)}=1.25$, p=0.33) (Table 4.2). *Post-hoc* t-tests (uncorrected for multiple comparisons) were performed to confirm alterations in metabolite ratios. Our results showed that NAA/tCr was 4% higher in the tDCS condition compared to sham, but this was not significant (p=0.08, Cohen's d =0.52), no significant changes in any other metabolite ratios were observed (Figure 4.3, Table 4.2). Table 4.1. Spectral Quality:

	Sham	tDCS
Signal to noise ratio	78.9 ± 5.2	82.3 ± 4.6
Linewidth (Hz)	13.5 ± 1.2	13.6 ± 1.3
Water Area	4.8 ± 0.16	4.9 ± 0.02
GM Fraction	0.37 ± 0.01	0.37 ± 0.02
WM Fraction	0.53 ± 0.02	0.53 ± 0.03
CSF Fraction	0.09 ± 0.008	0.10 ± 0.009

Characterization of spectral quality and voxel tissue composition. Signal to noise ratio represents the intensity of the NAA_{CH3} peak divided by the standard deviation of the baseline noise after Fourier transformation of the initial 0.3 seconds. The linewidth represents the full width at half maximum (FWHM) of the unsuppressed water signal. The water area represents the area of the unsuppressed water spectrum. The voxel tissue partial volume is provided for gray matter (GM), white matter (WM) and cerebral spinal fluid (CSF). Data are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean. Repeated measured t-tests were conducted on all spectral parameters; no significant changes between sham and stimulation were observed.



Figure 4.3. Metabolite Ratios. tDCS does not alter metabolite ratio concentration when measured immediately following 20 minutes of tDCS. Error bars indicate SEM.

	Sham	tDCS	<i>p</i> -value
NAA/Cr	1.67 ± 0.03	1.73 ± 0.03	0.08
Cho/Cr	0.68 ± 0.02	$0.67{\pm}0.02$	0.78
Myo/Cr	0.72 ± 0.02	0.72 ± 0.02	0.79
Glu/Cr	0.71 ± 0.06	0.79 ± 0.07	0.21
GSH/Cr	1.28 ± 0.05	1.40 ± 0.06	0.21

Metabolite ratios relative to total creatine. Values indicate means \pm SEM. The *p*-values were calculated in post-hoc analysis of individual metabolite ratios using paired t-tests.

4.5.3 Metabolite Concentration Changes

Using repeated measures MANOVA, there was no main effect of bihemispheric M1-SMA tDCS on the absolute concentration of any metabolite ($F_{(1,14)}=1.55$, p=0.23). There was also no significant interaction effect of metabolite and condition ($F_{(4,11)}=1.42$, p=0.29). Table 3 displays the absolute metabolite concentrations. *Post-hoc* comparisons using paired t-tests (uncorrected for multiple comparisons) showed no significant changes in any metabolites. However, tCr (p=0.07, Cohen's d =0.42) and mI (p=0.08, Cohen's d=0.48) were close to threshold for significance. Table 4.3. Absolute Metabolite Concentration.

Metabolite	Sham tDCS	tDCS	<i>p</i> -value
NAA (mM)	16.2 ± 0.65	15.6 ± 0.46	0.40
Cho (mM)	2.4 ± 0.1	2.3 ± 0.11	0.14
Myo (mM)	6.4 ± 0.28	5.9 ± 0.24	0.08
tCr (mM)	10.9 ± 0.4	10.1 ± 0.3	0.07
Glu (mM)	7.9 ± 0.71	8.2 ± 0.79	0.69
GSH (mM)	2.4 ± 0.18	2.4 ± 0.13	0.88

Absolute concentration of metabolites measured by MRS. Values indicate means \pm SEM. The *p*-values were measured by post-hoc analysis of individual metabolites using paired t-tests.

4.5.4 Correlation between NAA and tCr

We observed a strong, positive correlation between the change in the absolute concentration of NAA and the change in the absolute concentration of tCr (stimulation – sham, $R^2 = 0.64$, p < 0.001, Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4. NAA and tCr Coupling. The association between the Δ in the absolute concentration of NAA and tCr (stimulation – sham). We observed a strong, positive correlation, indicating NAA and tCr both change in the same direction after stimulation ($R^2 = 0.64$, *p* < 0.001).

4.6 Discussion

Bihemispheric tDCS was safely and successfully performed in the 7T MRI environment with minimal heating effects. However, the bihemispheric tDCS of M1-SMA produced no significant metabolite level changes in the left primary motor cortex (M1) immediately after 20 minutes of stimulation measured by 7T MR spectroscopy. Although, we observed a strong association between the change in absolute concentration of NAA and the change in absolute concentration of tCr that may indicate a coupling between these metabolites following tDCS.

Brain activity has been shown to decrease both NAA and tCr levels. Specifically, NAA is associated with metabolic and mitochondrial activity ^{16,41}. Following visual stimulation, Baslow and colleagues found that the concentration of NAA decreased by approximately 13% ⁴² in the visual cortex. Similarly, Castellano and colleagues observed a 20% decrease in NAA after visual stimulation ⁴³. This decrease in NAA was attributed to a lower rate of NAA synthesis compared to hydrolysis during periods of cortical activation, suggesting that the brain used NAA faster than it could be synthesized ^{42,43}. NAA is the precursor for the synthesis of *N*-acetylaspartylglutamate (NAAG), a modulator of glutamate and GABA neurotransmitter release. When neural activity is increased, there is an increased release of NAAG from the synapse ^{43,44}. It has been suggested that the reduction in NAA upon neural activation is due to increased demand for NAAG. In support of this hypothesis, both Landim *et al.* and Castellano *et al.* observed a decrease in NAA concentration with a subsequent increase in NAAG upon stimulation ^{43,44}.

Creatine (Cr) may also be altered as a consequence of neuronal stimulation due to its role in energy metabolism through its conversion to phosphocreatine (PCr)^{15,45}. In the central nervous system, Cr and PCr are involved in maintaining the high energy levels necessary for the maintenance of membrane potentials, ion gradients, calcium homeostasis, and intracellular behavior ⁴⁶. Cr has also been observed as a potential modulator of neurotransmission ^{15,45}. The Cr peak measured by MR spectroscopy represents intracellular contributions from both Cr and PCr (tCr). Although the tCr peak is often used as an internal reference for metabolite concentration, we cannot discount the possibility that tDCS may modulate tCr concentration. In areas of high energy demand, PCr is used to convert ADP to ATP. As such, intracellular stores of PCr will transiently decrease, consistent with the trend toward decreased tCr observed in the current study. Rango *et. Al.* have also discovered a transient decrease in PCr after short bursts of visual stimulation, concluding that functional activation reduces PCr⁴⁷. Furthermore, Cr is released from the neuron in an action potential dependent manner. An increase in the resting membrane potential, induced by tDCS, may result in release of Cr from the neuron to act as a co-transmitter. Early studies on rodents indicate Cr may modulate postsynaptic neurotransmitters such as GABA, inhibiting its action ^{48,49}. Release of Cr from intracellular stores would decrease the measureable concentration of Cr.

The observed association between Δ NAA and Δ tCr indicates that individuals that had a decrease in NAA following tDCS relative to sham also had a decrease in tCr levels (Figure 4.4). The increase in NAA/tCr after tDCS (Figure 4.3) suggests that the concentration of tCr decreased relative to NAA. As reported earlier, reduction in NAA upon neural activation is due to increased demand for NAAG, a modulator of GABA and glutamate. As Cr and NAAG are both released from the neuron in an action-potential dependent manner to act as neuromodulators, their correlated decrease in concentration is feasible. This data supports the notion that tDCS increases cortical activation, resulting in an increased neuronal energy demand, which subsequently decreases tCr and NAA.

The after effects of tDCS are thought to be dependent on alterations of the membrane potential and changes in glutamate and GABA signaling, relating to synaptic plasticity ^{3,6}, As such, we expected to observe changes in glutamate and GABA following tDCS. However, the literature presents conflicting results ^{7,10-12,17,19,50,51}. In a study observing metabolite concentration both during and after tDCS, Bachtiar *et. al.* observed a significant decrease of GABA concentration in left M1 after anodal tDCS to the same area compared to sham, but no differences between sham and anodal tDCS *during* the stimulation period ⁵⁰. This indicates that the alteration of neurotransmitters that occurs due to tDCS is predominantly evident after the stimulation period. It is possible that our measurement of metabolite concentration occurred outside the optimal window of neurotransmitter modulation, and instead we observed upstream events. Further studies are required to identify the mechanism by which GABA and Glu are altered to enhance

or depress synaptic activity and the optimal time to observe the peak change in these neurotransmitters.

The current study is the first to measure metabolite concentrations of the motor cortex using a bihemispheric montage in an ultra-high-field MRI (7T). Currently, there are only two studies that have examined the metabolism of the motor cortex following tDCS at 7T, both using the conventional M1-supraorbital (unihemispheric) montage, and both stimulating outside of the scanner ^{7,18}. Both studies examined the effects of 1 mA of cathodal stimulation over left M1 for 15¹⁸ and 10⁷ minutes with differing results. Stagg et. al. found a decrease in Glu/Cr after cathodal stimulation, while Kim and colleagues reported no significant change in Glu concentration following cathodal stimulation. Kim et. al. did report a significant reduction in GABA following anodal stimulation, and no changes in other key metabolites ¹⁸. The current study applied 2 mA of current for 20 minutes. It has recently been shown that cathodal stimulation, which is believed to be inhibitory, reverses its polarity at 2mA and becomes excitatory ⁹. The higher current used in our study compared to previous studies may explain the differing results. Increasing the current to 2 mA delays the time of peak metabolic change from immediately after stimulation, to up to 90-120 minutes after stimulation ⁹. This delay may explain why we did not observe changes in Glu and GABA in the current study.

Only one other study has examined bihemispheric (M1-M1) tDCS on motor cortex metabolism ¹⁹. Using this montage, and 1mA of current for 20 minutes, Tremblay and colleagues reported no significant modulation in any metabolite concentration at 3T ¹⁹, consistent with the current study. They concluded that the complex relationship between excitatory and inhibitory mechanisms within and between the primary motor cortices resulted in high inter individual variability and response to tDCS stimulation. The ultrahigh field MRS used in the current study provided greater signal to noise ratio and spectral dispersion compared to Tremblay *et al.* ¹⁹, increasing metabolite measurement precision.

Although there have been few studies observing the metabolic and functional changes following M1-M1 tDCS, the current study is the first to incorporate the SMA as a potential target for bihemispheric tDCS. The SMA has been studied as a potential tDCS target in behavioural studies of posture and visuomotor learning ^{28,52}. Its anatomical positioning and strong connections to M1 make it a well-suited target for motor network modulation. In addition, the SMA has strong efferent connections to the corticospinal tract, making it an ideal candidate as a target for neurorehabilitation ²⁷. Various studies have shown the importance of the SMA and associated non primary motor areas after brain or spinal cord injury ²⁴⁻²⁶. Neural recruitment is an important aspect of recovery. SMA should be considered to enhance synaptic connections of bilateral M1, subcortical structures, and further downstream to the corticospinal tract.

4.6.1 Limitations

One important limitation of the current study was the omission of a within session baseline measurement. The MRS data acquired for this study was part of a longer imaging protocol that incorporated anatomical and resting-state fMRI measurements (to be published elsewhere). Therefore, time constraints prevented the inclusion of a baseline spectroscopy measurement. However, the cross-over design of this study including a separate spectroscopy measurement during sham stimulation on a separate day has previously been shown to be an acceptable approach 30 . However, the inclusion of a baseline measurement in the future would likely reduce inter-subject variability. A recent study at 7T has provided estimates of the reliability of metabolite measurements taken on separate days³¹. In addition, a comparable protocol, using a sham control without baseline measurements observed no changes in metabolite concentration after 1mA of bilateral dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), measured from the left DLPFC¹¹. Another limitation of the current study is that metabolite measurements were not made in the SMA, again due to time constraints. Future studies would also benefit from examining metabolite changes in this brain region following stimulation. Finally, the current study was not designed to examine GABA levels. Although, previous studies have shown changes in GABA concentration, we were not able to measure GABA with sufficient reproducibility using the spectroscopy method applied in the current study. Future studies using GABA editing methods could help elucidate the modulation of GABA by tDCS.

4.7 Conclusion

In conclusion, bihemispheric transcranial direct current stimulation with anode over SMA and cathode over M1 was safely applied during 7T MRI for 20 minutes at 2 mA. Immediately following stimulation there were no changes in metabolite levels measured by ¹H MR spectroscopy of the left primary motor cortex in this sham controlled cross-over study. However, when comparing stimulation to sham conditions, there was a significant positive association between the change in *N*-acetyl aspartate and the change in creatine in the same region.

4.8 References

- Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. *The Journal of physiology* 527 Pt 3, 633-639 (2000).
- Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Sustained excitability elevations induced by transcranial DC motor cortex stimulation in humans. *Neurology* 57, 1899-1901 (2001).
- Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Transcranial direct current stimulation--update 2011.
 Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience 29, 463-492, doi:10.3233/rnn-2011-0618 (2011).
- Stagg, C. J. *et al.* Modulation of movement-associated cortical activation by transcranial direct current stimulation. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 30, 1412-1423, doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06937.x (2009).
- Yoon, K. J., Oh, B. M. & Kim, D. Y. Functional improvement and neuroplastic effects of anodal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) delivered 1 day vs.
 1 week after cerebral ischemia in rats. *Brain Research* 1452, 61-72 (2012).
- 6 Stagg, C. J. & Nitsche, M. A. Physiological basis of transcranial direct current stimulation. *Neuroscientist* **17**, 37-53, doi:10.1177/1073858410386614 (2011).
- 7 Stagg, C. J. *et al.* Polarity-sensitive modulation of cortical neurotransmitters by transcranial stimulation. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **29**, 5202-5206, doi:10.1523/jneurosci.4432-08.2009 (2009).
- Stagg, C. J., Bachtiar, V. & Johansen-Berg, H. The role of GABA in human motor learning. *Current biology : CB* 21, 480-484, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2011.01.069 (2011).
- 9 Batsikadze, G., Moliadze, V., Paulus, W., Kuo, M. F. & Nitsche, M. A. Partially non-linear stimulation intensity-dependent effects of direct current stimulation on

motor cortex excitability in humans. *The Journal of physiology* **591**, 1987-2000, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2012.249730 (2013).

- 10 Clark, V. P., Coffman, B. A., Trumbo, M. C. & Gasparovic, C. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) produces localized and specific alterations in neurochemistry: a (1)H magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *Neuroscience letters* **500**, 67-71, doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2011.05.244 (2011).
- Hone-Blanchet, A., Edden, R. A. & Fecteau, S. Online Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Real Time on Human Prefrontal and Striatal Metabolites. *Biological psychiatry* 80, 432-438, doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.11.008 (2016).
- Rango, M. *et al.* Myoinositol content in the human brain is modified by transcranial direct current stimulation in a matter of minutes: a 1H-MRS study. *Magnetic resonance in medicine* 60, 782-789, doi:10.1002/mrm.21709 (2008).
- 13 Stagg, C. J. *et al.* Polarity and timing-dependent effects of transcranial direct current stimulation in explicit motor learning. *Neuropsychologia* **49**, 800-804, doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.02.009 (2011).
- 14 Stagg, Charlotte J., Bachtiar, V. & Johansen-Berg, H. The role of GABA in human motor learning. *Current Biology*. 22, 480-484, (2011).
- Beard, E. & Braissant, O. Synthesis and transport of creatine in the CNS: importance for cerebral functions. *Journal of neurochemistry* 115, 297-313, doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06935.x (2010).
- Rae, C. D. A Guide to the Metabolic Pathways and Function of Metabolites
 Observed in Human Brain 1H Magnetic Resonance Spectra. *Neurochemical Research.* 39 1-36 (2014).
- 17 Rae, C. D., Lee, V. H., Ordidge, R. J., Alonzo, A. & Loo, C. Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation increases brain intracellular pH and modulates bioenergetics. *The international journal of neuropsychopharmacology* **16**, 1695-1706, doi:10.1017/s1461145713000084 (2013).
- 18 Kim, S., Stephenson, M. C., Morris, P. G. & Jackson, S. R. DCS induced alterations in GABA concentration within primary motor cortex predict motor

learning and motor memory: a 7T magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *Neuroimage*. **99**, 237-243 (2014)

- 19 Tremblay, S. *et al.* The effects of bi-hemispheric M1-M1 transcranial direct current stimulation on primary motor cortex neurophysiology and metabolite concentration. *Restorative neurology and neuroscience* **34**, 587-602, doi:10.3233/rnn-150569 (2016).
- Waters, S., Wiestler, T. & Diedrichsen, J. Cooperation Not Competition:
 Bihemispheric tDCS and fMRI Show Role for Ipsilateral Hemisphere in Motor
 Learning. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 37, 7500-7512, doi:10.1523/jneurosci.3414-16.2017 (2017).
- Waters-Metenier, S., Husain, M., Wiestler, T. & Diedrichsen, J. Bihemispheric transcranial direct current stimulation enhances effector-independent representations of motor synergy and sequence learning. *Journal of Neuroscience* 34, 1037-1050 (2014).
- Floel, A. tDCS-enhanced motor and cognitive function in neurological diseases.
 Neuroimage 85 Pt 3, 934-947, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.05.098 (2014).
- 23 Grefkes, C., Eickhoff, S. B., Nowak, D. A., Dafotakis, M. & Fink, G. R. Dynamic intra- and interhemispheric interactions during unilateral and bilateral hand movements assessed with fMRI and DCM. *Neuroimage* 41, 1382-1394, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.03.048 (2008).
- Carey, L. M., Abbott, D. F., Egan, G. F., Bernhardt, J. & Donnan, G. A. Motor impairment and recovery in the upper limb after stroke: behavioral and neuroanatomical correlates. *Stroke* 36, 625-629, doi:10.1161/01.str.0000155720.47711.83 (2005).
- 25 Wong, W. W., Chan, S. T., Tang, K. W., Meng, F. & Tong, K. Y. Neural correlates of motor impairment during motor imagery and motor execution in subcortical stroke. *Brain injury* 27, 651-663, doi:10.3109/02699052.2013.771796 (2013).
- 26 Ryan, K., Goncalves, S., Bartha, R. & Duggal, N. Motor network recovery in patients with chronic spinal cord compression : a longitudinal study following decompression surgery. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine*, **28** 379-388 (2018)

- 27 Luppino, G., Matelli, M., Camarda, R. & Rizzolatti, G. Corticocortical connections of area F3 (SMA-proper) and area F6 (pre-SMA) in the Macaque monkey. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* **338**, 114-140 (1993).
- 28 Hupfeld, K. E., Ketcham, C. J. & Schneider, H. D. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) to the supplementary motor area (SMA) influences performance on motor tasks. *Experimental brain research* 235, 851-859, doi:10.1007/s00221-016-4848-5 (2017).
- 29 Jurcak, V., Tsuzuki, D. & Dan, I. 10/20, 10/10, and 10/5 systems revisited: their validity as relative head-surface-based positioning systems. *Neuroimage* 34, 1600-1611, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.09.024 (2007).
- Gandiga, P. C., Hummel, F. C. & Cohen, L. G. Transcranial DC stimulation (tDCS): a tool for double-blind sham-controlled clinical studies in brain stimulation. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 117, 845-850, doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2005.12.003 (2006).
- 31 Oz, G. & Tkac, I. Short-echo, single-shot, full-intensity proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy for neurochemical profiling at 4 T: validation in the cerebellum and brainstem. *Magnetic resonance in medicine* 65, 901-910, doi:10.1002/mrm.22708 (2011).
- Schar, M., Kozerke, S. & Boesiger, P. Cardiac SSFP imaging at 3 tesla. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*. 51, 1091-1095 (2004).
- 33 Bartha, R., Drost, D. J., Menon, R. S. & Williamson, P. C. Spectroscopic lineshape correction by QUECC: combined QUALITY deconvolution and eddy current correction. *Magn Reson Med* 44, 641-645 (2000).
- 34 Bartha, R., Drost, D. J. & Williamson, P. C. Factors affecting the quantification of short echo in-vivo 1H MR spectra: prior knowledge, peak elimination, and filtering. *NMR Biomed* 12, 205-216 (1999).
- 35 Rupsingh, R., Borrie, M., Smith, M., Wells, J. L. & Bartha, R. Reduced hippocampal glutamate in Alzheimer disease. *Neurobiology of aging* 32, 802-810, doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2009.05.002 (2011).

- Jenkinson, M., Beckmann, C. F., Behrens, T. E., Woolrich, M. W. & Smith, S. M.
 FSL. *Neuroimage* 62, 782-790, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.09.015 (2012).
- Andreychenko, A., Klomp, D. W., de Graaf, R. A., Luijten, P. R. & Boer, V. O.
 In vivo GABA T2 determination with J-refocused echo time extension at 7 T.
 NMR in biomedicine 26, 1596-1601, doi:10.1002/nbm.2997 (2013).
- 38 Marjanska, M. *et al.* Localized 1H NMR spectroscopy in different regions of human brain in vivo at 7 T: T2 relaxation times and concentrations of cerebral metabolites. *NMR in biomedicine* 25, 332-339, doi:10.1002/nbm.1754 (2012).
- 39 Xin, L., Schaller, B., Mlynarik, V., Lu, H. & Gruetter, R. Proton T1 relaxation times of metabolites in human occipital white and gray matter at 7 T. *Magnetic resonance in medicine* 69, 931-936, doi:10.1002/mrm.24352 (2013).
- 40 Kreis, R., Slotboom, J., Hofmann, L. & Boesch, C. Integrated data acquisition and processing to determine metabolite contents, relaxation times, and macromolecule baseline in single examinations of individual subjects. *Magnetic resonance in medicine* 54, 761-768, doi:10.1002/mrm.20673 (2005).
- Patel, T., Blyth, J. C., Griffiths, G., Kelly, D. & Talcott, J. B. Moderate relationships between NAA and cognitive ability in healthy adults: implications for cognitive spectroscopy. *Frontiers in human neuroscience* 8, 39, doi:10.3389/fnhum.2014.00039 (2014).
- 42 Baslow, M. H., Hrabe, J. & Guilfoyle, D. N. Dynamic relationship between neurostimulation and N-acetylaspartate metabolism in the human visual cortex: evidence that NAA functions as a molecular water pump during visual stimulation. *Journal of molecular neuroscience : MN* **32**, 235-245 (2007).
- 43 Castellano, G., Dias, C., Foerster, B., Li, L. & Covolan, R. NAA and NAAG variation in neuronal activation during visual stimulation. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Reseasrch.* 45,1031-1036 (2012).
- Landim, R. C. G. Investigation of NAA and NAAG dynamics underlying visual stimulation using MEGA-PRESS in a functional MRS experiment. 34, 239-245, doi:10.1016/j.mri.2015.10.038 (2016).

- 45 Royes, L. F. *et al.* Neuromodulatory effect of creatine on extracellular action potentials in rat hippocampus: role of NMDA receptors. *Neurochemistry international* 53, 33-37, doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2008.04.008 (2008).
- Wyss, M. & Kaddurah-Daouk, R. Creatine and creatinine metabolism.
 Physiological reviews 80, 1107-1213 (2000).
- Rango, M., Castelli, A. & Scarlato, G. Energetics of 3.5 s neural activation in humans: a 31P MR spectroscopy study. *Magnetic resonance in medicine* 38, 878-883 (1997).
- 48 Deyn, P. P. D. & Macdonald, R. L. Guanidino compounds that are increased in cerebrospinal fluid and brain of uremic patients inhibit GABA and glycine responses on mouse neurons in cell culture. *Annals of Neurology* 28, 627-633, doi:doi:10.1002/ana.410280505 (1990).
- Almeida, L. S., Salomons, G. S., Hogenboom, F., Jakobs, C. & Schoffelmeer, A.
 N. M. Exocytotic release of creatine in rat brain. *Synapse* 60, 118-123, doi:doi:10.1002/syn.20280 (2006).
- 50 Bachtiar, V., Near, J., Johansen-Berg, H. & Stagg, C. J. Modulation of GABA and resting state functional connectivity by transcranial direct current stimulation. *Elife* 4, e08789, doi:10.7554/eLife.08789 (2015).
- 51 Horvath, J. C., Forte, J. D. & Carter, O. Evidence that transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) generates little-to-no reliable neurophysiologic effect beyond MEP amplitude modulation in healthy human subjects: A systematic review. *Neuropsychologia* 66, 213-236, doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2014.11.021 (2015).
- Vollmann, H. *et al.* Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) over supplementary motor area (SMA) but not pre-SMA promotes short-term visuomotor learning. *Brain stimulation* 6, 101-107, doi:10.1016/j.brs.2012.03.018 (2013).

Chapter 5

5 Bihemispheric Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Acutely Modifies Resting State fMRI Measured Functional Connectivity of the Sensory Motor Network

Publication Notice: Ryan, K., Wawrzyn,K., Gati, J., Chronik, BA., Menon, R., Duggal, N., Bartha, R. Bihemispheric Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Acutely Modifies Resting State fMRI Measured Functional Connectivity of the Sensory Motor Network. In preparation for submission.

5.1 Abstract

Enhancement of motor function after neurological injury or disease is an area of active research. Recent studies aimed at improving rehabilitation and motor outcomes have combined traditional rehabilitation strategies with transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). This approach has shown variable results because the mechanism by which stimulation enhances cortical activity and the optimal stimulation paradigm to enhance motor function and network connectivity is still unknown. Resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging provides a non-invasive measure of brain network connectivity. We hypothesized that tDCS targeting the left primary motor (M1) and contralateral supplementary motor areas (SMA), would increase functional connectivity within the sensorimotor network during and after stimulation. In this single-blind, randomized, cross-over study, fourteen healthy adults aged 21-60 participated in two 7T MRI sessions to measure differences in sensorimotor network connectivity before, during, and after tDCS. We observed a temporal effect of stimulation on the sensorimotor network. No differences were observed during stimulation, however after stimulation we observed an increase in connectivity of the right sensorimotor area. Furthermore, during stimulation we observed an increase in the functional connectivity between bilateral sensorimotor cortex and right caudate, as well as right supplementary motor area and right caudate, which persisted after stimulation. The observed results indicate that bihemispheric tDCS is capable of modulating sensorimotor network activity. The temporal pattern of activity observed indicates there may be an optimal time for peak

cortical enhancement. However, further work is needed to define the optimal timing of rehabilitation strategies in relation to the applied tDCS.

5.2 Keywords

Functional MRI, resting-state fMRI, transcranial direct current stimulation, enhanced connectivity, primary motor cortex, supplementary motor area, caudate, cortico-striatal connectivity, bihemispheric tDCS

5.3 Introduction

Enhancement of neurological function following disease or trauma, particularly to improve motor performance in conjunction with rehabilitation, is an area of active research. The use of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) to enhance the effects of training have had mixed results¹⁻⁵ because the current path and depth depends on the current level, the electrode position,^{6,7} and duration of stimulation. For example, 1 mA of cathodal stimulation has an inhibitory effect on cortical excitability⁸⁻¹⁰. However, increasing the current to 2 mA has been shown to have an excitatory effect.¹¹ Understanding how tDCS influences brain network functional connectivity will be critical to designing paradigms that maximize the effectiveness of this technology in promoting functional recovery in conjunction with rehabilitation.

Brain network functional connectivity can be measured using resting state functional magnetic resonance imaging (rs-fMRI). Specifically, in the absence of task performance, rs-fMRI can detect spontaneous, low frequency fluctuations in blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) contrast^{12,13}. At rest, spontaneous activity that is highly correlated between specific brain regions is indicative of the degree of functional connectivity^{12,14,15}. These highly correlated regions have been grouped into distinct resting state networks (RSN)^{12,16}. The first network to be observed, and the network most relevant to the enhancement of motor performance is the sensorimotor network (SMN), which encompasses the bilateral primary motor cortex (M1), supplementary motor area (SMA), and premotor cortex (PMC)¹⁴. In particular, the right and left sensorimotor cortices demonstrate coherent BOLD fluctuations during rest^{12,14}.

Using rs-fMRI, tDCS has been shown to induce changes in functional connectivity both during and after stimulation¹⁷⁻¹⁹. In particular, cathodal tDCS to left M1 increased the inter-hemispheric connectivity between right and left SMA, and right and left M1 following stimulation²⁰. Additionally, anodal tDCS applied to the pre-motor cortex strengthened the connection between pre-motor cortex and M1²¹. It is thought that by placing electrodes across hemispheres, the activity of the underlying cortex will be

increased in one hemisphere, while simultaneously decreased in the opposite hemisphere^{22,23}. Sehm and colleagues demonstrated the effects of 1 mA bilateral tDCS to M1 on functional connectivity both during and post stimulation ¹⁹. During stimulation, there was a decrease in inter-hemispheric functional connectivity (IHFC) between the right and left M1; however, after stimulation, an increase in the intra-cortical functional connectivity of right M1 was observed¹⁹.

Although previous studies have focused on stimulating PMC and M1^{20,24}, there are no imaging studies examining the modulatory effects of stimulating SMA. The SMA is preferentially active during the learning of a complex task^{25,26}, during bimanual coordination^{25,27}, and in brain and spinal cord injury as a compensatory mechanism^{28,29}. Furthermore, due to the strong structural and functional connections between SMA and M1, modulation of SMA influences the activity of M1³⁰. Therefore, stimulating both SMA and M1 may enhance motor network strength, which could benefit neurorehabilitation techniques, particularly those aimed at improving manual dexterity. Furthermore, tDCS of the M1-SMA network using 2 mA of current, could modulate subcortical regions such as caudate, as observed in previous studies^{17,31}. To our knowledge, ultra high magnetic field strength (7 Tesla) MRI has not been previously used to study the modulation of resting state connectivity both during and after tDCS. Using ultra high-field strength provides increased sensitivity to the low frequency BOLD contrast oscillations observed in the brain at rest. The purpose of the current study was to determine the online and after effects of bihemispheric M1-SMA tDCS on the inter and intra-hemispheric functional connectivity of the motor network at rest. We hypothesized that functional connectivity within the SMN would be enhanced during and post tDCS; specifically, the right SMA and left M1 would show increased functional connectivity. Furthermore, region of interest analysis would show increased intra and inter-hemispheric functional connectivity between right SMA and bilateral M1. In addition, increased connectivity between motor cortical and subcortical structures such as caudate would also occur due to stimulation.

5.4 Methods

5.4.1 Experimental Design

Fourteen healthy adults aged 21-60 (mean \pm standard deviation: 28 ± 10 , 8 female) participated in two sessions on a 7 Tesla Siemens head-only MRI scanner. Participants were randomized to receive tDCS stimulation or sham stimulation on their initial visit, and the contrary on their second visit, at least 7 days apart, in this single blind, sham controlled, cross-over design. Informed written consent was obtained for all procedures according to the Declaration of Helinski (World Medical Association, 2008) and the study was approved by the Western University Health Sciences Research Ethics Board.

5.4.2 tDCS Application

Using an MR-compatible DC-STIMULATOR (NeuroConn, Germany), 2 mA of current was applied to bihemispheric motor areas, for a total of 20 minutes. Electrodes were 3x3 cm², providing a total current density of 0.22 mA/cm² and a total charge with respect to time of 0.27 C/cm². For use inside the scanner, electrodes were fit with 5 kOhm resistors placed next to the electrode to minimize the possibility of eddy currents induced in the leads during image acquisition. Electrodes were positioned on each participant outside the magnet using the EEG 10-10 system, which has been shown to be a reliable localization tool ³². The cathode was placed on the left primary motor cortex (C3), and the anode on the right supplementary motor area (FC₂). Electrolyte gel was used on each electrode pad to provide optimal conductance to the scalp. For stimulation, current was ramped up over 10 seconds to reach 2 mA and held constant for 20 minutes, followed by a 10s ramp down period. During sham stimulation, current was ramped up over 10s and then immediately turned off as it has been shown that subjects are unable to distinguish between sham and true tDCS using this paradigm³³.

5.4.3 Temperature Monitoring

To ensure the safety of the participants during the concurrent tDCS administration and image acquisition in the MRI, temperature was monitored on all subjects throughout the duration of the scan (approximately an hour and 15 minutes). Specifically, four T1C 1.7 mm diameter fibre optic temperature sensors (Neoptix, Quebec, Canada) were located under both electrode pads and the nearest cable chokes. Temperature was monitored in real time with a calibrated Reflex signal conditioner (Neoptix, Quebec, Canada) and a custom data collection program written in LabVIEW 2010 (National Instruments).

5.4.4 Image Acquisition

A 7 Tesla Siemens, head-only MRI (Magnetom), using an 8 channel transmit and 32 channel receive coil array was used to acquire all rs-fMRI data. Each session included the acquisition of sagittal T₁-weighted 3D-magnetization prepared rapid gradient echo anatomical images (TE/TR = 2.83/6000 ms and 750 µm isotropic resolution). During the resting state functional exam, blood-oxygen level dependent (BOLD) images were acquired continuously for 10 minutes using an interleaved echo planar imaging pulse sequence (58 slices/volume, 2 mm isotropic resolution, repetition time/echo time = 1500/20 ms, flip angle = 35°). Three resting state functional time series were collected through each examination: baseline (immediately prior to stimulation), during stimulation (beginning immediately after the start of stimulation), and after stimulation (beginning 10 minutes after the end of the stimulation period). Subjects were instructed to lie still, keep their eyes open, stay awake, and think of nothing in particular.

5.4.5 rs-fMRI Pre-processing

All preprocessing steps were completed using the Functional Connectivity (CONN) toolbox of SPM 8 (http://web.mit.edu/ swg/software.htm). Preprocessing of individual 4D datasets included motion correction, slice-timing correction, functional segmentation and normalization to MNI space. In addition, segmentation of gray matter, white matter and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) were completed; BOLD signals in white matter and CSF were added as covariates and removed as confounding factors. Images were spatially

smoothed using a 6 mm full-width half-maximum Gaussian kernel and band-pass filtered between 0.008 Hz - 0.09 Hz to reduce the influence of noise.

5.4.6 Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS (version 22). To determine changes in connectivity of SMN between the three time courses, a 3 (time) x 3 (brain region) MANOVA was performed. Similarly, to identify changes in connectivity between ROIs, a 3 (time) x 5 (brain region) MANOVA was performed. *Post-hoc* paired t-tests were performed for each specified brain region between the three time points. Significance was set at p < 0.05. To ensure reliability across sham and baseline scans, intraclass correlations (ICC) were computed for ROIs and at the network level. ICC were categorized based on five common intervals 0< ICC <0.2 (slight); 0.2 < ICC, 0.4 (fair); 0.4< ICC<0.6 (moderate); 0.6 < ICC <0.8 (substantial); and 0.8 < ICC <1.0 (almost perfect)³⁴.

5.4.6.1 Network level analysis

BOLD signal time series for each participant were compressed through principal component analysis (PCA). Independent component analysis (ICA) was used to decompose rs-fMRI signals into functionally related groups of voxels³⁵. Using criteria built into the CONN toolbox, twenty maximally independent components were identified and separated based on spatial and temporal patterns^{15,16}. Spatially independent patterns were further assessed at the group level. Network connectivity was compared between baseline, stimulation, and post stimulation time points. Differences in RSN were corrected using the False Discovery Rate (FDR).

5.4.6.2 Region of Interest Analysis

Regions of interest were identified a priori based on the stated hypotheses (right and left sensorimotor (SM1), right and left SMA, and right caudate). The CONN toolbox allows

for definition of seed areas based on Broadmann areas. Functional connectivity was measured between each pair of defined ROIs, and the average BOLD time series was produced using all voxels within each ROI³⁶. ROI based analyses were performed for all subjects with a general linear model to determine significant resting state connections at the individual level. Individual level results were converted into standard scores and group differences were examined between baseline, during stimulation, and after stimulation and between sham and baseline.

5.5 Results

5.5.1 Temperature Monitoring

Bihemispheric tDCS was safely and successfully applied at 7T in all subjects. The average temperature change in all four probes was 4.3 ± 0.2 °C from the beginning of image acquisition to completion of the experiment (1hr 15 min). The increase in temperature was largely due to warming of the bore and from the participant's natural body heating. Once equilibrium was established, small fluctuations on the order of 1 °C were observed during periods when RF was turned on.

5.5.2 Stability of Sham and Baseline Scans

Substantial reliability was found between sham and baseline scans in region of interest analyses including the five a priori brain regions, with a mean ICC of 0.75. Furthermore, at the network level, mean ICC of 0.58 was observed for the SMN.

5.5.3 Modulation of Resting – State Networks

Network connectivity in the SMN and the DMN at baseline and during subsequent sham stimulation is displayed in Figure 1a; no differences were observed for SMN or DMN between sham and baseline. Similarly, network connectivity in the SMN and the DMN at baseline, then during stimulation, and after stimulation is shown in Figure 1b. A 3 (condition: baseline, during stimulation and post stimulation) x 4 (brain region: right SM1, left SM1, right SMA and left SMA) MANOVA showed a significant effect of condition ($F_{(12,2)} = 6.95$, p < 0.01) and brain region ($F_{(12,2)} = 22.35$, p < 0.001). *Post hoc* analysis indicated a significant increase in functional connectivity of right SM1 after stimulation compared to during stimulation (4.81 ± 0.09 , 4.56 ± 0.10 respectively, p < 0.03). No other changes were observed during or after stimulation.



Figure 5.1 Resting State Network Modulation by tDCS. Sensorimotor (SMN) and Default Mode (DMN) comparing A) baseline and sham and B) baseline, during stimulation and after stimulation (p < 0.0001). Colour bar indicates the degree of correlation within the network, with red colours indicating a strong correlation, and blue a relative anticorrelation.



Figure 5.2 Temporal Dynamics of tDCS Modulation on SMN. Connectivity within right SM1 increased between stimulation and after stimulation period (p<0.05). No observed differences in any other regions were observed.

5.5.4 Region of Interest Analysis

To compare functional connectivity between motor cortical regions and caudate, a 3 (condition) x 3 (brain region) MANOVA was performed on the strength of connectivity between right SM1 and right caudate, left SM1 and right caudate, and right SMA and right caudate at baseline, during stimulation, and post stimulation. There was a significant effect of condition ($F_{(12,2)}=4.86$, p=0.02) and brain region ($F_{(12,2)}=6.53$, p=0.01). *Post-hoc* analysis showed increased functional connectivity between right caudate and the right SM1 (correlation= 0.03 ± 0.03 , -0.09 ± 0.04 , p=0.03), the left SM1 (0.12 ± 0.03 , 0.003 ± 0.03 , p=0.04 and the right SMA (0.03 ± 0.02 , -0.11 ± 0.04 , p=0.007) during stimulation compared to baseline. Furthermore, increased connectivity was observed in right SM1 (correlation = 0.05 ± 0.04 , p=0.01), left SM1 (0.12 ± 0.03 , p=0.04) and right SMA (0.04 ± 0.05 , p=0.03) post stimulation compared to baseline. A significant temporal increase in functional connectivity was observed between the three time points (Figure 3).
To observe the influence of M1-SMA tDCS on the connectivity between motor regions, a 3 (condition) x 3 (brain region) MANOVA was performed, including the right SM1, left SM1 and left SMA, using right SMA as the primary region of interest. The MANOVA revealed a main effect of brain region ($F_{(11,2)}=21.31$, p<0.001); however, no significant effect of condition ($F_{(11,2)}=0.26$, p=0.77).



Figure 5.3 Region of Interest Analysis with right caudate. At baseline, all regions shown above displayed an anti-correlation with right caudate. During stimulation and after stimulation, increased functional connectivity (positive correlation) between right M1, left M1 and right SMA with right caudate was observed, indicating an enhanced synchronicity of neural activity between these regions.

5.6 Discussion

Combining M1-SMA tDCS and rs-fMRI, the current study shows that tDCS modulates motor network connectivity, with differing effects during stimulation compared to after stimulation. Furthermore, functional connectivity analysis revealed significant modulation in down-stream, subcortical regions. These results are consistent with previous studies that have observed widespread changes in functional connectivity at both local and distant cortical regions relative to the area of stimulation^{17-20,37}. Using rsfMRI to monitor the effects of tDCS is a relatively novel approach that examines modulatory effects at a whole brain level and may provide insight into the mechanism by which tDCS modulates brain activity. Comparing sham and baseline conditions showed moderate to substantial reliability between the two scans. This result supports our hypothesis that sham stimulation did not lead to cortical modulation. The current study is the first to examine the online and immediate after effects of tDCS using ultra-high field (7T) MRI, which increases sensitivity to the BOLD contrast used to measure the functional connectivity changes induced by tDCS.

5.6.1 Modulation of SMN by tDCS

During the stimulation period we observed no difference in SMN compared to baseline. However, following tDCS, there was enhanced connectivity of SMN, specifically in the right SM1. Similar results have been obtained previously. Specifically, Amadi et al. observed increased coherence between left M1 and right M1 following 1 mA of cathodal tDCS²⁰. Similarly, using an M1-M1 bihemispheric montage with the anode placed over right M1, Sehm and colleagues also observed increased functional connectivity of the right M1 after tDCS with 1 mA of stimulation¹⁹. There is strong evidence that the SMN may be involved in movement initiation and planning, readying the brain to perform and coordinate motor tasks. The results from the current study suggest that this network can be modulated, perhaps to enhance task performance, with M1-SMA tDCS. Furthermore, we observed a trend towards increased connectivity within right SMA after stimulation compared to baseline, with no changes observed during stimulation. Amadi et al. observed increased coherence between right and left SMA following 1 mA of cathodal stimulation to M1, with no observed changes following anodal stimulation²⁰. It has been suggested that enhanced connectivity by cathodal tDCS is the result of an increased signal to noise ratio³⁸. At 1mA, cathodal stimulation causes hyperpolarization of the neuron, decreasing neuronal firing rate and effectively reducing neuronal noise. Polania et al. proposed that this would result in an increased neuronal signal to neuronal noise ratio within the stimulated region, promoting increased synchronization with other

areas³⁹. The current study used 2 mA of bihemispheric current, potentially causing neuronal depolarization and increased neuronal firing. Although connectivity within right SMA may have been increased following the stimulation period, the additional noise introduced into the system by tDCS could have reduced our ability to measure such changes.

5.6.2 Modulation of subcortical regions

Stimulation of the motor cortex has also been shown to modulate down-stream, cortical regions ^{17,31}. Furthermore, SMA has fibres that project directly to the caudate nucleus^{40,41}. This cortico-striatal connection is important in different aspects of motor control including initiation, and modulation of voluntary movement^{42,43}. Our results extend previous research by showing an effect of bihemispheric tDCS on the connection between motor related areas and the caudate during and post stimulation. During the stimulation period, we observed enhanced functional connectivity between the right caudate and bilateral SM1 as well as the right SMA.

A recent study by Hone-Blanchet observed an increase in the concentration of glutamate + glutamine (Glx) in caudate during bihemispheric tDCS to dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC)⁴⁴. The authors concluded that excitatory stimulation may have an excitatory effect over striatal regions leading to an elevation in Glx⁴⁴. Due to the lack of research observing the functional activity of the brain by rs-fMRI during application of tDCS there are few studies to validate our results. However, post-mortem studies have shown that fibers from SMA project directly to the caudate⁴⁰. Therefore the excitatory stimulation of SMA could penetrate these descending fibres, leading to enhanced connectivity between these two regions.

As the M1-SMA network is strongly connected, stimulation of left M1 and right SMA further strengthens this network, resulting in enhanced connectivity between these regions and the caudate. This enhanced cortico-striatal network was also observed post stimulation, an observation that has previously been reported. Anodal stimulation of M1 has been shown to modulate subcortical activity, specifically in the ipsilateral caudate nucleus¹⁷. Striatal activity has been shown to precede cortical activity in the executive

corticostriatal loop, as supported by fMRI studies in humans⁴⁵. The executive loop has been implicated in motor feedback processing and is active during task performance, especially when coordinating two tasks at once⁴⁵. During baseline rs-fMRI, before stimulation, we observed an anti-correlation, or "decoupling" of the right caudate to the right SMA and bilateral SM1. However during stimulation, there was an enhanced correlation between these regions that continued after the stimulation period had ended (Figure 3). We speculate that by stimulating SMA, cortical projections to the caudate activated the executive loop, providing feedback to the cortex, thereby enhancing the functional connectivity between bilateral M1 and caudate. Polania *et. al* observed a polarity effect of stimulation on cortico-thalamic connectivity. Cathodal tDCS over M1 decreased the functional connectivity between left M1 and contralateral putamen, where anodal tDCS to M1 enhanced the connectivity between left caudate and parietal association areas, as well as left M1 and ipsilateral thalamus¹⁷.

Together, these results provide evidence for strong cortico-caudate connections that can be modulated by tDCS. This result is of particular clinical relevance, as anodal stimulation over M1 has been shown to improve gait and bradykinesia in Parkinson's patients⁴⁶. We speculate that the clinical improvements observed in Parkinson's patients may be driven by the enhanced connectivity between cortical and subcortical structures. In fact, it has previously been shown that repetitive TMS to prefrontal cortex induces dopamine release in the caudate nucleus. The current study provides evidence that stimulating the M1-SMA⁴⁷ network may provide optimal enhancement of cortico-striatal connectivity both during and post stimulation, which may provide beneficial clinical improvements for Parksinon's patients. Further research is warranted to determine if this electrode montage is optimal for motor enhancement.

5.6.3 Limitations

The rs-fMRI measurement concluded approximately 30 minutes after the end of stimulation. Therefore, further studies are needed to determine the full time course of cortio-cortico and cortico-striatal functional connectivity modulations. However, a

previous study has shown that 20 min of tDCS produces cortical modulations that outlast the stimulation period for up to 90 minutes⁴⁸.

5.7 Conclusions

Our results support our hypothesis that targeting the M1-SMA network with bihemispheric tDCS modulates functional connectivity in both cortical and subcortical regions. The effects of tDCS during the stimulation period differed from those observed post stimulation, which may be an important factor when designing protocols to enhance behaviour modulation using tDCS. Additionally, M1-SMA tDCS enhanced the connectivity between cortical and subcortical regions, which may further enhance motor control in both healthy and neurologically injured populations.

5.8 References

- Cabral, M. E. *et al.* Transcranial direct current stimulation: before, during, or after motor training? *Neuroreport* 26, 618-622, doi:10.1097/wnr.000000000000397 (2015).
- Fregni, F. *et al.* Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation of prefrontal cortex enhances working memory. *Experimental brain research* 166, 23-30, doi:10.1007/s00221-005-2334-6 (2005).
- Gomes-Osman, J. & Field-Fote, E. C. Bihemispheric anodal corticomotor
 stimulation using transcranial direct current stimulation improves bimanual typing
 task performance. *Journal of motor behavior* 45, 361-367,
 doi:10.1080/00222895.2013.808604 (2013).
- Horvath, J. C., Carter, O. & Forte, J. D. No significant effect of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) found on simple motor reaction time comparing 15 different simulation protocols. *Neuropsychologia* 91, 544-552, doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.09.017 (2016).
- 5 Parikh, P. J. & Cole, K. J. Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on the control of finger force during dexterous manipulation in healthy older adults. *PloS one* 10, e0124137, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0124137 (2015).
- Woods, A. J. *et al.* A technical guide to tDCS, and related non-invasive brain stimulation tools. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 127, 1031-1048, doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2015.11.012 (2016).
- 7 Miranda, P. C., Lomarev, M. & Hallett, M. Modeling the current distribution during transcranial direct current stimulation. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* **117**, 1623-1629, doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2006.04.009 (2006).
- Nitsche, M. A. *et al.* Shaping the effects of transcranial direct current stimulation of the human motor cortex. *Journal of neurophysiology* 97, 3109-3117, doi:10.1152/jn.01312.2006 (2007).

- 9 Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. *The Journal of physiology* 527 Pt 3, 633-639 (2000).
- Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Transcranial direct current stimulation--update 2011.
 Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience 29, 463-492, doi:10.3233/rnn-2011-0618 (2011).
- 11 Batsikadze, G., Moliadze, V., Paulus, W., Kuo, M. F. & Nitsche, M. A. Partially non-linear stimulation intensity-dependent effects of direct current stimulation on motor cortex excitability in humans. *The Journal of physiology* **591**, 1987-2000, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2012.249730 (2013).
- De Luca, M., Beckmann, C. F., De Stefano, N., Matthews, P. M. & Smith, S. M.
 fMRI resting state networks define distinct modes of long-distance interactions in the human brain. *Neuroimage* 29, 1359-1367, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.08.035 (2006).
- Fox, M. D. & Raichle, M. E. Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 8, 700-711, doi:10.1038/nrn2201 (2007).
- 14 Biswal, B., Yetkin, F. Z., Haughton, V. M. & Hyde, J. S. Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar MRI. *Magnetic resonance in medicine* 34, 537-541 (1995).
- 15 Beckmann, C. F., DeLuca, M., Devlin, J. T. & Smith, S. M. Investigations into resting-state connectivity using independent component analysis. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences* 360, 1001-1013, doi:10.1098/rstb.2005.1634 (2005).
- Damoiseaux, J. S. *et al.* Consistent resting-state networks across healthy subjects.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 13848-13853, doi:10.1073/pnas.0601417103 (2006).
- Polania, R., Paulus, W. & Nitsche, M. A. Modulating cortico-striatal and thalamocortical functional connectivity with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Human brain mapping* 33, 2499-2508, doi:10.1002/hbm.21380 (2012).

- 18 Sehm, B. *et al.* Dynamic modulation of intrinsic functional connectivity by transcranial direct current stimulation. *Journal of neurophysiology* **108**, 3253-3263, doi:10.1152/jn.00606.2012 (2012).
- 19 Sehm, B., Kipping, J., Schafer, A., Villringer, A. & Ragert, P. A Comparison between Uni- and Bilateral tDCS Effects on Functional Connectivity of the Human Motor Cortex. *Frontiers in human neuroscience* 7, 183, doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00183 (2013).
- 20 Amadi, U., Ilie, A., Johansen-Berg, H. & Stagg, C. J. Polarity-specific effects of motor transcranial direct current stimulation on fMRI resting state networks. *Neuroimage* 88, 155-161, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.11.037 (2014).
- 21 Boros, K., Poreisz, C., Münchau, A., Paulus, W. & Nitsche, M. A. Premotor transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) affects primary motor excitability in humans. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 27, 1292-1300, doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06090.x (2008).
- Allman, C. *et al.* Ipsilesional anodal tDCS enhances the functional benefits of rehabilitation in patients after stroke. *Science translational medicine* 8, 330re331, doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aad5651 (2016).
- 23 Johansen-Berg, H. *et al.* The role of ipsilateral premotor cortex in hand movement after stroke. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 14518-14523 (2002).
- Bestmann, S., Baudewig, J., Siebner, H. R., Rothwell, J. C. & Frahm, J. BOLD MRI responses to repetitive TMS over human dorsal premotor cortex. *NeuroImage* 28, 22-29, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.05.027 (2005).
- 25 Grefkes, C., Eickhoff, S. B., Nowak, D. A., Dafotakis, M. & Fink, G. R. Dynamic intra- and interhemispheric interactions during unilateral and bilateral hand movements assessed with fMRI and DCM. *Neuroimage* 41, 1382-1394, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.03.048 (2008).
- Rao, S. M. *et al.* Functional magnetic resonance imaging of complex human movements. *Neurology* 43, 2311-2318 (1993).
- 27 Carter, M. J., Maslovat, D. & Carlsen, A. N. Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation applied over the supplementary motor area delays spontaneous

antiphase-to-in-phase transitions. *Journal of neurophysiology* **113**, 780-785, doi:10.1152/jn.00662.2014 (2015).

- 28 Wong, W. W., Chan, S. T., Tang, K. W., Meng, F. & Tong, K. Y. Neural correlates of motor impairment during motor imagery and motor execution in subcortical stroke. *Brain injury* 27, 651-663, doi:10.3109/02699052.2013.771796 (2013).
- 29 Ryan, K., Goncalves, S., Bartha, R. & Duggal, N. Motor network recovery in patients with chronic spinal cord compression : a longitudinal study following decompression surgery. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine*, **28** 379-388 (2018)
- 30 Arai, N., Lu, M.-K., Ugawa, Y. & Ziemann, U. Effective connectivity between human supplementary motor area and primary motor cortex: a paired colied TMS study. *Experimental Brain Research.* 220, 79-87 (2012).
- Bestmann, S., Baudewig, J., Siebner, H. R., Rothwell, J. C. & Frahm, J.
 Functional MRI of the immediate impact of transcranial magnetic stimulation on cortical and subcortical motor circuits. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 19, 1950-1962, doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03277.x (2004).
- Jurcak, V., Tsuzuki, D. & Dan, I. 10/20, 10/10, and 10/5 systems revisited: their validity as relative head-surface-based positioning systems. *Neuroimage* 34, 1600-1611, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.09.024 (2007).
- Gandiga, P. C., Hummel, F. C. & Cohen, L. G. Transcranial DC stimulation (tDCS): a tool for double-blind sham-controlled clinical studies in brain stimulation. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 117, 845-850, doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2005.12.003 (2006).
- Zuo, X. N. *et al.* Reliable intrinsic connectivity networks: test-retest evaluation using ICA and dual regression approach. *Neuroimage* 49, 2163-2177, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.10.080 (2010).
- Erhardt, E. B. *et al.* Comparison of multi-subject ICA methods for analysis of fMRI data. *Human brain mapping* 32, 2075-2095, doi:10.1002/hbm.21170 (2011).

- 36 Whitfield-Gabrieli, S. & Nieto-Castanon, A. Conn: a functional connectivity toolbox for correlated and anticorrelated brain networks. *Brain connectivity* 2, 125-141, doi:10.1089/brain.2012.0073 (2012).
- Bachtiar, V., Near, J., Johansen-Berg, H. & Stagg, C. J. Modulation of GABA and resting state functional connectivity by transcranial direct current stimulation.
 Elife 4, e08789, doi:10.7554/eLife.08789 (2015).
- 38 Polania, R., Paulus, W. & Nitsche, M. A. Reorganizing the intrinsic functional architecture of the human primary motor cortex during rest with non-invasive cortical stimulation. *PloS one* 7, e30971, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0030971 (2012).
- 39 Polania, R., Paulus, W., Antal, A. & Nitsche, M. A. Introducing graph theory to track for neuroplastic alterations in the resting human brain: a transcranial direct current stimulation study. *Neuroimage* 54, 2287-2296, doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.09.085 (2011).
- 40 Vergani, F. *et al.* White matter connections of the supplementary motor area in humans. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry* **85**, 1377-1385, doi:10.1136/jnnp-2013-307492 (2014).
- Lehericy, S. *et al.* 3-D diffusion tensor axonal tracking shows distinct SMA and pre-SMA projections to the human striatum. *Cerebral cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)* 14, 1302-1309, doi:10.1093/cercor/bhh091 (2004).
- Yu, R., Liu, B., Wang, L., Chen, J. & Liu, X. Enhanced functional connectivity between putamen and supplementary motor area in Parkinson's disease patients. *PloS one* 8, e59717, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0059717 (2013).
- Groenewegen, H. J. The basal ganglia and motor control. *Neural plasticity* 10, 107-120, doi:10.1155/np.2003.107 (2003).
- Hone-Blanchet, A., Edden, R. A. & Fecteau, S. Online Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Real Time on Human Prefrontal and Striatal Metabolites. *Biological psychiatry* 80, 432-438, doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.11.008 (2016).
- 45 Seger, C. A. The basal ganglia in human learning. *Neuroscientist* 12, 285-290, doi:10.1177/1073858405285632 (2006).

- Benninger, D. H. *et al.* Transcranial direct current stimulation for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry* 81, 1105-1111, doi:10.1136/jnnp.2009.202556 (2010).
- 47 Strafella, A. P., Paus, T., Barrett, J. & Dagher, A. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the human prefrontal cortex induces dopamine release in the caudate nucleus. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **21**, Rc157 (2001).
- Nitsche, M. A. & Paulus, W. Sustained excitability elevations induced by transcranial DC motor cortex stimulation in humans. *Neurology* 57, 1899-1901 (2001).

6 Conclusions and Future Directions

The goal of the current thesis was to examine the functional, metabolic and behavioural changes associated with a novel tDCS montage that may specifically enhance manual dexterity in patients with CSM.

tDCS is a form of non-invasive brain stimulation that has recently become popular due to its ability to modulate cortical excitability and alter brain biochemistry. In light of these physiological changes that occur with tDCS, its use in enhancing cognitive and motor performance gas gained increased attention over the years. Although there is strong evidence that tDCS can enhance cognitive and motor performance and alter corticospinal activity, the variability in methods used in the literature call to question the mechanism behind tDCS modulation and the stimulation parameters that optimize motor performance. This is particularly important when determining the effects of a combined tDCS and rehabilitation protocol. The use of tDCS in rehabilitation has shown promise in stroke and depression populations. However, recent studies have emerged attempting to enhance traditional rehabilitation with the use of tDCS. Of interest to our group, is spinal cord injury, specifically, CSM. CSM is a devastating disorder affecting dexterity, gait, and in severe forms can lead to quadraparesis. Rehabilitation strategies in this population are severely lacking. This thesis provides novel insights into the functional reorganization that occurs following surgical decompression of the spinal cord in patients with CSM. We observed the recruitment of SMA may be an important aspect in recovery of motor function following spinal cord decompression. This knowledge was the motivation to examine a novel tDCS montage, incorporating SMA and M1, with the goal of integrating its use into rehabilitation protocols. To determine its validity and gain further insight into this montage, we first examined the behavioural effects on healthy older adults. Additionally, we examined the functional and metabolic effects of this montage to further elucidate the mechanism by which it may improve recovery following CSM. In addition, we observed the effects on manual dexterity in older adults using a one day and three day tDCS protocol.

Chapter 2 describes the results of the first study to longitudinally observe brain functional changes, both contralateral and ipsilateral that occur in patients with CSM before, six weeks and six months following decompression surgery. With the use of task based fMRI, we observed an increase in % BOLD and volume of activation within the contralateral and ipsilateral motor network (six weeks after surgery). In addition, we observed the importance of the ipsilateral SMA six months following surgery, as it was associated with an increase in function as measured by the mJOA six months following surgery. This study concluded that plasticity of the contralateral and ipsilateral motor network play complementary roles in maintaining neurological function in patients with spinal cord compression; furthermore, the SMA may play a critical role in the recovery of motor function following surgery. The results of this study served as our motivation to determine if enhancing SMA activity would result in enhanced recovery. To do so, we fostered a novel electrode montage to provide stimulation to right SMA and left M1, with the aim of enhancing motor recovery.

Chapter 3 details the first study to use SMA-M1 tDCS in combination with a motor task to examine whether this montage can enhance unimanual and bimanual dexterity in healthy older adults. We used both a single session and multiple day (3 consecutive day) session to observe the effects of motor execution and motor learning that may be enhanced by tDCS. Although we observed no significant improvements in motor execution or motor learning in either a single or tri session tDCS protocol, an opposing effect was observed for in-phase and antiphase bimanual tasks. SMA-M1 significantly worsened motor learning from day one to day two for in-phase tasks; however, a relative improvement was observed from day one to day two for antiphase tasks. Previous literature has shown that the SMA is preferentially activated for antiphase tasks as they are more complex and difficult to perform, especially when performed at a quick pace. Previous research has shown preferential enhancement of motor learning of antiphase tasks over in-phase when anodal stimulation to SMA is applied. The current study provided further insight into how SMA-M1 tDCS may modulate behavior, and further perpetuated the notion that the action of tDCS is highly task specific. Chapter 4 details one of the very few studies to examine the metabolic changes that occur in the brain due to tDCS at ultra-high field (7T). Due to the critical role of the SMA observed in CSM recovery of function, the current study examined a novel bihemispheric tDCS electrode montage that targeted the SMA and M1. By targeting the interhemispheric connections of this network, we speculated that excitation of right SMA would provide enhanced excitability of left M1. We acquired spectroscopy data from a voxel over left M1 to determine the metabolic changes that occur after 20 minutes of tDCS. We observed no significant metabolite modulation after the stimulation period. However a significant correlation between the change in NAA and the change in tCr from stimulation to sham was observed. Cr is an important neuromodulator and is released from the neuron in an action potential dependent manner to act on GABA receptors. Additionally, previous research has shown a significant decrease in phosphocreatine following stimulation, in response to an increased energy demand. As the time course of metabolite modulation by tDCS has not been fully elucidated, it is possible that our measurement was outside the peak window of metabolite change.

Chapter 5 details the first study to examine the temporal functional changes that occur due to bihemispheric tDCS at ultra-high field (7T). Using three rs-fMRI measurements, we observed the resting state brain connectivity in the sensorimotor network (SMN) before, during, and post 20 minutes of bihemispheric tDCS. In a previous study from our group we observed enhanced activation of SMA in CSM patients following decompression surgery that was associated with enhanced learning. The current study aimed to observe the cortical modulations associated with application of bihemispheric tDCS to the M1-SMA network. We observed a temporal effect of stimulation. During stimulation, we observed no changes in connectivity of SMN. However, following stimulation, connectivity within the SMN, specifically right SM1 was significantly enhanced compared to baseline. Furthermore, bihemispheric tDCS resulted in enhanced connectivity within the cortico-striatal network. Specifically, connectivity between bilateral SM1 and right SMA to right caudate was significantly strengthened during and post stimulation compared to baseline. This study provides novel insight that tDCS can

modulate excitability at both the cortical and subcortical level and can modulate striatal connectivity.

6.1 Limitations

The limitations of each of the studies presented in this thesis have been discussed in detail in their respective chapters. However, a general limitation of observing cortical and behavioural modulation through tDCS is the variability with which individuals respond to tDCS. Recent literature suggests that as many as 50% of individuals have a very minor or no response to tDCS, as measured by motor evoked potential amplitude. Potential reasons for the lack of response to stimulation has not yet been uncovered. This creates unpredictable modulations by tDCS, resulting in difficulty interpreting data both within and between studies. Furthermore, the variability in tDCS protocols leads to a fragmented picture of the mechanism behind tDCS modulation. Parameters such as current level, stimulation duration, and electrode montage all have varying effects on cortical and behavioural modulation. Continued research is required to fully elucidate the mechanism behind cortical stimulation in order to translate its use into rehabilitation.

6.2 Future Directions

This thesis contributed to the current tDCS literature by examining network connectivity and metabolic modulation using ultra-high field (7T) MRI. The goal of the current thesis was to examine the functional reorganization that occurs after spinal cord decompression and areas of the brain that can be attributed to enhanced recovery. Furthermore, we aimed to determine the modulatory role of stimulating the M1-SMA network in preparation for its use in motor rehabilitation for spinal cord injured populations. The novel approach of stimulating the bihemispheric M1-SMA network was motivated by the results described in Chapter 2, where we observed enhanced SMA activity in CSM patients following surgical intervention that was associated with enhanced recovery. We hypothesized that by further enhancing the M1-SMA network with tDCS, in combination with traditional rehabilitation, we could promote enhanced recovery in this population. Due to the novel electrode montage, it was first pertinent that we determine how this protocol would modulate cortical, metabolic and motor behavior in healthy individuals. Although the current thesis provided novel insight into the mechanism by which tDCS may modulate the M1-SMA network, continued research is required to fully understand this novel electrode montage. We examined the metabolic changes that occur following tDCS of left M1 (under the cathode). Future studies to determine the metabolic profile of the right SMA (under the anode) and subcortical regions such as caudate would help understand if and how different brain regions have altered metabolic profile and how these regions are working together.

Secondly, observing the difference between how resting brain networks respond to tDCS versus modulation during and after a motor task may uncover additional information about how to enhance motor performance and function. As the goal is to combine tDCS and rehabilitation protocols, determining the cortical adaptations that occur due to tDCS and a combined motor task will help refine the parameters of tDCS. Finally, correlating metabolic and functional changes, in addition to correlating imaging results with motor performance will allow for further clarification of the mechanism through which tDCS can enhance motor performance and function.

Although the current thesis extends the current knowledge of bihemispheric tDCS, continued research is required before implementing this technique into a rehabilitation protocol. In Chapter 3 we observed the effects of bihemispheric tDCS on different manual dexterity tasks, during a single and tri session protocol. We observed a conflicting action of tDCS on bimanual dexterity tasks; although a slight improvement in motor consolidation was observed for anti-phase tasks, tDCS may have resulted in diminution of motor consolidation of in-phase tasks. Previous research has shown that the action of tDCS is highly task dependent; therefore, further research into how bihemispheric tDCS would affect the motor tasks to be used in a rehabilitation protocol

would need to be carried out. Furthermore, tDCS has been shown to alter functional activity and behavior differently in healthy and neurologically injured individuals. To determine if the action of bihemispheric tDCS has similar results to that observed in the current thesis, observation of the functional changes in CSM both during rest and during task based fMRI with concurrent tDCS would be advised.

6.3 Conclusions

Each of the presented studies offered novel information of the cortical and behavioural modification of bihemispheric tDCS and how this montage may be specifically useful to patients with CSM. The most important findings presented in this thesis are as follows: 1) patients with CSM undergo plastic functional changes to support the maintenance and recovery of function; the SMA is involved in recovery of function six months following decompression surgery; 2) tDCS is highly task specific and has differing effects on antiphase and in-phase motor tasks. 3) with the use of ultra-high field MRS we did not observe significant local metabolic changes after stimulation; however, there was a trend towards an increase in NAA/Cr ratio in the left M1; 4) bihemispheric M1-SMA tDCS is capable of modulating motor network connectivity not only locally, but at the subcortical level, where connectivity between caudate and motor network was strengthened during and after stimulation. Each of these studies provided novel insight into the mechanism by which tDCS may enhance motor function and translate into a neuromodulatory role. The goal is to gain further information of the optimal tDCS protocol to enhance motor function in spinal cord injury in hopes of extending its use into a clinical role. Due to the variability between individuals and task, tDCS rehabilitation may have to be tailored to the individual to optimize motor recovery.

Appendix A: Research Ethics Board Approval

Use of Human Participants - Ethics Approval Notice

Western

Research

Principal Investigator: Dr. Neil Duggal Review Number: 18118 Review Level: Full Board Approved Local Adult Participants: 46 Approved Local Minor Participants: 0 Protocol Title: Metabolic and Functional Correlates in Spinal Cord Compression Measured by Magnetic Resonance Imaging Department & Institution: Clinical Neurological Sciences,London Health Sciences Centre Sponsor: Canadian Institutes of Health Research

Ethics Approval Date: August 24, 2011

Expiry Date: March 31, 2015

Documents Reviewed & Approved & Documents Received for Information:

Document Name	Comments	Version Date
UWO Protocol		
Letter of Information & Consent		2011/07/25
Advertisement		

This is to notify you that the University of Western Ontario Health Sciences Research Ethics Board (HSREB) which is organized and operates according to the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct of Research Involving Humans and the Health Canada/ICH Good Clinical Practice Practices: Consolidated Guidelines; and the applicable laws and regulations of Ontario has reviewed and granted approval to the above referenced study on the approval date noted above. The membership of this HSREB also complies with the membership requirements for REB's as defined in Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations.

The ethics approval for this study shall remain valid until the expiry date noted above assuming timely and acceptable responses to the HSREB's periodic requests for surveillance and monitoring information. If you require an updated approval notice prior to that time you must request it using the UWO Updated Approval Request form.

Member of the HSREB that are named as investigators in research studies, or declare a conflict of interest, do not participate in discussions related to, nor vote on, such studies when they are presented to the HSREB.

The Chair of the HSREB is Dr. Joseph Gilbert. The UWO HSREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Humat Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000940.

Signature		
U	Ethics Officer to Contact for Further In	nformation
Janice Sutherland (jsutherl@uwo, ca)	Grace Kelly (grace.kelly@uwo.ca)	Shantel Walcott (<u>swalcot@uwo.ca</u>)

This is an official document. Please retain the original in your files.

The University of Western Ontario Office of Research Ethics Support Services Building Room 5150 • London, Ontario • CANADA - N6G 1G9 PH: 519-661-3036 • F: 519-850-2466 • ethics@uwo.ca • www.uwo.ca/research/ethics

Research Ethics



Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board HSREB Full Board Initial Approval Notice

Principal Investigator: Dr. Robert Bartha Department & Institution: Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry\Medical Biophysics,Robarts Research Institute

HSREB File Number: 106178 Study Title: Enhancing manual dexterity using transcranial direct current stimulation in healthy individuals Sponsor:

HSREB Initial Approval Date: April 24, 2015 HSREB Expiry Date: April 24, 2016

Documents Approved and/or Received for Information:

Document Name	Comments	Version Date
Other	screening form	2015/04/02
Recruitment Items	recruitment poster	2015/04/02
Recruitment Items	recruitment email	2015/04/02
Letter of Information & Consent		2015/04/02
Western University Protocol		

The Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board (HSREB) has reviewed and approved the above named study, as of the HSREB Initial Approval Date noted above.

HSREB approval for this study remains valid until the HSREB Expiry Date noted above, conditional to timely submission and acceptance of HSREB Continuing Ethics Review.

The Western University HSREB operates in compliance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2), the International Conference on Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use Guideline for Good Clinical Practice Practices (ICH E6 R1), the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA, 2004), Part 4 of the Natural Health Product Regulations, Health Canada Medical Device Regulations and Part C, Division 5, of the Food and Drug Regulations of Health Canada.

Members of the HSREB who are named as Investigators in research studies do not participate in discussions related to, nor vote on such studies when they are presented to the REB.

The HSREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000940.

oncer, on benan of Dr. Joseph Gilbert, HSREB Chair

/	Ethics Officer to Contact for Further Information			
Erika Basile	Grace Kelly	Mina Mekhail	Vikki Tran	
ebasile@uwo.ca	grace.kelly@uwo.ca	mmekhail@uwo.ca	vikki tran@uwo.ca	

This is an official document. Please retain the original in your files.

Appendix B: Copyright Acknowledgement

Re: Mail from Reprints/Permissions Form

permissions <permissions@thejns.org>

Mon 2018-04-09 2:42 PM

To:Kayla Ryan <kryan58@uwo.ca>;

Permission to reproduce the requested materials in your thesis is granted without charge to Kayla Ryan, provided that full acknowledgment is given to Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine.

We do require an embargo of 1 year from publication before the article can be posted to your Institution's archive and made available. For this article, Jan 1, 2019.

Best of luck with your thesis!

Gillian

From: kryan58@uwo.ca <kryan58@uwo.ca> Sent: Monday, April 9, 2018 2:05:02 PM To: permissions Subject: Mail from Reprints/Permissions Form

Request to reprint the following Motor network recovery in patients with chronic spinal cord compression: a longitudinal study following decompression surgery. Authors: Ryan, K, Goncalves,S, Bartha R, Duggal N Publication: Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine

Month:JanYear:2018Volume:28Issue:4Pages:379-388

Permission Category:

Original Author Seeking Permission to Use Content in non-AANS Publication Reprint Material Specifics:

ALL

Media Type:	Print and Electronic
Media:	Not listed/other
Language:	English (as originally published)
Title and Edition of New Work:	Cortical and behavioral adaptations to transcranial direct current stimulation
Anticipated Republication Date:	June
Quantity:	1
Publisher of New Work:	Ryan, K

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Apr 18, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Kayla Ryan ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4321431457049
License date	Apr 03, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	Journal of Physiology
Licensed Content Title	Cellular effects of acute direct current stimulation: somatic and synaptic terminal effects
Licensed Content Author	Asif Rahman, Davide Reato, Mattia Arlotti, et al
Licensed Content Date	Apr 16, 2013
Licensed Content Volume	591
Licensed Content Issue	10
Licensed Content Pages	16
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	University/Academic
Format	Electronic
Portion	Figure/table
Number of figures/tables	1
Original Wiley figure/table number(s)	Figure 1
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Uncovering the effects of transcranial direct current stimulation: a multimodal imaging assessment
Expected completion date	Apr 2018
Expected size (number of pages)	150
Requestor Location	Ms. Kayla Ryan 1150 Richmond
	London, ON N6A 3K7 Canada Attn: Ms. Kayla Ryan
Publisher Tax ID	EU826007151
Total	0.00 USD

Terms and Conditions

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a"Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Apr 18, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Kayla Ryan ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4321440464192
License date	Apr 03, 2018
Licensed Content Publishe	r Elsevier
Licensed Content Publicati	on Clinical Neurophysiology
Licensed Content Title	Animal models of transcranial direct current stimulation: Methods and mechanisms
Licensed Content Author	Mark P. Jackson,Asif Rahman,Belen Lafon,Gregory Kronberg,Doris Ling,Lucas C. Parra,Marom Bikson
Licensed Content Date	Nov 1, 2016
Licensed Content Volume	127
Licensed Content Issue	11
Licensed Content Pages	30
Start Page	3425
End Page	3454
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Intended publisher of new work	other
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Original figure numbers	Figure 4a
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Uncovering the effects of transcranial direct current stimulation: a multimodal imaging assessment
Expected completion date	Apr 2018
Estimated size (number of pages)	150
Requestor Location	Ms. Kayla Ryan 1150 Richmond
	London, ON N6A 3K7 Canada Attn: Ms. Kayla Ryan
Publisher Tax ID	GB 494 6272 12

WOLTERS KLUWER HEALTH, INC. LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Apr 18, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Kayla Ryan ("You") and Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. ("Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4331500554648
License date	Apr 17, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.
Licensed Content Publication	Spine
Licensed Content Title	Magnetic Resonance Diffusion Tensor Imaging in Patients With Cervical Spondylotic Spinal Cord Compression: Correlations Between Clinical and Electrophysiological Findings
Licensed Content Author	Miloš Kerkovský, Josef Bednarík, Ladislav Dušek, et al
Licensed Content Date	Jan 1, 2012
Licensed Content Volume	37
Licensed Content Issue	1
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Individual
Portion	Figures/table/illustration
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Figures/tables/illustrations used	4
Author of this Wolters Kluwer article	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Uncovering the effects of transcranial direct current stimulation: a multimodal imaging assessment
Expected completion date	Apr 2018
Estimated size(pages)	150
Requestor Location	Ms. Kayla Ryan 1150 Richmond
	London, ON N6A 3K7 Canada Attn: Ms. Kayla Ryan
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing Address	Ms. Kayla Ryan 1150 Richmond
	London, ON N6A 3K7 Canada Attn: Ms. Kayla Ryan
Total	0.00 USD

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Apr 18, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Kayla Ryan ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4321431155770
License date	Apr 03, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Clinical Neurophysiology
Licensed Content Title	Enhanced motor learning with bilateral transcranial direct current stimulation: Impact of polarity or current flow direction?
Licensed Content Author	Georgios Naros,Marc Geyer,Susanne Koch,Lena Mayr,Tabea Ellinger,Florian Grimm,Alireza Gharabaghi
Licensed Content Date	Apr 1, 2016
Licensed Content Volume	127
Licensed Content Issue	4
Licensed Content Pages	8
Start Page	2119
End Page	2126
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Original figure numbers	Figure 1
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Uncovering the effects of transcranial direct current stimulation: a multimodal imaging assessment
Expected completion date	Apr 2018
Estimated size (number of pages)	150
Requestor Location	Ms. Kayla Ryan 1150 Richmond
	London, ON N6A 3K7 Canada Attn: Ms. Kayla Ryan
Publisher Tax ID	GB 494 6272 12
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Apr 18, 2018

This Agreement between Ms. Kayla Ryan ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4331471209510
License date	Apr 17, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Progress in Neurobiology
Licensed Content Title	From basics to clinical: A comprehensive review on spinal cord injury
Licensed Content Author	Nuno A. Silva,Nuno Sousa,Rui L. Reis,António J. Salgado
Licensed Content Date	Mar 1, 2014
Licensed Content Volume	114
Licensed Content Issue	n/a
Licensed Content Pages	33
Start Page	25
End Page	57
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Original figure numbers	Figure 1
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Uncovering the effects of transcranial direct current stimulation: a multimodal imaging assessment
Expected completion date	Apr 2018
Estimated size (number of pages)	150
Requestor Location	Ms. Kayla Ryan 1150 Richmond
	London, ON N6A 3K7 Canada Attn: Ms. Kayla Ryan
Publisher Tax ID	GB 494 6272 12
Total	0.00 CAD
Terms and Conditions	

Appendix C: Curriculum Vitae

EDUCATION/TRAINING

INSTITUTION AND LOCATION	DEGREE	YEAR(s)	FIELD OF STUDY
Western University, London, ON	PhD	2013 - Present	Medical Imaging
Western University, London, ON	MSc	2011 - 2013	Neuromuscular Integration
University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON	BSc (Hons)	2006 - 2011	Science and Psychology

A. RESEACH INTERESTS

Kayla Ryan is a PhD student in Medical Biophysics, with a concentration in medical imaging. Her research is primarily focused on enhancing recovery from chronic spinal cord compression through the use of innovative methods and technologies such as transcranial direct current stimulation, functional magnetic resonance imaging and magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Recently she has adapted the use of transcranial direct current stimulation as a training tool to improve and/or recover manual dexterity in older adults, in the hopes to translate this technique to spinal cord injury rehabilitation.

B. GRANTS, AWARDS AND HONOURS

Grants Awarded:

2017 Lawson Internal Research Fund, Translation of a manual dexterity task to assess motor function and dexterity in spinal cord compression, \$30 000 over two years 2014 Collaborative Research Seed Grant, Improving Outcomes in Patients with Reversible Spinal Cord Compression: Development and Validation of a Novel Rodent Model for Interventional Testing, \$50 000

Honours and Awards:May 2015Robarts Research InsSeptember 2008-2011Dean's Honour Award, T

Robarts Research Institute Oral Presentation Award Dean's Honour Award, University of Waterloo, Waterloo,

C. PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS & CONFERENCE ABSTRACTS

Ryan, K., Goncalves, S., Bartha, R., Duggal, N. Motor network recovery in patients with chronic spinal cord compression using fMRI: a longitudinal study.(2018) Journal of Neurosurgery:Spine 28(4):379-388

International Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine, Honolulu, Hawaii, 7 Tesla¹H MR Spectroscopy of the Motor Cortex following Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation. Kayla Ryan, Dickson Wong, Kryzstof Wawrzyn, Blaine Chronik, Neil Duggal, Robert Bartha, April 28-May 4, 2017 Imaging Network of Ontario, London, ON Does transcranial direct current stimulation alter glutamate concentration in healthy adults? Kayla Ryan, Dickson Wong, Kryzstof Wawrzyn, Blaine Chronik, Neil Duggal, Robert Bartha, March 15, 2017 Robarts Retreat, Western University, London ON, Enhancing Manual Dexterity in Older Adults with the use of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation, Kayla Ryan, Amy Schranz, Robert Bartha, Neil Duggal, June 13, 2016 London Healthy Research Day, London, ON Enhancing Manual Dexterity in Older Adults with the use of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation, Kayla Ryan, Amy Schranz, Robert Bartha, Neil Duggal, March 29th, 2016 CNS Research Day, Western University, London, ON, Enhancing Manual Dexterity in Older Adults with the use of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation, Kayla Ryan, Amy Schranz, Robert Bartha, Neil Duggal, April 1, 2016 Robarts Retreat, Western University, London, ON, Visualizing Ipsilateral Activation in Patients with Cervical Myelopathy using Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging, Kayla Ryan, Sandy Goncalves, Robert Bartha, Neil Duggal, June 8th, 2015. International Society for Magnetic Resonance in Medicine, Toronto, ON, Cortical Plasticity of the Ipsilateral Motor Areas in Cervical Myelopathy following Decompression Surgery, Kayla Ryan, Sandy Goncalves, Robert Bartha, Neil Duggal, May 30th – June 5th, 2015 Imaging Network of Ontario, London Convention Centre, Visualizing Ipsilateral

Activation in Patients with Cervical Myelopathy using Functional Magnetic Resonance

Imaging, Kayla Ryan, Sandy Goncalves, Robert Bartha, Neil Duggal, March 30th-31st 2015

CNS Research Day, Western University, *Activation of Ipsilateral Non Primary Motor Areas in Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy following Spinal Decompression Surgery*, Kayla Ryan, Sandy Goncalves, Izabela Aleksanderek, Robert Bartha, Neil Duggal, March 10th, 2015

London Imaging Day, Victoria Hospital, London, ON, *Cortical Plasticity in Cervical Myelopathy as Measured by Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, Kayla Ryan, Sandy Goncalves, Izabela Aleksanderek, Robert Bartha, Neil Duggal, June 26th 2014 Robarts Retreat, Bellamere Winery, London, ON, *Cortical Plasticity in Cervical Myelopathy as Measured by Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, Kayla Ryan, Sandy Goncalves, Izabela Aleksanderek, Robert Bartha, Neil Duggal, June 9th 2014 Southwestern Ontario Neuroscience Association, Western University, *Cortical Reorganization in patients with Cervical Myelopathy before and after decompression surgery*, Kayla Ryan, Sandy Goncalves, Izabela Aleksanderek, Robert Bartha, Neil Duggal, May 5th 2014

CNS Research Day, Ivey Business Centre, London, ON, *Cortical Plasticity in Cervical Myelopathy Measured by Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, Kayla Ryan, Sandy Goncalves, Robert Bartha, Neil Duggal, March 11th 2014

London Health Research Day, London Convention Centre, London, ON *Cortical Plasticity in Cervical Myelopathy Measured by Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, Kayla Ryan, Sandy Goncalves, Robert Bartha Neil Duggal, March 18th, 2014

D. WORK EXPERIENCE

Research Consultant	Centre	for	Family	Medicine,	Waterloo,
ON					
2017-Present					

• Assist in grant writing and ethics applications

- Assist in the creation of new tools to enhance primary care in spinal cord injury
- Develop, plan and execute new research avenues in primary care for spinal cord injury

Exercise Instructor Retired Researchers Association, London, ON 2015-Present

• Create and instruct appropriate workout routines for older adults

Lab CoordinatorWestern University, London, ON2012-2013

- Instructed graduate level teaching assistants effective and useful ways to teach labs to university students
- Coordinated bi-weekly meetings to ensure teaching assistants were prepared for labs
- Trained teaching assistants to use pertinent equipment and calculations, and answered questions when necessary

Teaching AssistantWestern University, London, ON2011-2012

- Instructed university students in exercise physiology using lab based exercises
- Answered student questions pertaining to course and lab work
- Proctored examinations
- Graded student examinations and provided helpful feedback

Research Assistant University of Waterloo, Psychology Department, Waterloo, ON 2008

• Conducted computerized experiments to UW students to measure cognitive processing of boredom and spatial working memory

- Ensured students received all information needed to execute experiment safely and correctly
- Calculated scores on surveys by forward and reverse scoring
- Performed statistical analysis of the collected data using SPSS

E. VOLUNTEER EXPERIENCE

Emergency Room Information Grand River Hospital, Emergency Department, Kitchener ON 2008-2009

Thames Valley School Board Science and Engineering Fair Judge, London ON 2012-2015

Co-Chair: Raising Hope Division of Strong Bones, Strong Muscles, Strong Minds 2015-2017